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Dear ShoreTel Stockholders,

Fiscal 2007 was a very important year for ShoreTel. We
significantly grew our revenue, customer, partner and
employee base, all of which led to a successful Initial
Public Offering in July 2007.

ShoreTel's opportunity is characterized by a rapidly
growing market, superior product technology, a strong
distribution network, and highly satisfied customers.

Rapidly Growing Market: ShoreTel's IP telephony systems
annual market is $5 billion and expected to grow 21%
next year. This opportunity is driven by a massive shift in
the worldwide telecommunications industry from digital
to IP technology.

Superior Product Technology: Qur systems are based
on our distributed software architecture and switch-based
hardware platform that enable multi-site enterprises to be
served by a single telecommunications system. Key benefits
include a single point of management, easy installation,
and exceptional reliabifity and scalability. End users, in
turn, enjoy a consistent, full suite of features across the
enterprise, regardless of location. As a result, our systems
drive enhanced user productivity and provide lower
total cost of ownership than alternative systems.

Strong Distribution Network: We deliver our product
to our end users through an independent partner network,
We have a unique philosophy of making our business
decisions with our partners’ best interests top of mind.
This simple shift has made a huge difference in the
relationship we have developed with our partners and
has translated into their superior ability to sell, install

and delight our customers.

CNET INCOME IN MILLIONS

$(6.3) $(1.4) %4.0 $6.0
FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006 FY 2007

Highly Satisfied Customers: We believe that our end
user decision-makers have two key questions when con-
sidering a new communications system:

1) Who has the best product to meet my requirements?
2) Who will be there to support me when | need help?

We are extremely confident in our ability to address both
questions. Moreover, we believe that customers listen to
and make decisions based on the experience of their
peers. We strive to delight customers with our products
and their experience with ShoreTel and our partners.
Incentive compensation at ShoreTel is tied to our overall
customer satisfaction performance, and every channel
partner can earn discounts based on their customers’
level of satisfaction. We measure customer satisfaction as
carefully as we do revenue and profitability, and our ability
to deliver world class customer satisfaction has been one
of the major contributors to our rapid growth. Please
reference the inside back cover of this report far more
information on ShoreTel's customer satisfaction ratings.

Thank you to our stockholders, customers, partners and
employees for a banner fiscal 2007 and for positioning
ShoreTel for continued success.

All the best,

John W. Combs
President and CEQ
ShoreTel, Inc.




October 22, 2007

Shorelel

You are cordially invited to attend the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of ShoreTel, Inc. to be held at our
headquarters located at 960 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale, California, 94085, on Friday, November 16, 2007, at
1:00 p.m., Pacific Time.

The matters expected to be acted upon at the meeting are described in detail in the accompanying Notice of
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement.

It is important that you use this opportunity to take part in the affairs of ShoreTel by voting on the business to
come before this meeting, Whether or not you expect to attend the meeting, please complete, date, sign and
promptly return the accompanying proxy in the enclosed postage-paid envelope so that your shares may be
represented at the meeting. Returning the proxy does not deprive you of your right to attend the meeting and to
vote your shares in person,

We look forward to seeing you at the meeting.

Sincerely,

John W. Combs
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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SHORETEL, INC.
960 Stewart Drive
Sunnyvale, California 94085

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Our Stockholders:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of ShoreTel, Inc. will be held at
our headquarters located at 960 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale, California 94085, on Friday, November 16, 2007, at
1:00 p.m., Pacific Time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect three Class I directors of ShoreTel, Inc., each to serve until the 2010 annual meeting of
stockholders and until his successor has been elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or
removal. ShoreTel’s Board of Directors intends to present the following nominees for election as Class [ director:

Mark F. Bregman John W. Combs Edward F. Thompson

2. To ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting
firm of ShoreTel, Inc. for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2008,

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on October 12, 2007 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at,
the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors

John W. Combs
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Sunnyvate, California
October 22, 2007

Whether or not you expect to attend the meeting, please complete, date, sign and promptly return the
accompanying proxy in the enclosed postage-paid envelope so that your shares may be represented at the
meeting.
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SHORETEL, INC.

960 Stewart Drive
Sunnyvale, California 94085

PROXY STATEMENT

October 22, 2007

The accompanying proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors” or the
“Board™) of ShoreTel, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ShoreTel”), for use at the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting™) to be held at our headquarters located at 960 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale,
California 94085, on Friday, November 16, 2007, at 1:00 p.m., Pacific Time. This Proxy Statement and the
accompanying form of proxy were first mailed to stockholders on or about October 22, 2007. An annual report for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 is enclosed with this Proxy Statement.

Voting Rights, Quorum and Required Vote

Only holders of record of our common stock at the close of business on October 12, 2007, which is the record
date, will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. At the close of business on October 12, 2007, we had
42,618,467 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Holders of ShereTel common stock are
entitled to one vote for each share held as of the above record date. A quorum is required for our stockholders to
conduct business at the Annual Meeting. A majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote on the record
date, present in person or represented by proxy, will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

For Proposal No. |, directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares of common stock present in
person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors, which means
that the three nominees receiving the highest number of “for” votes will be elected. To be approved, Proposal No. 2
requires the affirmative vote of the majority of shares of common stock entitled to vote and present in person or
represented by proxy at the Annval Meeting and who vote for or against the proposal. If stockholders abstain from
voting, including brokers holding their clients’ shares of record who cause abstentions to be recorded, these shares
will be considered present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and will be counted towards determining
whether or not a quorum is present. Abstentions will have no effect with regard to Proposal No. 1, since approval of
a percentage of shares present or outstanding is not required for this proposal, and will have no effect with regard to
Proposal No. 2, as abstentions are not counted as a vote for or against.

Brokers who hold shares for the accounts of their clients may vote such shares either as directed by their clients
or in the absence of such direction, in their own discretion if permitted by the stock exchange or other crganization
of which they are members. Members of the New York Stock Exchange are permitted to vote their clients’ proxies in
their own discretion as to certain “routine” proposals, such as all of the proposals to be voted on at the Annual
Meeting. If a broker votes shares that are not voted by its clients for or against a proposal, those shares are
considered present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Those shares will be counted towards determining
whether or not a quorum is present. Those shares will also be taken into account in determining the outcome of all of
the proposals. Although all of the proposals to be voted on at the Annual Meeting are considered “routine,” where a
proposal is not “routine,” a broker who has received no instructions from its clients generally does not have
discretion to vote its clients’ unvoted shares on that proposal. When a broker indicates on a proxy that it does not
have discretionary authority to vote certain shares on a particular proposal, the missing votes are referred to as
“broker non-votes.”” Those shares would be considered present for purposes of determining whether or not a quorum
is present, but would not be considered entitled to vote on the proposal. Those shares would not be taken into
account in determining the outcome of the non-routine proposal.

Voting of Proxies

The proxy accompanying this Proxy Statement is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors of ShoreTel for
use at the Annual Meeting. Stockholders are requested to complete, date and sign the accompanying proxy and
promptly return it in the enclosed envelope. All signed, returned proxies that are not revoked will be voted in
accordance with the instructions contained therein. However, returned signed proxies that give no instructions as to
how they should be voted on a particular proposal at the Annual Meeting will be counted as .votes “for” such
proposal, or in the case of the election of the Class I directors, as a vote “for” election to Class I of the Board of all
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nominees presented by the Board. In the event that sufficient votes in favor of the proposals are not received by the
date of the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxies may propose one or more adjournments of the Annuat
Meeting to permit further solicitations of proxies. Any such adjournment would require the affirmative vote of the
majority of the outstanding shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual
Meeting provided a quorum is present.

Expenses of Solicitation

The expenses of soliciting proxies to be voted at the Annual Meeting will be paid by ShoreTel. Following the
original mailing of the proxies and other soliciting materials, ShoreTel and/or its agents may also solicit proxies by
mail, telephone, telegraph or in person. Following the original mailing of the proxies and other soliciting materials,
ShoreTel will request that brokers, custodians, nominees and other record holders of its common stock forward
copies of the proxy and other soliciting materials to persons for whom they hold shares of common stock and
request authority for the exercise of proxies.

Revocability of Proxies

Any person signing a proxy in the form accompanying this Proxy Statement has the power to revoke it prior to
the Annual Meeting or at the Annual Meeting prior to the vote pursuant to the proxy. A proxy may be revoked by a
writing delivered to ShoreTel stating that the proxy is revoked, by a subsequent proxy that is signed by the person
who signed the earlier proxy and is delivered before or at the Annual Meeting, or by attendance at the Annual
Meeting and voting in person. Please note, however, that if a stockholder’s shares are held of record by a broker,
bank or other nominee and that stockholder wishes to vote at the Annual Meeting, the stockholder must bring to the
Annual Meeting a letter from the broker, bank or other nominee confirming that stockholder’s beneficial ownership
of the shares,

Telephone or Internet Voting

For stockholders with shares registered in the name of a brokerage firm or bank, a number of brokerage firms
and banks are participating in a program for shares held in “street name” that offers telephone and Internet voting
options. Stockholders with shares registered directly in their names with Computershare, ShoreTel’s transfer agent,
will also be able to vote using the telephone and Internet. If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm or
bank participating in this program or registered directly in your name with Computershare, you may vote those
shares by calling the telephone number specified on your proxy or accessing the Internet website address specified
on your proxy instead of completing and signing the proxy itself. The giving of such a telephonic or Internet proxy
will not affect your right to vote in person should you decide to attend the Annual Meeting.

The telephone and Internet voting procedures are designed to anthenticate stockholders’ identities, to allow
stockholders to give their voting instructions and to confirm that stockholders” instructions have been recorded
. properly. Stockholders voting via the telephone or Internet should understand that there may be costs associated
with telephonic or electronic access, such as usage charges from telephone companies and Internet access providers,
that must be borne by the stockholder.

PROPOSAL NO. 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

ShoreTel’s Board of Directors is presently comprised of eight members, who are divided into three classes,
designated as Class I, Class Il and Class 111. One class of directors is elected by the stockholders at each annual
meeting to serve until the third succeeding annual meeting. Mark F. Bregman, John W. Combs and
Edward F. Thompson have been designated as Class 1 directors, Edwin J. Basart, Kenneth D. Denman and
Thomas van Overbeek have been designated as Class 11 directors, and Gary D. Daichendt and Charles D. Kissner
have been designated as Class 111 directors. Mr. Combs serves as Chairman of the Board and Mr. Kissner serves as
lead independent director.

The Class II directors will stand for reelection or election at the 2008 Annual Meeting, the Class 11 directors
will stand for reelection or election at the 2009 annual meeting of stockholders and the Class | directors will stand
for reelection or election at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders. Unless otherwise provided by law, any
vacancy on the Board, including a vacancy created by an increase in the authorized number of directors, may only
be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office or by a sole remaining director. Any
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director so elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the
vacancy occurred and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death,
resignation or removal.

Each of the nominees for election to Class I is currently a director of ShoreTel. If elected at the Annual
Meeting, each of the nominees would serve until the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is
elected and gualified, or until such director’s earlier death, resignation or removal. Directors will be elected by a
plurality of the votes of the shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting
and entitied to vote on the election of directors. Shares represented by an executed proxy will be voted “for” the
election of the three nominees recommended by the Board unless the proxy is marked in such @ manner as to
withhold authority so to vote. In the event that any nominee for any reason is unable to serve, or for good cause wili
not serve, the proxies will be voted for such substitute nominee as the present Board may determine. ShoreTel is not
aware of any nominee who will be unable to serve, or for good cause wil! not serve, as a director.

The names of the nominees for election as Class I directors at the Annual Meeting and of the incumbent Class I and
Class I directors, and certain information about them, including their ages as of October 1, 2007, are included below.

Director
Name Age Principal Oceupation Since
Nominee for election as Class I director with term expiring in 2010:
Mark F. Bregman(3) . .............. 50  Executive Vice President and Chief Technology 2007
Officer of Symantec Corporation
JohnW.Combs................... 60 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 2004
Edward F. Thompson(1) ............ 69  Director 2006
Incumbent Class Il director with term expiring in 2008:
EdwinJ. Basart................... 58  Chief Technology Officer and Director 1996
Kenneth D. Denman{1}2) ........... 49  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of 2007
iPass, Inc.
Thomas van Overbeek(2). ........... 58  Director 2002
Incumbent Class Il director with term expiring in 2009:
Gary 1. Daichendt(2)(3) . . .. .. .... ... 56  Private investor, Managing member of TheoryR 2007
Properties LLC
Charles D. Kissner*(1X3) ........... 60 Chairman of Harris Stratex Networks, Inc, 2006

* Lead independent director.
(1) Member of our Audit Committee.
{2) Member of our Compensation Committee.

(3) Member of our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

John W. Combs has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director since July 2004 and as
our Chairman since February 2007. From July 2002 to May 2004, Mr. Combs served as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Littlefeet Inc., a wireless infrastructure supplier. From September 1999 to July 2002,
Mr. Combs served as Chief Executive Officer of InternetConnect Inc., a broadband networking selutions provider.
Mr. Combs has also held senior management positions at Nextel Communications, Inc., a wireless digital
communications system provider, L.A. Cellular, a wireless network operator, Mitel Inc., a manufacturer of private
branch exchanges and Fujitsu Business Communication Systems, Inc., a provider of telecommunications products.
Mr. Combs holds a B.S. in engineering from California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo.

Edwin J. Basart co-founded ShoreTel in 1996 and has served as our Chief Technology Officer and as a director
since inception. Prior to co-founding ShoreTel, Mr. Basart co-founded Network Computing Devices, Inc., a
provider of thin client computing hardware and software, where he served as Vice President of Engineering, and
Ridge Computers, Inc. where he served as Vice President of Software. Mr. Basart began his career as a software
engineer at Hewlett Packard. Mr. Basart holds a B.S. in English from [owa State University and an M.S. in electrical
engineering from Stanford University.
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Mark F. Bregman has served as a director of ShoreTel since May 2007. Dr. Bregman has served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of Symantec Corporation, an infrastructure software company, since it
acquired VERITAS Software Corporation, a provider of software and services to enable storage and backup, in Juty
2005. Prior 10 the acquisition of VERITAS Software, Dr. Bregman served as that company’s Executive Vice
President, Chief Technology Officer and acting manager of the Application and Service Management Group from
September 2004 to July 2005, and as its Executive Vice President, Product Operations from February 2002 to
September 2004. From August 2000 to October 2001, Dr. Bregman served as the Chief Executive Officer of
AirMedia, Inc., a wireless Internet company. Prior to joining AirMedia, Dr. Bregman served a 16-year career with
International Business Machines Corporation, most recently as general manager of IBM’s R§/6000 and pervasive
computing divisions from 1995 to August 2000. Dr. Bregman holds a B.S. in physics from Harvard College and a
Ph.D. in physics from Columbia University. '

Gary J. Daichendt has served as a director of ShoreTel since April 2007. Mr. Daichendt has been principally
occupied as a private investor since June 2005 and has been a managing member of TheoryR Properties LLC, a
commercial real estate firm, since October 2002. He served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Nortel
Networks Corporation, a supplier of communication equipment, from March 2005 to June 2005. Prior to joining
Nortel Networks, from 1994 until his retirement in December 2000, Mr. Daichendt served in a number of positions
at Cisco Systems, Inc., 2 manufacturer of communications and information technology networking products,
including most recently as Executive Vice President, Worldwide Operations from August 1998 to December 2000,
and as Senior Vice President, Worldwide Operations from September 1996 to August 1998, Mr. Daichendt is a
member of the Board of Directors of NCR Corporation. Mr. Daichendt holds a B.A. in mathematics from
Youngstown State University and M.S. in mathematics from The Qhio State University.

Kenneth D. Denman has served as a director of ShoreTel since May 2007. Mr. Denman has served as Chairman
of iPass, Inc. a platform-based enterprise mobility services company since January 2003, as director since
December 2001 and as President and Chief Executive Officer since October 2001. From January 2000 to March
2001, Mr. Denman served as President and Chief Executive Officer of AuraServ Communications Inc., a managed
service provider of broadband voice and data applications. From August 1998 to May 2000, Mr, Denman served as
Senior Vice President, National Markets Group of MediaOne, Inc., a broadband cable and communications
company. From June 1996 to August 1998, Mr. Denman served as Chief Operating Officer, Wireless, at MediaOne
International, a broadband and wireless company. Mr. Denman also serves on the board of Openwave Systems, Inc.,
a provider of open standards software products and services for the telecommunications industry. Mr. Denman
holds a B.S. in accounting from Central Washington University and an M.B.A. in finance and international business
from the University of Washington. Mr, Denman is a member of the Advisory Board at the University of
Washington's Michael G. Foster School of Business.

Charles D. Kissner has served as our lead independent director since April 2007 and as a director of ShoreTel
since: April 2006, Mr. Kissner is Chairman of Harris Stratex Networks, Inc., formerly Stratex Networks, a provider
of wireless transmission systems. He previously served as Chairman of Stratex Networks from July 1995 to January
2007 and as its President and Chief Executive Officer from July 1995 to May 2000 as well as from October 2001 to
May 2006. Prior to joining Stratex Networks, Mr. Kissner served as Vice President and General Manager of M/A-
Com, Inc., a manufacturer of radio and microwave communications products, as Executive Vice President of Fujitsu
Network Switching of America, Inc., a switch manufacturer and as President and Chief Executive Officer of
Aristacom International, Inc., a provider of computer/telephony integration solutions. Mr. Kissner also previously
held several executive positions at AT&T for over thirteen ycars, He also serves on the Board of Directors of
SonicWALL, Inc., a provider of Internet security products. Mr. Kissner is a member of the Advisory Board of
Santa Clara University’s Leavey School of Business and holds a B.S. in industrial management and engineering
from California State Polytechnic University and an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.

Thomas van Overbeek has served as a director of ShoreTel since February 2002. Mr. van Overbeek served as
Chief Executive Officer and President of ShoreTel from February 2002 until he retired in July 2004, He also served
as a consultant to ShoreTel from December 2001 to February 2002, Prior to joining ShoreTel, Mr. van Overbeek
served as President and Chief Executive Officer of WavTrace Inc., a developer of broadband wireless technology.
Prior to joining WavTrace, Mr. van Overbeck served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Cornerstone
Imaging.




Edward F. Thompson has served as a director of ShoreTel since January 2006. Mr. Thompson has served as a
senior advisor to Fujitsu Limited and as a director of several Fujitsu subsidiaries or portfolio companies since 1995.
From 1976 to 1994, Mr. Thompson held a series of management positions with Amdahl Corporation including
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary from August 1983 to June 1994, and Chief Executive Officer of Amdahl
Capital Corporation from October 1985 to June 1994. Mr. Thompson is a member of the Board of Directors of
Harris Stratex Networks, Inc. (formerly Stratex Networks) and SonicWALL Inc., and also serves as Audit
Committee chair of those companies. He is also a member of the Advisory Board of Santa Clara University’s
Leavey School of Business. Mr. Thompson holds a B.S. in aeronautical engineering from the University of lllinois,
and an M.B.A. with an emphasis in operations research from Santa Clara University. :

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election
of each of the nominated directors

Membership and Meetings of Board of Directors and Board Committees
Board of Directors.

The rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market require that a majority of the members of our Board of Directors be
independent within specified periods following the completion of our initial public offering in July 2007. Qur Board
of Directors has adopted the definitions, standards and exceptions to the standards for evaluating director
independence provided in the NASDAQ Stock Market rules, and determined that Mark F. Bregman,
Gary J. Daichendt, Kenneth D. Denman, Charles D. Kissner, Edward F. Thompson and Thomas' van Overbeek
are “independent directors” as defined under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market.

During fiscal year 2007, the Board met formally 11 times and did not act by written consent. None of the
directors attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate of the total number of meetings of the Board (held during the
period for which he was a director) and the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which
such director served (held during the period that such director served). In addition, the independent outside directors
met two times during fiscal year 2007. )

Board Committees

Qur Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. The composition and responsibilities of each committee are described below. Members
serve on these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our board. Each of these
committees has adopted a written charter. Current copies of these charters are available under the heading
“Corporate Governance” in the investor relations section of ShoreTel’s website at www.shoretel.com.

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee oversees our corporate accounting and financial reporting process. Among other
matters, the Audit Committee:

* evaluates the qualifications, independence and performance of our iridependent registered public accounting
firm;

* determines the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm and reviews and approves
the scope of the annual audit and the audit fee;

+ discusses with management and our independent registered public accounting firm the results of the annual
audit and the review of our quarterly financial statements;

= approves the retention of our independent rcglstered public accounting firm to perform any proposed
permissible non-audit services;

* monitors the rotation of partners of our independent registered public accounting firm on our engagement
team as required by law;

* reviews our critical accounting policies and estimates; and

» annually reviews the Audit Committee charter and the committee’s performance.
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Our Audit Committee consists of Edward F. Thompson, who is the chair of the committee, and Kenneth D. Denman
and Charles D. Kissner. Each of these individuals meets the requirements for financial literacy under the applicable rules
and regulations of the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market. Each of Messrs. Denman, Kissner and Thompson is an
independent director as defined under the applicable regulations of the SEC and under the applicable rules of the
NASDAQ Stock Market. Our board has determined that each of Messrs. Denman, Kissner and Thompson is an Audit
Committee financial expert as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC and therefore has the requisite financial
sophistication required under the applicable rules and regulations of the NASDAQ Stock Market, The Audit Committee
operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market.
During fiscal year 2007, the Audit Committee met four times.

Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee reviews and recommends policy relating to compensation and benefits of our
officers and employees. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives
relevant to compensation of our chief executive officer and other executive officers, evaluates the performance of
these officers in light’of those goals and objectives and sets the compensation of these officers based on such
evaluations. The Compensation Committee alse administers the issvance of stock options and other awards under
our equity award plans. The Compensation Committee will review and evaluate, at least annually, the performance
of the Compensation Committee and its members, including compliance of the Compensation Committee with its
charter. Our Compensation Committee consists of Gary J. Daichendt, who is the chair of the committee, and
Kenneth D. Denman and Thomas van Overbeek. Each of Messrs. Daichendt, Denman and van Overbeek is an
independent director as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of the NASDAQ Stock Market and is an
outside director under the applicable rules and regulations of the Internal Revenue Service. During fiscal year 2007,
the Compensation Committee met four times. :

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

Qur Corporate Governance and Nominating Commitiee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors
regarding candidates for directorships and the size and composition of the Board of Directors and its commitiees, In
addition, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Commiitee oversees our corporate governance guidelines and
reporting and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning governance matters. Our Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee consists of Charles D. Kissner, who is the chair of the committee, Mark F.
Bregman and Gary J. Daichendt. Each of Dr. Bregman and Messrs. Daichendt and Kissner is an independent
director as-defined under the applicable rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. The Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee was formed by our Board of Directors in June 2007, near the end of the fiscal year, so it did
not meet during fiscal 2007.

Policy regarding Stockholder Nominations. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee con-
siders stockholder recommendations for director candidates. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Com-
mittee has established the following procedure for stockholders to submit director nominee recommendations:

« If a stockholder would like to recommend a director candidate for the next annual meetihg, he or she must
submit the recommendations by mail to ShoreTel’s Corporate Secretary at ShoreTel’s principal executive
offices, no later than the 120th calendar day before the date that ShoreTel last mailed its proxy statement to
stockholders in connection with the previous year's annual meeting.

= Recommendations for candidates must be accompanied by personal information of the candidate, including
a list of the candidate’s references, the candidate’s resume or curriculum vitae and such other information as
determined by ShoreTel's Corporate Secretary and as necessary to satisfy Securities Exchange Commission
rules and ShoreTel's Bylaws, together with a letter signed by the proposed candidate consenting to serve on
the Board if nominated and elected.

 The Coerporate Governance and Nominating Committee considers nominees based on ShoreTel’s need to fill
vacancies or to expand the Board, and also considers ShoreTel’s need to fill particular roles on the Board or
committees thereof (e.g. independent director, Audit Committee financial expert, etc.).

+ The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee evaluates candidates in accordance with its charter
and policies regarding director qualifications, qualities and skills.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Until May 2007, our Compensation Committee consisted of Seth D. Neiman, a former director, and Thomas
van Qverbeek. Upon Mr, Neiman’s resignation and the appointment of Gary J. Daichendt and Kenneth D. Denman
to the Board of Directors in May 2007, the Board of Directors appointed Mr. Daichendt (chair), Mr. Denman and
Mr. van Overbeek to the Compensation Committee. None of the members of the Compensation Committee has at
any time during the last fiscal year ever been an officer or employee of our company or any of its subsidiaries, and
none have had any relationships with our company of the type that is required to be disclosed under Item 404 of
Regulation S-K. None of our executive officers has served as a member of the Board of Directors, or as 2a member of
the Compensation or similar committee, of any entity that has one or more executive officers who served on our
Board of Directors or Compensation Committee during our 2007 fiscal year.

PROPOSAL NO, 2 — RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has selected Deloitte & Touche LLP to be ShoreTel's
independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending June 30, 2008, and recommends that the
stockholders vote for ratification of such appointment. In the event of a negative vote on such ratification, the Audit
Committee will reconsider its selection. Representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be present at the Annual
Meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement at the Annual Meeting if they desire to do so, and will be
available to respond to appropriate questions.

Audit and Related Fees

Audit Fees. The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates (collectively, “Deloitte & Touche™) for professional services
rendered for (i) the audit of ShoreTel’s annual consolidated financial statements and the consolidated financial
statements for the six month period ended December 31, 20086, (ii) the reviews of our quarterly financial statements,
(iii) services rendered in connection with our Form S-1 and Form S-8 filings related to our initial public offering,
and (iv) comfort letters, consents and other matters related to Securities and Exchange Commission matters were
$2,052,025 and $233,719 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006.

Audit-Related Fees. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, there were no fees billed by
Deloitte & Touche for professional services rendered and not reported under “Audit Fees” above.

Tax Fees. The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by Deloitte & Touche for tax compliance, tax advice and
tax planning services were $94,850 and $1,800 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006. Tax-related
services rendered by Deloitte & Touche consisted primarity of the analysis of limitations on the utilization net
operating losses due to ownership changes under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

All Other Fees. There were no other fees billed or to be billed by Deloitte & Touche for the years ended
June 30, 2007 and 2006.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Services Performed by Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the
independent accountants. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other
services. The Audit Committee generally pre-approves particular services or categories of services on a
case-by-case basis. The independent registered public accounting firm and management are required to periodically
report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public
accounting firm in accordance with these pre-approvals, and the fees for the services performed to date.

All of the services of Deloitte & Touche for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, described above,
were pre-approved by the Audit Committee,

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification
of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table presents information as to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of
September 30, 2007 by: .

= each of the executive officers listed in the summary compensation table;
*» each of our directors:
+ all of our directors and executive officers as a group; and

* each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Unless otherwise indicated
below, to our knowledge, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole investment power
with respect to all shares beneficially owned, subject to applicable community property laws. Shares of
September 30, 2007 are deemed to be outstanding and 1o be beneficially owned by the person holding the options
for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

The number of shares beneficially owned and percentage of our common stock outstanding is based on
42,618,468 shares of our common stock outstanding on September 30, 2007. Except as otherwise noted below, the
address for each person or entity listed in the table is c/o ShoreTel, Inc., 960 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale, CA 94085.

Number of
Shares

: Beneficially Percent
Name of Beneficial Owner Owned of Class
Directors and Named Executive Officers
John W. Combs(1) . ... .o i e 2,081,779 5%
Michael E. Healy(2). . ... ... . e e —_ *
JohmFinegan{3). . ... ... .. . . .. 279,000 *
Pedro Rump(4) . ... . . 325,500 *
Walter Weisner(5) . ................ e e e 239,999 *
Joseph A, Vitalone(6). . . . .. ... . .. . e 35,500 *
Edwin J. Basart(7) . . . . .. ... e e e 785,809 1.8%
Mark F Bregman(8). . . . ...t i e s 6,250 *
Gary ). Daichendt(9) . .. ... . e 7,291 *
Kenneth D. Denman(10). . . .. ... .. i e e e e 6,250 *
Charles D. Kissner(11) . . ... i e e et et eea e 50,000 *
Thomas van Overbeek(12) . ..... ... .. .o 1,355,462 3.2
Edward FE. Thompson(13) .. ... ... o 50,000 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons){(14). . .......... 5,712,839 13.4
5% Stockholders o
Entities affiliated with Crosspoint Venture Partners(15) . ................. 9,321,548 22.0
Entities affiliated with Foundation Capital(16) .. ...................... 6,815,679 i6.0
Entities affiliated with J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital(17). .. .......... 1,760,553 4.0
Entities affiliated with Lehman Brothers Venture Partners{(18) . ... ......... 7,566,831 18.0

* Less than 1%

(1) Consists of shares issued upon early exercise of a stock option, a portion of which shares remain subject to
vesting. The vesting schedule for these shares is described in footnote 3 to the “Outstanding Option Awards at
June 30, 2007 table under “Executive Compensation.”

(2) Mr. Healy joined the Company in May 2007 and was granted an option to purchase 324,999 shares of common
stock. This option will not be vested within 60 days of September 30, 2007.
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(3) Consists of 208,395 shares issued upon early exercise of stock options, and 70,605 shares subject to
outstanding stock options, which options are immediately exercisable subject to our lapsing right of
repurchase upon termination of service or employment. The vesting schedules for these shares and stock
options are described in footnotes to the “Outstanding Option Awards at June 30, 2007 table under
“Executive Compensation.”” Mr. Finegan ceased serving as our Chief Financial Officer in May 2007.

{(4) Consists of 25,000 shares issued upon early exercise of stock options and 300,500 shares subject to
outstanding stock options, which options are immediately exercisable subject to our lapsing right of
repurchase upon termination of service or employment. The vesting schedules for these stock options are
described in footnotes to the “Outstanding Option Awards at June 30, 2007" table under “Executive
Compensation.”

(5) Consists of 82,500 shares issued upon early exercise of stock options, a portion of which shares remain subject
to vesting, and 157,499 shares subject to outstanding stock options, which options are immediately exercisable
subject to our lapsing right of repurchase upon termination of service or employment. The vesting schedules
for these shares and stock option are described in footnote 7 to the “Outstanding Option Awards at June 30,
2007" table under “Executive Compensation.”

(6) Consists of 132,750 shares issued upon early exercise of a stock option, a portion of which shares remain
subject to vesting, and 182,750 shares subject to outstanding stock options, which options are immediately
exercisable subject to our lapsing right of repurchase upon termination of service or employment, The vesting
schedules for these shares and stock option are described in footnote 8 to the “Outstanding Option Awards at
June 30, 2007 table under “Executive Compensation.”

(7) Consists of 452,000 shares held by Mr. Basart, and 333,809 shares subject to outstanding stock options, which
options are immediately exercisable subject to our lapsing right of repurchase upon termination of service or
employment.

{8) Consists of 50,000 shares subject to outstanding stock options, of which 6,250 shares will be exercisable
within sixty days of September 30, 2007. See “Director Compensation.”

(9) Consists of 50,000 shares subject to outstanding stock options, of which 7,291 shares will be exercisable
within sixty days of September 30, 2007. See “Director Compensation.”

{10y Consists of 50,000 shares subject to outstanding stock options, of which 6,250 shares will be exercisable
within sixty days of September 30, 2007. See “Director Compensation.”

(11} Consists of 50,000 shares issuable pursuant to an immediately exercisable stock option. See “Director
Compensation.”

{12) Consists of 1,344,004 shares held and 11,458 shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options,
which shares will be exercisable within sixty days of September 30, 2007.

(13) Consists of 50,000 shares issued upon early exercise of a stock option, a portion of which shares remain
subject to vesting in accordance with the vesting schedule described in footnote 11 to the Director Com-
pensation table.

(14) Includes 549,789 shares subject to our lapsing right of repurchase upon termination of service or employment
and 1,102,852 shares issuable upon exercise of immediately exercisable stock options, of which
553,264 shares, if these options are exercised in full, will be subject to our lapsing right of repurchase upon
termination of service or employment, which rights in each case lapse according to the vesting schedule of the
original options.

(13) Consists of 7,132,372 shares held by Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000 Q, L.P, 816,073 shares held by
Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000, L.P., 812,314 shares held by Crosspoint Venture Partners 1996, L.P., and
560,789 shares held by Crosspoint Venture Partners LS 2000, L.P. Crosspoint Associaies 2000, L.L.C. is the
general partner of Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000 Q, L.P., Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000, L.P. and
Crosspoint Venture Partners LS 2000, L.P. Crosspoint Associates 1996, L.L..C. is the general partner of
Crosspoint Venture Partners 1996, L.P. Seth D. Neiman, a managing member of Crosspoint Associates 2000,
L.L.C. and Crosspoint Associates 1996, L.L.C., has voting and investment authority over the shares held by
Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000 Q, L.P., Crosspoint Venture Partners 2000, L.P., Crosspoint Venture Partners
1996, L.P. and Crosspoint Venture Partners LS 2000, L..P. The address of Crosspoint Venture Partners is
2925 Woodside Road, Woodside, CA 94062.




(16)

(17}

(18)

Consists of 4,098,394 shares held by Foundation Capital, L.P., 2,203,148 shares held by Foundation Capital
Leadership Fund, L.P, 455,375 shares held by Foundation Capital Entrepreneurs Fund, L.L.C. and
58,762 shares held by Foundation Capital Leadership Principals Fund, L.L.C. Foundation Capital Manage-
ment, L.L.C. is the general partner of Foundation Capital, L.P. and managing member of Foundation Capital
Entrepreneurs, L.L.C. Jim Anderson, William Elmore, Kathryn Gould and Paul Koontz are the managing
members of Foundation Capital Management, L.L..C. and'share voting and investment control over the shares.
The managing members of Foundation Capital Management, L.L.C. disclaim beneficial ownership of the
shares, except to the extent of their direct pecuniary interest in the shares. Foundation Capital Leadership
Management Company, L.L.C. is the general partner of Foundation Capital Leadership Fund, L.P. and
managing member of Foundation Capital Leadership Principals Fund, L.L.C. William Elmore,
Kathryn Gould, Adam Grosser, Paul Koontz, and Mike Schuh are the managing members of Foundation
Capital Leadership Management Company, L.L.C. and share voting and investment power of the shares. The
managing members of Foundation Capital Leadership Management Company, L.L.C. disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares, except to the extent of their direct pecuniary interest in the shares. Each of these
entities is affiliated with Foundation Capital. The address of Foundation Capital is 70 Willow Road, Suite 200,
Menlo Park, CA 94025.

Consists of 1,522,044 shares held by J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital Institutional I[nvestors LLC,
202,839 shares held by J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital Private Investors LLC and 35,670 shares held
by 522 Fifth Avenue Fund, L.P. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A, serves as investment advisor of J.P. Morgan
Direct Venture Capital Institutional Investors LLC. J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. serves as
investment advisor of J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital Private Investors LLC. J.P. Morgan Investment
Management Inc, serves as investment advisor of 522 Fifth Avenue Fund, L.P. Jarrod Fong and Lawrence
Unrein, portfolio managers for J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital Institutional Investors LLC, J.P. Morgan
Direct Venture Capital Private Investors LLC and 522 Fifth Avenue Fund, L.P., share voting and investment
control over the shares held by these entities. The address of J.P. Morgan Direct Venture Capital is
245 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10167. These stockholders are affiliated with J.P. Morgan Securities
Inc., which acted as an underwriter of our initial public offering.

Consists of 3,203,592 shares held by Lehman Brothers VC Partners 2002 L.P., 1,448,292 shares held by
Lehman Brothers PA. LLC, 1,176,001 shares held by LB I Group Inc., 917,190 shares held by Lehman
Brothers Venture Capital Partners II, L.P., 652,525 shares held by Lehman Brothers Partnership Account
200072001, L.P. and 169,231 shares held by Lehman Brothers Offshore Partnership Account 2000/2001, L.P.
Lehman'Brothers Holdings Inc., a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, has voting
and investment control over the shares held by these entities. The address of Lehman Brothers Venture
Partners is 3000 Sand Hill Road, Building 3, Suite 190, Menlo Park, CA 94025. These stockholders are
affiliated with Lehman Brothers Inc., which acted as an underwriter of our initial public offering.

Equity Compensation Plans

To date, a substantial majority of the options to purchase shares of our common stock have been granted under
our 1997 stock option plan. Qur 1997 stock option plan has terminated, and we now grant options to purchase shares
of our common stock only from our 2007 equity incentive plan. The following descriptions are qualified by the
terms of the actual plans filed as exhibits to our registration statement on Form S-1 or annual report on Form 10-K.
The following table gives information about equity awards under these plans and options as of June 30, 2007.

{c)
(a) Number of Securities
Number of Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Essuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation

Qutstanding Options, Quistanding Options, Plans (Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders . . .. .. ............ _ 4,697,367 $4.51 9,130,227

Equity compensation plans not approved

by

security holders .. ............. — — _
............................ 4,697,367 4.51] 9,130,227
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2007 Equity Incentive Plan

Background. The 2007 equity incentive plan serves as the successor equity compensation plan to our 1997
stock option plan. Our Board of Directors adopted cur 2007 equity incentive plan and our shareholders approved the
plan in February 2007. This plan became effective upon adoption and will terminate in February 2017. The 2007
equity incentive plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock optiens, restricted stock
awards, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and stock bonuses.

Administration. The 2007 equity incentive plan is administered by our Compensation Committee. This
committee acts as the plan administrator and determines which individuals are eligible to receive awards under the
plan, the time or times when such awards are to be made, the number of shares subject to each such award, the status
of any granted option as either an incentive stock option or a nonqualified stock option under United States federal
tax laws, the vesting schedule applicable to an award and the maximum term for which any award is to remain
outstanding (subject to the limits set forth in the 2007 equity incentive plan). The committee also determines the
exercise price of options granted, the purchase price for rights to purchase restricted stock and, if applicable,
restricted vnits and the strike price for stock appreciation rights. Unless the commitiee provides otherwise, the plan
does not allow for the transfer of awards and only the recipient of an award may exercise an award during his or her
lifetime.

Share Reserve, We have reserved 5,000,000 shares of our common stock for issuance under the 2007 equity
incentive plan. Additionally, our 2007 equity incentive plan provides for automatic increases in the number of
shares available for issuance under it as follows:

» on the first day of each Janunary from 2008 through 2017, the number of shares of our common stock will be
increased by 5% of the number of shares of our common stock issued and outstanding on the preceding
December 31%; or '

* a lesser number of shares of our common stock as determined by our Board of Directors.

As of September 30, 2007, 2,306,271 options to purchase shares of our common stock were outstanding under
the 2007 equity incentive pian.

Equiry Awards.  Our 2007 equity incentive plan permits us to grant the following types of awards:

Stock Options. The 2007 equity incentive plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options
(commonly referred to as ISOs), and nongualified stock options (commonly referred to as NSOs), to
employees, directors and consultants. [SOs may only be granted to employees. Options may be granted
with terms determined by the committee, provided that ISOs are subject to statutory limitations. The
committee determines the exercise price for a stock option, within the terms and conditions of the plan
and applicable law, provided that the exercise price of an ISO may not be less than 100% (or higher in the case
of 1SOs granted to certain types of recipients) of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

Options granted under the 2007 equity incentive plan will vest at the rate specified by .the committee and
such vesting schedule will be set forth in the stock option agreement pursuant to which such stock eption grant
relates. Generally, the committee determines the term of stock options granted under the plan, up to a term of
ten years, except in the case of certain incentive stock options for which the term can be no more than five years.

After termination of an optionee, he or she may exercise his or her vested option for the period of time
stated in the stock option agreement to which such option relates. Generally, if termination is due to death or
disability, the vested option will remain exercisable for 12 months. In all other cases, the vested option wili
generally remain exercisable for three months. However, an option may not be exercised later than its
expiration date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an optionee is terminated for cause (as defined in our 2007
equity incentive plan), then the optionee’s options shall expire on the optionee’s termination date or at such
later time and on such conditions as determined by our Compensation Committee.

Restricted Stock. A restricted stock award is an offer by us to sell shares of our common stock subject to
restrictions that the committee may impose. These restrictions may be based on completion of a specified
period of service with us or upon the completion of performance goals during a performance period (or a
combination of the foregoing}. The price of a restricted stock award will be determined by the committee.
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Unless otherwise determined by the commitiee at the time of award, vesting ceases on the date the participant
no longer provides services to us and unvested shares are forfeited to us or subject to repurchase by us.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock appreciation rights provide for a payment, or payments, in cash or
shares of common stock, to the holder based upon the difference between the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of exercise over the stated exercise price. Stock appreciation rights may vest based on time or
achievement of performance conditions (or a combination of the foregoing).

Restricted Stock Units.  Restricted stock units represent the right to receive shares of our common stock
at a specified date in the future, subject to forfeiture of such right due to termination of employment and/or
failure to achieve specified performance conditions, If the restricted stock unit has not been forfeited, then on
the date specified in the restricted stock unit agreement, we will deliver to the holder of the restricted stock unit
whole shares of our common stock, cash or a combination of our common stock and cash. '

Stock Bonuses.  Stock bonuses are granted as additional compensation for performance, and therefore,
are not issued in exchange for cash.

Change of Control. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or change in control transaction, outstanding
awards may be assumed or replaced by the successor company (if any). Outstanding awards that are not assumed or
replaced by the successor company (if any) will expire on the consummation of the liquidation, dissolution or
change in control transaction at such time and on such conditions as our Board of Directors determines (including,
without limitation, full or partial vesting and exercisability of any or all outstanding awards issued under our 2007
equity incentive plan).

Transferability of Awards. Generally, a participant may not transfer an award other than by will or the laws of
descent and distribution unless, in the case of awards other than ISOs, the committee permits the transfer of an
award to certain authorized transferees (as set forth in our 2007 equity incentive plan}.

Eligibility.‘ The individuals eligible to participate in our 2007 equity incentive plan include our officers and
other employees, our non-employee Board of Directors members and any consultants.

Payment for Purchase of Shares of our Common Stock. Payment for shares of our common stock purchased
pursuant to the 2007 equity incentive plan may be made by any of the following methods (provided such method is
permitted in the applicable award agreement to which such shares relate): (i) cash (including by check),
(ii} cancellation of indebtedness, (iit) surrender of shares, (iv) waiver of compensation due or accrued for services

Jrendered; (v) ihrough a “same day sale” program or through a “margin” commitment or (vi) by another other

method approved by our Board of Directors.

+

Limit on Awards. Under our 2007 equity incentive plan, during any calendar year, no participant will be
eligible to receive more than 2,500,000 shares of our common stock.

Amendment and Termination. Our Board of Directors may amend or terminate the 2007 equity incentive plan
at any time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Board of Directors nor the committee shall, without
stockholder approval, amend the plan in any manner that requires stockholder approval. In addition, no amendment
that is detrimental to a plan participant may be made to an outstanding option without the consent of the affected
participant.

1997 Stock Option Plan and Non-Plan Stock Option

Our Board of Directors adopted and our shareholders approved our 1997 stock option plan in January 1997. As
of September 30, 2007, options to purchase 2,873,342 shares of our common stock were outstanding under our 1997
stock option plan. This plan terminated in January 2007, and no additional options may be granted under this plan.
However, all stock options outstanding on the termination of the 1997 stock option plan will continue to be
governed by the terms and conditions of the 1997 stock option plan. Options granted under the 1997 stock option
plan are subject to terms substantially similar to those described above with respect to options granted under the
2007 equity incentive plan. ‘

In September 2006, our Board of Directors granted an option to purchase 125,000 shares of our common stock
to an employee in the United Kingdom. This option was not granted under our 1997 stock option plan.
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2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Background. Our 2007 employee stock purchase plan is designed to enable eligible employees to period-
ically purchase shares of our common stock at a discount. Purchases are accomplished through participation in
discrete offering periods. Qur 2007 employee stock purchase plan is intended to qualify as an employee stock
purchase plan under Section 423 of the [nternal Revenue Code. Our Board of Directors adopted our 2007 employee
stock purchase plan in February 2007, our stockholders approved the plan in June 2007. Our plan becomes effective
upon the commencement of its first offering period in November 2007.

Share Reserve. We have initially reserved 500,000 shares of our common stock for issuance under our
2007 employee stock purchase plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance under our 2007 employee stock
purchase plan will increase automatically on the first day of each January, starting with January 1, 2008, by the
number of shares equal to 1% of our total outstanding shares as of ‘the immediately preceding
December 31% (rounded to the nearest whole share). Our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee may
reduce the amount of the increase in any particular year. No more than 5,000,000 shares of our common stock may
be issued under our 2007 employee stock purchase plan and no other shares may be added to this plan without the
approval of our stockholders.

Administration. Our Compensation Committee will administer our 2007 employee stock purchase plan.
Participation is limited to our employees. Our employees generally are eligible to participate in our 2007 employee
stock purchase plan if they are employed by us, or a subsidiary of ours that we designate, for more than 20 hours per
week and more than five months in a calendar year. Employees who are 5% stockholders, or would become 5%
stockholders as a result of their participation in our 2007 employee stock purchase plan, are ineligible to participate
in our 2007 employee stock purchase plan. We may impose additional restrictions on eligibility as well. Under our
2007 employee stock purchase plan, eligible employees may acquire shares of our common stock by accumulating
funds through payroll deductions. Qur eligible employees may select a rate of payroll deduction between 1% and
15% of their cash compensation. We also have the right to amend or terminate our 2007 employee stock purchase
plan and offering periods thereunder. Our 2007 employee stock purchase plan will terminate on the tenth
anniversary of the first offering date, unless it is terminated earlier by our Board of Directors.

Purchase Rights. 'When an offering period commences, our employees who meet the eligibility requirements
for participation in that offering period are automatically granted a non-transferable option to purchase shares in
that offering period. Each offering period may run for no more than 24 months. An employee’s participation
automatically ends upon termination of employment for any reason.

Each offering period will be for six months and will run November 1 to April 30 or May 1 to October 31, as the
case may be. The first offering period will begin on November 1, 2007 and end on April 30, 2008.

No participant will have the right to purchase our shares at a rate which, when aggregated with purchase rights
under alt our employee stock purchase plans that are also outstanding in the same calendar year(s), have a fair
market value of more than $25,000, determined as of the first day of the applicable offering period, for each
calendar year in which such right is outstanding. The purchase price for shares of our common stock purchased
under our 2007 employee stock purchase plan will be 90% of the lesser of the fair market value of our commeon stock
on (i) the first trading day of the applicable offering period and (ii) the last trading day of the applicable offering
period.

Change in Control. In the event of a change in control transaction, our 2007 employee stock purchase plan
and any offering periods that commenced prior to the completion of the proposed transaction may terminate on the
completion of the proposed transaction and the final purchase of shares will occur on that date, but our
Compensation Committee may instead terminate any such offering period at a different date.

Additional Employee Benefit Plans

Executive Bonus Plan

In October 2006, our Board of Directors approved a bonus plan for fiscal 2007. The plan specified a bonus
target for our chief executive officer equal to 75% of his base salary, and 45% of base salary for other executive
officers. The bonus criteria consist of: (1) company targets, which consist of 50% weighting for-revenue, 25%
weighting for profitability and 25% weighting for overall customer satisfaction, (2) individual targets established by
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our chief executive officer for the particular employee, and (3) a multiplier ranging from 0 to 1.5 based on the
executive’s overall performance rating. The actual bonus award is determined according to our company’s and each
executive officer’s level of achievement against these performance objectives. If the company objectives are within
a specified range, from 50% to 150% of the particular target could be payable. Messrs. Combs, Healy, Finegan,
Rump, Weisner, and Vitalone earned bonuses equal 1o $272,172, $0, $104,000, $130,000, $100,000, and $54,000
respectively, under the bonus plan for fiscal 2007 as a result of having achieved, and in some cases exceeded, the
bonus targets specified for fiscal 2007. These bonuses were paid in March 2007 and September 2007 (except for the
first half-year bonus to Mr. Combs, which was paid in June 2007). Mr. Healy joined the company in May 2007 and
received a sign-on bonus of $30,000. Mr, Vitalone also received sales commissions of $33,400 in fiscal 2007 in
additien to his bonus described above.

401(k) Plan

We offer a 401(k) plan to all employees who meet specified eligibility requirements. The plan provides for
voluntary tax deferred contributions of 1 to 20% of gross compensation subject to certain IRS limitations. Based on
approval by our Board of Directors, we may make matching contributions to the plan. No matching contributions
had been made as of September 30, 2007.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our executive compensation program is designed to attract, as needed, individuals with the skills necessary for
us to achieve our business plan, to reward those individuals fairly over time, 10 retain those individuals who continue
to perform at or above the levels that we expect and to closely align the compensation of those individuals with the
performance of our company on both a short-term and long-term basis. To that end, our executive officers’
compensation has three primary components — base compensation or salary, cash performance bonuses and stock
option awards. In addition, we provide our executive officers a variety of benefits that in most cases are available
generally to all salaried employees.

General, We view the components of compensation as related but distinct. Although our Compensation
Committee reviews total compensation of our executive officers, we do not believe that significant compensation
derived from one component of compensation should negate or reduce compensation from other components. We
determine the appropriate level for each compensation component based in part, but not exclusively, on competitive
benchmarking consistent with our recruiting and retention goals, our view of internal equity and consistency, overall
company performance and other considerations we deem relevant. To this end, we review executive compensation
surveys of high technology companies located in the Silicon Valley area when making a crucial executive officer
hiring decision and anauvally when we review executive compensation, For fiscal 2007, we reviewed compensation
surveys by Radford, HR Advantage, NCEOQ, Presidio, Iquantic and Deloitte & Touche. Except as described below,
our Compensation Committee has not adopted any formal or informal policies or guidelines for allocating
compensation between long-term and currently paid out compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation
or among different forms of non-cash compensation. However, our philosophy is to make a greater percentage of an
employee’s compensation performance-based and to keep cash compensation to a competitive level while
providing the opportunity to be well rewarded through equity if the company performs well over time. We also
believe that for technology comipanies stock-based compensation is the primary motivator in attracting employees,
rather than base salary or cash bonuses.

Our current intent is to perform at least annually a strategic review of our executive officers’ overall compensation
packages to determine whether they provide adequate incentives and motivation and whether they adequately com-
pensate our executive officers relative to comparable officers in other companies with which we compete for executives.
The most recent overall compensation review occurred in April 2007. Board meetings typically have included, for all ora
portion of each meeting, not only the Compensation Committee and board members but also our chief executive officer.
For compensation decisions, including decisions regarding the grant of equity compensation, relating to executive
officers other than to our chief executive officer, the board considers recommendations from the Compensation
Committee and also typically considers recommendations from the chief executive officer.

Our board decided to set executive officers’ tota! overall cash compensation at a level that was at or near the
50" to 60" percentile of salaries of executives with similar roles at comparable pre-public companies, with
incentive compensation targeted at the 50' to 60' percentile and base salary tarpeted at the 45" 1o 50 percentile.
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Equity compensation was also targeted at the 50™ percentile of comparable companies. Going forward, now that we
are publicly traded, we will use comparable public companies for these purposes. These allocations were consistent
with our goal of attracting and retaining superior employees, white also aligning their interests with our perfor-
mance. We realize that using a benchmark may not always be appropriate but believe that it is the best alternative at
this point in the life cycle of our company. In instances where an executive officer is uniquely key to our success, our
board may provide compensation in excess of these percentiles. Our board’s judgments with regard to market levels
of base compensation and aggregate equity holdings were based on reports from Olivieri and Associates, an
independent consultant specializing in executive compensation, which was engaged by our board to assist in the
adjustment of the compensation to our executives. The report compared our executive compensation with the
executive compensation at a number of similarly situated private companies. Our choice of the foregoing
percentiles to apply to the data in the report reflected consideration of our steckholders’ interests in paying what
was necessary, but not significantly more than necessary, to achieve our corporate goals, while conserving cash and
equity as much as practicable. At its October 2006 and April 2007 meetings, based on these benchmarks, our
Compensation Committee recommended and our Board of Directors subsequently approved salary increases and
additional option grants to our executive officers. The numbers of shares subject to the options granted in fiscal 2007
to these officers are reflected in the “2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards” table below.

We account for equity compensation paid to our employees under SFAS 123(R), which requires us to estimate
and record an expense over the service period of the award. Our cash compensation is recorded as an expense at the
time the obligation is accrued. We receive a tax deduction for the compensation expense. We structure cash bonus
compensation so that it is taxable to our executives at the time it becomes available to them. We currently intend that
all cash compensation paid will be tax deductible for us. However, with respect to equity compensation awards,
while any gain recognized by employees from nonqualified options granted at fair market value should be
deductible, to the extent that an option constitutes an incentive stock option gain recognized by the optionee will not
be deductible if there is no disqualifying disposition by the optionee. In addition, if we grant restricted stock or
restricted stock unit awards that are not subject to performance vesting, they may not be fully deductible by us at the
time the award is otherwise taxable to employees.

Base compensation. The salaries of Messrs. Combs, Healy, Finegan, Rump, Weisner, and Vitalone were set
at $325,000, $250,000, $200,000, $225,000, $225,000, $200,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.
Mr. Rump’s base salary was increased to $235,000 in February 2007. These were established as part of our
normal annual salary review process and reflect our Compensation Committee’s review of the compensation levels
of similar positions at comparable companies. Our Board of Directors approved, effective February 1, 2007,
increases to the annual base salaries of our employees, including our named executive officers, which generally
ranged from 3% to 5%.

Cash bonuses. We utilize cash bonuses to reward performance achievements. Bonus targets are established
every six months and are paid following each six month period. These bonus targets are determined by our
Compensation Committee as a percentage of each executive officer’s base salary. Our board also determines the
performance measures and other terms and conditions of these cash bonuses for executive officers. For fiscal 2007,
the bonus target for our chief executive officer was 75% of his base salary, as provided in his employment offer
letter. The target bonus is 45% of base salary for other executive officers. The bonus targets for each executive
officer is a pre-determined percentage of base salary that is intended to provide a competitive level of compensation
if the executive officer achieves his or her performance objectives as approved by our Compensation Committee.
The bonus criteria consist of® (1) company targets, which consist of 50% weighting for revenue, 25% weighting for
profitability and 25% weighting for overall customer satisfaction, (2) individual targets established by our chief
executive officer for the particular employee, and (3) a multiplier ranging from 0 to 1.5 based on the executive’s
overall performance rating. The actual bonus award is determined according to our company’s and each executive
officer’s level of achievement against these performance objectives. If the company objectives are within a specified
range, from 50% to 150% of the particular target could be payable to the executives. The bonus for fiscal 2007 for
our chief executive officer was based on the board’s review of company performance targets, consisting of revenue,
profitability, customer satisfaction and its assessment of his performance. In fiscal 2007, the individual performance
targets of executives who performed sales functions were based at least in part on an individualized sales
commission plan that is directly related to the amount of products sold and that person’s role in the sale, although
all executive officer bonuses are currently determined under the criteria described above. The Compensation
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Committee chose revenue and profitability level because it believed that, as a “growth company,” we should reward
revenue growth, but only if that revenue growth is achieved cost effectively. Customer satisfaction was also selected
as a company target because of our belief that customer satisfaction is critical to the success of our business. The
performance level multiplier was added based on our belief that employees that might otherwise reach various
targets, may be contributing or not contributing to the overall success of our company in a manner that promotes the
long-term growih and success of our company. Thus, we considered the chosen metrics to be the best indicators of
financial success and stockholder value creation. We do not have a formal policy regarding adjustment or recovery
of awards or payments if the relevant performance measures upon which they are based are restated or otherwise
adjusted in 2 manner that would reduce the size of the award or payment.

Our Board of Directors approved bonus plans for the first and last six months of fiscal 2007 in October 2006
and December 2006, respectively, These target bonuses are based on the overall metrics and formulas used for fiscal
2006, with adjustments in the target company financial performance goals to reflect our growth. The bonus target
for our chief executive officer was 75% of base salary, pursuant to the terms of his employment offer letter, and the
target bontuses remain at 45% of base salary for our other executive officers. Messrs. Combs, Healy, Finegan, Rump,
Weisner and Vitalone earned bonuses equal to $272,172, $0, $104,000, $130,000, $100,000 and $54,000 respec-
tively, under the bonus plan for fiscal 2007 as a result of having achieved, and in some cases exceeded, the bonus
targets specified for fiscal 2007, These bonuses were paid in March 2007 and September 2007 (except for the first
bonus to Mr. Combs, which was paid in June 2007). Mr. Healy joined the company in May 2007 and received a sign-
on bonus of $30,000. Mr. Vitalone also received sales commissions of $53,400in fiscal 2007 in addition to his bonus
described above.

In April 2007, our Board of Directors approved changes to Mr. Vitalone’s bonus arrangement, effective for the
second half of fiscal 2007. Under his new arrangement, his annual bonus target was raised from $100,000 to
$140,000 and the bonus he received was earned through his participation under our bonus plan for the second half of
fiscal 2007, rather than from the achievement of individualized sales commission performance goals.

In addition, Mr. Finegan, our former chief financial officer is entitled to a performance bonus that provides for
a payout at the 150% level under the bonus plan for the first half of fiscal 2008 so long as he remains employed with
our company at December 31, 2007 and has met his performance goals.

Stock options and equity awards. We utilize stock options to ensure that our executive officers have a
continuing stake in our long-term success. Because our executive officers are awarded stock options with an
| exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, the determination of which is

discussed below, these options will have value to our executive officers only if the market price of our common
stock increases after the date of grant. Typically, our stock options vest at a rate of 25% of the shares subject to the
option on the first anniversary of the grant date, and with respect to approximately 2.1% of the shares each month
thereafter. The stock options that we have granted under our 1997 stock option plan to executive officers may be
exercised by the recipient at any time; however, any shares purchased are subject to a lapsing right of repurchase in
our favor. This repurchase right lapses on the same schedule as the vesting of the option.

Authority to make stock option grants to exccutive officers has been delegated to our Compensation
Committee. In determining the size of stock option grants to executive officers, our Compensation Committee
considers our performance against the strategic plan, individual performance against the individual’s objectives,
comparative share ownership data from compensation surveys of high technology companies in our area, the extent
to which shares subject to previously granted options are vested and the recommendations of our chief executive
officer and other members of management.

In fiscal 2007, prior to our initial public offering, our Board of Directors based its determination of the value of
our common stock on its assessment of our financial performance and prospects and the likelihood of a liquidity
event. Since the likelihood of an initial public offering of our common stock increased during this period, we
engaged valuation firms to help us assess an appropriate fair market value for our options to purchase common stock.

During fiscal 2007, we were not a public company, and therefore did not have any program, plan or obligation
that required us to grant equity compensation on specified dates. Moreover, we did not make equity grants in
connection with the release or withholding of material non-public information. However, in connection with our
initial public offering in July 2007, we implemented policies to ensure that equity awards are granted at fair market
value on the date that the grant action occurs.
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In October 2006, we granted Mr. Rump an option to purchase 60,000 shares of common stock, Mr. Weisner an
option to purchase 39,999 shares of common stock, and Mr. Vitalone an option to purchase 50,000 shares of
common stock, each at an exercise price of $3.20 per share. In April 2007, we granted Mr. Rump an option to
purchase 49,999 shares of common stock, and Mr. Vitalone an option to purchase 39,999 shares, each at an exercise
price equal to $11.30 per share. Each of these stock options vests as to 50% of the shares on the two-year anniversary
of the date of grant, and as to 1/48th of the shares each month over the following two years. Each of the stock options
granted in October 2006 is immediately exercisable in full; however, any unvested shares issued upon exercise will
be a subject to a right of repurchase by us upon termination of employment, which right lapses in accordance with
the vesting schedule described above. Each of the stock options granted in April 2007 become exercisable as they
vest. These grants were made by our Board of Directors as part of our process of reviewing the equity positions of
our employees, and the board determined that, in light of the individuals’ performances, equity ownership and leve!
of vesting, it was appropriate to provide additional incentive for each of these personnel, particularly in order to
retain these individuals through and following the initial public offering process, and to incentivize them to help our
company achieve the growth targets it has set.

In May 2007, we granted Mr. Healy an option to purchase 324,999 shares of our common stock in accordance
with his offer letter, at an exercise price of $11.40 per share. This option vests at arate of 25% of the shares subject to
the option on the first anniversary of the grant date, and with respect to approximately 2.1% of the shares each
month thereafter. :

In general, our stock option grants through January 2007 were made under our 1997 stock option plan. In
February 2007, we adopted a new equity incentive plan and a new employee stock purchase plan. The 2007 equity
incentive plan replaced our 1997 stock option plan and affords greater flexibility in making a wide variety of equity
awards, including stock options, shares of restricted stock and stock appreciation rights, to executive officers and
our other employees. We adopted our 2007 employee stock purchase plan to be effective in November 2007 and will
enable eligible employees to periodically purchase shares of our common stock at a discount. Participation in the
2007 employee stock purchase plan will be available to all executive officers on the same basis as our other
employees. See “Equity Incentive Plans™ for further descriptions of our 1997 stock option plan, 2007 equity
incentive plan and 2007 employee stock purchase plan. '

Other than the equity plans described above, we de not have any equity security ownership guidelines or
requirements for our executive officers.

Severance and change of control payments. Each of our named executive officers (as defined in the
Summary Compensation Table below) is entitled to receive acceleration of vesting of stock options in amounts
ranging from 12 months’ vesting to 100% of the then-unvested shares in the event such officer is terminated
following a change of control of ShoreTel. Mr. Combs earns his vesting acceleration so long as he does not
voluntarily terminate his employment with an acquiring company for six months following a change of control, and
Mr. Finegan receives his vesting acceleration automatically upon a change of control. We believe these change of
control arrangements, the value of which are contingent on the value obtained in a change of control transaction,
effectively create incentives for our executive team to build stockholder value and to obtain the highest value
possible should the company be acquired in the future, despite the risk of losing employment and potentially not
having the opportunity to otherwise vest in equity awards which comprise a significant component of each
executive’s compensation. These arrangements are intended to attract and retain qualified executives that could
have other job alternatives that may appear to them to be less risky absent these arrangements, particularly given the
significant level of acquisition activity in the technology sector. All of our change of control arrangements are
“double trigger,” meaning that acceleration of stock option vesting is not awarded upon a change of contro} unless
the executive option holder’s employment is terminated within a specified period of time following the transaction.
We believe this structure strikes a balance between the incentives and the executive hiring and retention effects
described above, without providing these benefits to executives who continue to enjoy employment with an
acquiring company in the event of a change of control transaction. We also believe this structure is more attractive to
potential acquiring companies, who may place significant value on retaining members of our executive team and
who may perceive this goal to be undermined if executives receive significant acceleration payments in connection
with such a transaction and are no longer required to continue employment to earn the remainder of their equity
awards.
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In addition, our chief executive officer is entitled to receive a severance payment equal to one year’s base salary
(payable over 12 months) and acceleration of stock option vesting by one year in the event his employment is
terminated involuntarily or he is constructively terminated. We agreed to this provision as part of the negotiation of
our chief executive officer’s compensation package when he joined us, and we believed it was necessary to agree to
such a provision in order to retain his services.

For a description and quantification of these severance and change of control benefits, please see “Employ-
ment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements.”

Other benefits. Executive officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, such as
medical, dental, vision, group life, disability, and accidental death and dismemberment insurance and our 401(k)
plan, in each case on the same basis as other employees, subject to applicable law. We also provide vacation and
other paid holidays to all employees, including our executive officers, which are comparable to those provided at
peer companies. In fiscal 2007, Messrs. Combs and Weisner received reimbursement for commuting expenses from
their permanent homes to the San Francisco Bay Area. Messrs. Combs and Weisner also received a housing
allowance. We agreed to pay these amounts to these executives as the Compensation Committee believed that it was
necessary to attract and retain these executives whe would not relocate to the San Francisco Bay Area on a full time
basis.

For a description of the compensation arrangements with our current Chief Financial Officer, Michae E. Healy,
please see “Employment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements.”

Executive compensation tables

The following table presents compensation information for our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 paid to or accrued
for our Chief Executive Officer, the individuals who served as our Chief Financial Officer during the fiscal year, and
each of our three other most highly compensated executive officers whose aggregate salary and bonus was more than
$100,000. We refer to these executive officers as our “named executive officers” elsewhere in this prospectus.

Summary Compensation

Non-Equit;
Fiscal Option lncg:tivgul;lin All Other

Name and Principal Position Year  Salary(1) Bonus  Awards(2) Compensation(3) Compensation Total
John W.Combs............ 2007 $325,720 — $ 27,725 $272,172 $39,870(4) $665,487

President and Chief .

Executive Officer 2006 287,500 —_ — 188,162 25,868(4) 501,530
Michael E. Healy(5) ........ 2007 35,038 $30,000 73,786 — — 138,824

Chief Financial Officer 2006 = — — — — —
John Finegan . . ............ 2007 203,000 — 754 104,000 — 307,754

Former Chief Financial

Officer(6) 2006 200,000 — —_— 55,000 — 255,000
PedoRump .............. 2007 230,000 — 103,250 130,000 — 463,250

Vice President, Engineering

and Operations 2006 104,855 _ — — — 104,855
Walter Weisner .. ,......... 2007 228,000 — 38,670 100,000 30,5014y 397,171

Vice President, Global

Support Services 2006 214,038 — —_— 80,000 39,211(4) 333,249
Joseph A. Vitalone. . ........ 2007 207,614 — 66,084 107.,400(7 — 381,098

Vice President, Sales 2006 155,000 — —_ 134,767(6) — 289,767

(1)} The amounts in this column include payments by us in respect of accrued vacation, holidays, and sick days, as
well as any salary contributed by the named executive officer to our 401(k) plan.

(2) Under the SFAS 123(R) modified prospective method, in fiscal year 2007 we estimated the grant date fair value
of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following assumptions —
Expected life: 4 or 6 years, Risk free interest rate: 4.6-4.8%, Volatility: 55%, and Dividend yield: 0. In fiscal
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year 2006, we complied with APB 25 for our stock-based compensation. See Footnote 1 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 10-K for further discussion of the assumptions used.

(3) Except as otherwise noted below, all non-equity incentive plan compensation were paid pursuant to the
ShoreTel Executive Bonus Incentive Plan for fiscal 2007. For a description of this plan, see “Compensation
discussion and analysis — Cash bonuses.”

{4) Represents travel expenses, living expenses and rent. See “Compensation discussion and analysis — Other
benefits.”

(5) Mr. Healy commenced employment in May 2007,

(6) Mr. Finegan ceased serving as our Chief Financial Officer in May 2007 and currently serves as our
Vice President of Finance.

(7) Also includes $53,400 in sales commissions.

We entered into an offer letter with our current Chief Financial Officer, Michael E. Healy, in May 2007. The
offer letter established Mr. Healy’s starting annual base salary at $250,000. In addition, Mr. Healy is eligible to
participate in our executive bonus plan as in effect from time to time, at a bonus target of 45% of his annual salary.
Mr. Healy also received a prepaid bonus of $30,000, which is forfeitable on a prorated basis should Mr. Healy
voluntarily terminate his employment with us or be terminated for cause within the first 12 months of his
employment. Pursuant to the offer letter, Mr. Healy was granted an option to purchase 324,999 shares of common
stock with an exercise price equal to $11.40 per share. The option vests as to 25% of the shares in May 2008, and
vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over the three years thereafter. For a description of the material terms of
offer letters for the named executive officers in the above table and Mr. Healy, please see the section entitled * —
Employment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements” below.

Our Board of Directors approved general increases of 3% to 5% to the annual base salaries of our employees,
including our named executive officers, effective February 1, 2007. In addition, on April 13, 2007, Mr. Vitalone’s
annual target bonus was raised from $100,000 to $140,000 effective for the second half of fiscal 2007. Additionally,
any bonus Mr. Vitalone received was earned through his participation under our bonus plan for the second half of
fiscal 2007, rather than from the achievement of individualized sales commission perforrﬁance goals. Also, in fiscal
2007, Messrs. Healy, Rump, Weisner and Vitalone were granted stock options. See “— Grants of Plan-Based
Awards During the 2007 Fiscal Year” below.

In addition, we allow our executives to use our ShoreTel phone systems in their homes at no cost, provided that
they return the equipment upon termination of employment.
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‘ Grants of Plan-Based Awards During the 2007 Fiscal Year

The following table provides information with regard to grants of plan-based awards to each named executive
officer during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007:

Estimated Future Payouts  nyppey of Exercise %‘;?: tVEl?l?
Under Non-Equity Secorities  Price of of Stock
Grant Incentive Plan Awards(l)  ypderfying Option Option
Name Date Target Maximum Awards(2) Awards(3) Awards(7)
JohnW. Combs . ............ —  $276,250 $414,375 — —
Michael E. Healy............ 5£21/2007 — — 3249994y 3$11.40 $2,118,051
— 112,500 168,750
John Finegan(8)............. — 69,525 69,525 — —_
PedoRump ......:........ 10/3/2006 — -— 60,000(5) 3.20 259,440
4/13/2007 —_— — 49,999(6) 11.30 322,989
Walter Weisner ............. 10/3/2006 — — 39,999(5) 3.20 172,960
— 102,600 153,900 — —
Joseph A. Vitalone. . ......... 10/3/2006 — —_ 50,000(5) 3.20 216,200
4/13/2007 39,999(6) 11.30 258,390

— 140,000 210,000 — —

(1) Represents bonuses payable pursuant to the ShoreTel Executive Bonus Incentive Plan for fiscal 2008. For a
description of this plan, see “Additional Employee Benefit Plans — Executive Bonus Plans.”

(2) Each stock option was granted pursuant to our 1997 Stock Option Plan or 2007 Stock Option Plan.

(3) Represents the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the grant date of the option, as determined
by our Board of Directors.

(4) A stock option that vests as to 25% of the shares in May 2008, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over
the next three years thereafter. '

(3} Animmediately exercisable stock option that vests as to 50% of the shares in October 2008, and vests as to 1/48
of the shares each month over the next two years thereafter; however, any unvested shares issued upon exercise
will be a subject to a right of repurchase by us upon termination of employment, which right lapses in
accordance with the vesting schedule described above.

(6) A stock option that vests as to 50% of the shares in April 2009, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month
| over the next two years thereafter.

' (7) Under the SFAS 123(R) modified prospective method, we estimated the grant date fair value of stock option
awards described in fooinotes 4-6 using the Black-Scholes option valvation model with the following
assumptions — Expected life: 4 or 6 years, Risk free interest rate: 4.6-4.8%, Volatility: 55%, and Dividend
yield: Q. See Footnote 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 10-K for further
discussion of the assumptions used.

(8) Represents expected bonus amount for the first half of fiscal 2008 only, pursuant an agreement with Mr. Finegan
described in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis — Cash Bonuses” above.

Each of these stock options expires 10 years from the date of grant. These stock options are also subject to
accelerated vesting upon involuntary termination or constructive termination following a change of control of -
ShoreTel, as discussed below in “— Employment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements.”
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Outstanding Equity Awards at June 30, 2007

The following table presents the outstanding option awards held as of June 30, 2007 by each named executive
officer:

Number of Securities

Underlyi

Unexe rc'ilse:. (Y)I:tgions( 1) lgcg::(;:e E!gli)lt‘xi;;?on

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price(2) Date
John W. Combs(3) . ..., .. — — — —
Michael E. Healy(4) . ... ... oo — 324,999 $11.40 572112017
John Finegan . ........... ... ... ... . ... 59,813(5) — .10 5/7/2013
4.792(6) — 0.30 31212014
6,000(7) — 040  3/14/2015
PedrocRump......... ...t iiennenn. 240,500(8) — 0.80 1/12/2016
60,000(9) — 3.20  10/3/2016
_ 49.999(10) 11.30  4/13/2017
Walter Weisner. . .......coiiiininnnnnn. 117,500(11) — 0.40 9/8/2015
39,999(12) — 3.20  10/3/2016
Joseph A. Vitalone . .. ...... ... . oL, 132,750(13) — 040  10/3/2015
50,000(14) — 320  10/3/2016

— 39,999(15) 11,30  4/13/2017

(1) Each stock option was granted pursuant to our 1997 Stock Option Plan or 2007 Stock Plan. The vesting and
exercisability of each stock option is described in the footnotes below for each option. Each of these stock
options expires 10 years from the date of grant. These stock options are also subject to accelerated vesting
upon involuntary termination or constructive termination following a change of control of ShoreTel, as
discussed below in “Employment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements.”

(2) Represents the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the option’s grant date, as determined by
our Board of Directors.

(3) Mr. Combs early-exercised in full a stock option to purchase 2,081,799 shares during fiscal 2005 and 2006.
This option/shares vested as to 12.5% of the shares in January 2005, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each
month thereafter. As of June 30, 2007, 1,517,963 shares were vested, and 563,816 shares were unvested.

(4) Represents shares subject to an outstanding stock bption. The option vests as to 25% of the shares in May
2008, and 1/48 of the shares each month thereafter.

(5) Represents shares remaining subject to an immediately exercisable stock option. Mr. Finegan has early-
exercised the remaining 201,187 shares subject to this option. The option/shares vested as to 25% of the shares
in March 2004, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month thereafter.

(6) Represents shares remaining subject to an outstanding stock option. Mr. Finegan has exercised 5,208 shares
subject to this option. The option vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over four years from the date of
grant. -

(7) Represents shares remaining subject to an outstanding stock option. Mr. Finegan has exercised 2,000 shares
subject to this option. The option vested as to 25% of the shares in March 2006, and vests as to 1/48 of the
shares each month over three years thereafter.

(8) Represents shares remaining subject to an immediately exercisable stock option to purchase 265,500 shares
that was partially exercised. Mr. Rump has early-exercised 25,000 shares subject to this option. The
option/shares vested as to 25% of the shares in January 2007, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month
over three years thereafter.

(9) Represents shares subject to an immediately exercisable outstanding stock option. The option vests as to 50%
of the shares in October 2008, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over two years thereafter.

(10) Represents shares subject to an outstanding stock option . The option vests as to 50% of the shares in April
2009, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over two years thereafier.
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(11) Represents shares remaining subject to an immediately exercisable stock option to purchase 180,000 shares
that was partially exercised. Mr. Weisner has exercised 62,500 shares subject to this option, 42,500 of which
were exercised in fiscal 2007, as indicated in the table below.. The option/shares vested as to 25% of the shares
in July 2006, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over three years thereafter.

(12) Represents shares subject to an immediately exercisable outstanding stock option, The option vests as to 50%
of the shares in October 2008, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over two years thereafter.

(13) Represents shares remaining subject to an immediately exercisable stock option to purchase 265,500 shares
that was partially exercised. Mr. Vitalone has early-exercised 132,750 shares subject to this option,. The
option/shares vested as to 25% of the shares in October 2006, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month
over three years thereafter.

{14) Represents shares subject to an outstanding immediately exercisable stock option. The option vests as to 50%
of the shares in October 2008, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over two years thereafter.

{15) Represents shares subject to an outstanding stock option. The option vests as to 50% of the shares in April
2009, and vests as to 1/48 of the shares each month over two years thereafter.

Option Exercises During the 2007 Fiscal Year

The foitowing table shows the number of shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of options by each named
executive officer during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and the aggregate dollar amount realized by the named
executive officer upon exercise of the option:

Number of Shares Value Realized
Name Acquired on Exercise on Exercise(l)
John W. Combs .. ... ... .. ... ... .. ... ... .. — -
Michael E. Healy .. ... ... o i — —
JohnFinegan ........ ... .. . . i i — —
Pedro Rump ... ... ... ... .. — —
Walter Weisner(2). .. ... ... ... i e 42,500 $395,250

Joseph A Vitalone .. . ... .. ... . — —

(1) The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the exercise of an option represents the difference between the
aggregate market price of the shares of our common stock underlying that option on the date of exercise
{assumed to be the initial public offering price of $9.50 per share) and the aggregate exercise price of the option.

(2) Represents the exercise of an immediately exercisable siock option, as described in footnote (11) to the
“Quistanding Option Awards at June 30, 2007" table above. All of these shares became vested during fiscat year
2007.

Employment, Severance and Change of Control Arrangements

John W. Combs, our president and chief executive officer, executed an offer tetter in July 2004, The offer letter
provides for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter established his starting annual base
salary at $275,000, subject to annuat review by the Compensation Committee of the Board and further subject to an
increase to $325,000 following two consecutive quarters of cash flow positive operations. His annual base salary
was increased to $325,000 in April 2006 as a result of this milestone having been satisfied. In addition, the offer
letter entitles Mr. Combs to an incentive bonus, as determined by the board, of up to 85% of his then-current base
salary. Pursuant to the offer letter, Mr, Combs received a stock option grant of 2,081,779 shares of common stock
with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. In the event his
employment is terminated by us without cause, or Mr, Combs resigns for good reason, as such terms are defined in
the offer letter, Mr. Combs will be entitled to receive monthly continuation of his then-current base salary for a
peried of 12 months and acceleration of his unvested stock options in an amount equal to the number of shares that
would have vested had his employment continued for-an additional 12 months. If his employment is terminated
without cause within six months of a change of control, as such terms are defined in the offer letter, Mr. Combs will
receive accelerated vesting of 100% of any then unvested shares, options and other equity he holds at the time.
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In addition, we entered into a change of control agreement with Mr. Combs effective as of August 5, 2004. This
agreement augments the terms provided for by his offer letter. The agreement provides that, in the event of a change
of control of ShoreTel, so long as Mr. Combs either remains employed with the company or its successor for six
months following the change of control, or if Mr. Combs is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason
during the six months following such change of control, then Mr, Combs will receive accelerated vesting of 100% of
his initial stock option grant.

Michael E. Healy, our Chief Financial Officer, executed an offer letter in May 2007. The offer letter provides
for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter established Mr. Healy’s starting annual base
salary at $250,000. In addition, Mr. Healy is eligible to participate in our executive bonus plan as in effect from time
to time, at a bonus target of 45% of his annual salary. Mr. Healy also received a prepaid bonus of $30,000, which is
forfeitable on a prorated basis should Mr, Healy voluntarily terminate his employment with us or be terminated for
cause within the first 12 months of his employment. Pursuant to the offer letter, Mr. Healy was granted an option to
purchase 324,999 shares of common stock with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our commen stock
on the date of grant. In the event Mr. Healy’s employment is involuntarily terminated without cause or construc-
tively terminated, in either case within 12 months following a change of control, as such terms are defined in the
offer letter, Mr. Healy will receive a lump-sum payment equal to 12 months of his then-current salary plus his then-
current targeted annual bonus, reimbursement of premiums paid for continued medical, dental and vision plan
coverage of him and any of his eligible dependents through COBRA for up to 12 months at our expense, and
accelerated vesting of 75% of any then-unvested options or shares he holds at the time. Mr. Healy’s offer letter also
provides that if we terminate him within 24 months of the commencement of his employment, for any reason other
than cause, as such term is defined in the offer letter, he will receive a severance package that includes six months of
his then-current salary, our payment of six months of premiums for continued medical, dental and vision plan
coverage of him and any of his eligible dependents through COBRA, payment of a prorated bonus and equity
vesting prorated for his term of employment with us plus an additional six months of vesting.

John Finegan, our former chief financial officer, executed an offer letter in March 2003. The offer letter
provides for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter established Mr. Finegan's starting
annuat base salary at $200,000. In addition, Mr. Finegan is eligible for an annual incentive bonus. Pursuant to the
offer letter, Mr. Finegan received a stock option grant of 261,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. In the event Mr. Finegan’s employment is
involuntarily terminated without cause or constructively terminated, in either case within 12 months following a
change of control, as such terms are defined in the offer letter, Mr. Finegan will receive accelerated vesting of 100%
of his initial stock option grant.

In addition, we entered into a change of control agreement with Mr. Finegan effective as of May 7, 2003. This
agreement augments the terms provided for by Mr. Finegan’s offer letter. The agreement provides that, in the event
of a change of control of ShoreTel, Mr. Finegan’s stock option to purchase 261,000 shares will immediately become
exercisable as to that number of shares that woutd have vested if Mr. Finegan had remained continuously employed
by ShoreTel for a period of 12 months following the change of control. In addition, if this benefit would result in
excise tax as a “parachute payment,” Mr. Finegan would be entitled to receive either his vesting acceleration benefit,
or such portion of his vesting acceleration benefit as would result in no excise tax, depending on which wouid result
in a greater net benefit.

In February 2007, we entered into a retention arrangement with Mr. Finegan that provides for a bonus payout at
the 150% level under the bonus plan for the second half of fiscal 2007 so long as he either remains employed with
the company during that period or if his employment is terminated prior to the end of that period. This retention
arrangement will remain in place for the first half of fiscal 2008 if Mr. Finegan remains with the company through
that period.

Pedro Rump, our vice president of engineering and operations, executed an offer letter in December 2005. The
offer letter provides for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter established Mr. Rump’s
starting annual base salary at $225,000. In addition, Mr. Rump is eligible for an annual incentive bonus. In
connection with his joining our company in December 2005, Mr. Rump received a stock option grant of
265,500 shares of common stock with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock
on the date of such grant. In the évent Mr. Rump’s employment is involuntarily terminated without cause or
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constructively terminated, in either case within 12 months following a change of control, as such terms are defined
in the offer letter, Mr. Rump will receive accelerated vesting of 50% of any then unvested shares, options and other
equity he holds at the time.

Walter Weisner, our vice president of global support services, executed an offer letter in April 2005 with a start
date in July 2005. The offer letter provides for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter
established Mr. Weisner’s starting annual base salary at $225,000. In addition, Mr. Weisner is eligible for an annual
incentive bonus. In connection with his joining our company in April 2005, Mr. Weisner received a stock option
grant of 180,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock
on the date of such grant. In the event Mr. Weisner’s employment is involuntarily terminated without cause or
constructively terminated, in either case within 12 months following a change of control, as such terms are defined
in the offer letter, Mr. Weisner will receive accelerated vesting of 50% of any then unvested shares, options and other
equity he holds at the time.

Joseph A. Vitalone, our vice president of sales, executed an offer letter in September 2005 with a start date in
October 2005. The offer letter provides for at-will employment without any specific term. The offer letter
established Mr. Vitalone’s starting annual base salary at $200,000. In addition, Mr. Vitalone is eligible for an annual
incentive bonus and participates in the executive management bonus program. Pursuant to the offer letter,
Mr. Vitalone received a stock option grant of 265,500 shares of common stock with an exercise price equal to
the fair market value of our common stock on the date of such grant. In the event Mr. Vitalone's employment is
involuntarily terminated without cause or constructively terminated, in either case within 12 months following a
change of control, as such terms are defined in the offer letter, Mr. Vitalone will receive accelerated vesting of 50%
of any then unvested shares, options and other equity he holds at the time.

The following table summarizes the value of benefits payable to each named executive officer pursuant to the
arrangements described above:

Potential Payments on Termination or Change of Control

Termination Change of Control

) Acceleration of Acceleration of
Name Salary Equity Vesting(1) Salary Equity Vesting(1)
John W.Combs. . .. ......... .. ... .. ..., $325.00002) $4,788,089(3) -_— $5,187,107(4)
Michael E.Healy .. .............. ... ...... 188.996(5) —{(6) 377.992(7) —(8)
John Finegan ......... ... ... ... ... ... ..., — — — 35,825(3)
PedoRump ........... .. ... . ... ... — — — 1,298,926(9)
Walter Weisner . .. ... ........... e — — — 1,031,997(9)
Joseph A  Vitalone ........................ — — — 1,329,526(9)

{1) Calculated based on the termination or change of control taking place as of June 30, 2007, the last day of our
most recent fiscal year, because our stock was not publicly traded on that date, we used the initial public
offering price of $9.50 per share.

(2) Reflects continued base salary for 12 months following termination.
(3) Reflects accelerated vesting as if the officer had continued to be employed for an additional 12 months.
(4) Reflects acceleration of vesting as to 100% of the shares.

(5) Reflects continued base salary, prorated target bonus, and medical, dental and vision plan coverage for him and
his eligible dependents through COBRA for 6 months following termination.

(6) Entitled to accelerated vesting as if the officer had continued to be employed for an additional 6 months. At
June 30, 2007, the price of the options exceeded the stock price, so no value is assigned.

(7) Reflects continued base salary, prorated target bonus, and medical, dental and vision plan coverage for him and
his eligible dependents through COBRA for 12 months following a change of control.

(8) Entitled to accelerated vesting as to 75% of the shares. At June 30, 2007, the price of the options exceeded the
stock price, so no value is assigned.

(9) Reflects acceleration of vesting as to 50% of the shares.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

This report of the Compensation Committee is required by the Securities and Exchange Commission and, in
accordance with the Commission’s rules, will not be deemed to be part of or incorporated by reference by any
general statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that ShoreTel
specifically incorporates this information by reference, and will not otherwise be deemed “soliciting material” or
“filed” under either the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and
Anatysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and based on such review and discussions,
the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be
included in this Proxy Statement.

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
Gary J. Daichendt, Chair

Kenneth D. Denman
Thomas van Overbeek
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table provides information for our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 regarding all plan and non-
plan compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to each person who served as a non-employee director for some
portion or all of fiscal 2007. Other than as set forth in the table and the narrative that follows it, to date we have not
paid any fees to or reimbursed any expenses of our directors, made any equity or non-equity awards to directors, or
paid any other compensation to directors.

Fees Earned Non-Equity
- or Paid Option Incentive Plan All Other
Name in Cash Awards(5) Compensation Compensation Total
Mark F. Bregman(1). .. .............. — $ 8,822(6) — .- $ 8,822
Gary J. Daichendt(2} ................ — 17,270(7) — — 17,270
Kenngth D. Denman(1). . ............. — 8,822(8) — — 8,822
Charles D. Kissner . ................. — 8,939(9) — — 8,939
Thomas van Overbeek ............... — 889(10) — — 889
Edward F. Thompson . ............... — 7.176(11) — — 7,176

Kathryn Gould(3) . .. .............. .. — — — —_ —
Seth Neiman(4) ............ ... ..... — _ — — —
Brian Paul(4) ...................... — - — — -

(1) Appointed to the Board of Directors in May 2007.

(2) Appointed to the Board of Directors in April 2007.

(3) Resigned from the Board of Directors in December 2006.

(4) Resigned from the Board of Directors in May 2007.

(5) Under the SFAS 123(R) modified prospective method, we estirated the fair value of stock option awards

described in footnotes 6-11 using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following assump- -

tions — Expected life: 4 or 6 years, Risk free interest rate: 4.6-4.8%, Volatility: 55%, and Dividend yield: 0.
See Footnote 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company's 10-K for further
discussion of the assumptions used.

(6) During fiscal 2007, Mr. Bregman was granted a stock option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock,
with an exercise price of $11.40 per share, which shares vest as to 25% of the shares in May 2008 and as to 1/48
of the shares each month over three vears thereafter. The grant date fair value was $325,855.

(7) During fiscal 2007, Mr. Daichendt was granted a stock option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock,
with an exercise price of $11.30 per share, which shares vest as to 25% of the shares in April 2008 and as to
1/48 of the shares each month over three years thereafter. The grant date fair value was $322,995.

(8) During fiscal 2007, Mr. Denman was granted a stock option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock,
with an exercise price of $11.40 per share, which shares vest as to 25% of the shares in May 2008 and as to 1/48
of the shares each month over three years thereafter. The grant date fair value was $325,855.

(9)  As of June 30, 2007, Mr. Kissner held an immediately exercisable stock option to purchase 50,000 shares of
our common stock, with an exercise price of $1.00 per share, that was granted during fiscal 2006, which option
vests as to 25% of the shares in April 2007 and as to 1/48 of the shares each month over three years thereafter.
The grant date fair value was $35,750.

(10) As of June 30, 2007, Mr. van Overbeek held a stock option to purchase 15,625 shares of our common stock,
with an exercise price of $0.30 per share, which shares vest 1/48 each month through March 2008. The grant
date fair value was $0.

{11) As of June 30, 2007, Mr. Thompson held 50,000 shares of our common stock issued upon early exercise of a
stock option, with an exercise price of $0.80 per share, that was granted during fiscal 2006, which shares vest
as t0 25% of the shares in January 2007 and as to 1/48 of the shares each month over three years thereafter. The
grant date fair value was $28,600.

We compensate independent directors with a combination of cash and equity.
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Cash Compensation. We did not pay cash compensation to our directors prior to our initial public offering in
July 2007. Currently, each independent director receives an annual retainer of $35,000. In addition, each
independent director who is not a committee chair receives an annual retainer for each standing commitiee of
our Board of Directors on which he serves equal to $3,000, or $5,000 in the case of Audit Committee service. Qur
lead independent director will receive an additional annual retainer of $10,000 per year for his service in that
capacity, and each chair of a standing committee of our Board of Directors will receive an annual retainer of $5,000,
or $10,000 in the case of the Audit Committee chair, for his service in that capacity.

In general, we do not pay fees to independent directors for attendance at meetings of our Board of Directors
and its committees. In extraordinary and limited circumstances, we may pay a fee of $500 for each telephonic
meeting and $1,000 for each in-person meeting so long as two-thirds of the directors in attendance and not
abstaining approve the payment thereof, assuming a quorum is present at the meeting.

In addition, we allow our Board members to use our ShoreTel phone systems in their homes at no cost,
provided that they return the equipment upon termination of service to the company.

Option Grants.  Each independent director who becomes a member of our Board of Directors will be granted
an initial option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock upon appointment or election to our Board of
Directors. An additional option to purchase shares of common stock will be granted to each independent director on
the fourth anniversary of the date on which he commenced serving on our Board of Directors or the date of this
prospectus, whichever is later, and on each anniversary thereafter, provided he has served continuously as a member
of our Board of Directors through the four-year or one-year period, as'the case may be. Although we expect to grant
options to purchase 5,200 shares in connection with the first four-year anniversary option grant, this number may
change in the future based on market conditions and compensatory standards in our industry at the time of grant.
Each option granted to an independent director will have a ten-year term and terminate three months following the
date the director ceases to be one of our directors, or 12 months afterwards if termination is due to death or disability.
Each initial option grant vests and becomes exercisable as to 1/48th of the shares each month after the grant date
over four years. Each four-year anniversary option grant and subsequent annual grant vests as to 1/1 2" of the shares
each month after the grant date over one year. The vesting of stock options granted to our independent directors will
accelerate in full in connection with a change of control of ShoreTel. In addition, independent directors are eligible
to receive discretionary awards under the 2007 equity incentive plan. In connection with Mr. Daichendt’s
appointment as a member of our Board of Directors in April 2007 and Dr. Bregman’s and Mr. Denman’s
appointment as members of our Board of Directors in May 2007, we granted each of them an option to purchase
50,000 shares of our common stock, with an exercise price equal to $11.30 per share for Mr. Daichendt’s grant and
$11.40 per share for Dr. Bregman’s and Mr. Denman’s grants, which shares vest and become exercisable as to
1/48"™ of the shares each month after the grant date over four years.

Thomas van Overbeek served as our Chief Executive Officer from February 2002 until he retired in July 2004.
He has continued 1o serve on our Board of Directors since that time. Mr. van Overbeek received salary, bonuses and
stock options in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer. In July 2004, we entered into a separation agreement with
Mr. van Overbeek that provides for the continued vesting of his outstanding stock options and other equity so long
as he continues to serve on our Board of Directors, While Mr. van Overbeek was employed as our Chief Executive
Officer, he was granted stock options to purchase a total of 1,359,629 shares of our common stock under our 1997
stock option plan, with a weighted average exercise price of $0.40 per share, of which options to purchase
1,344,004 shares are currently outstanding and options to purchase 5,208 shares are exercisable. In addition, the
separation agreement provides that we will use commercially reasonable efforis to continue his health coverage as
an active employee under our group health plan so long as Mr. van Overbeek continues to serve on the Board of
Directors, and if we are unable to do so, that we will reimburse COBRA premiums for Mr. van Overbeek and his
spouse.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

From January 1, 2006 to the present, there have been no (and there are no currently proposed) transacticns in
which ShoreTel was (or is to be) a participant and the amount involved exceeded $120,000 and in which any
executive officer, director, 5% benefictal owner of our common stock or member of the immediate family of any of
the foregoing persons had (or will have) a direct or indirect matertal interest, except the compensation arrangements
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described above for our named executive officers and directors and compensation arrangements with our other
executive officers not required to be disclosed in this section by the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

ShoreTel has adopted and maintains a code of conduct and ethics that applies to all directors, executive officers
and employees. The code covers matters that we believe are supportive of high standards of ethical business
conduct, including those regarding legal compliance, conflicts of interest, insider trading, corporate opportunities,
competition and fair dealing, maintenance of corporate books and records, gifts and entertainment, political
contributions, international business laws, confidentiality, protection of company assets, public communications,
special obligations applicable to our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers, and standards and
procedures for compliance with the code. The code can be found under the heading “‘Corporate Governance” in the
investor relations section of our website at www.shoretel.com.

The code does not distinguish between potential conflict of interest transactions involving directors or
executive officers and those involving other employees. It notes that all covered persons are expected to avoid
conflicts of interest. The code provides some examples of activities that could involve conflicts of interest, including
aiding our competitors, involvement with any business that does business with us or secks to do so, owning a
significant financial interest in a competitor or a business that does business with us or seeks to do so, soliciting or
accepting payments or other preferential treatment from any person that does business with us or seeks to do so,
taking personal advantage of corporate opportunities and transacting company business with a family member.

The code defines a “related party transaction” to mean any transaction that is required to be disclosed in this
section by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The compliance officer under the
code will conduct a review of all related party transactions for potential conflict of interest situations. Further, all
related party transactions must be approved or ratified by our Audit Committee or another independent body of the
Board. The code does not expressly set forth the standards that would be applied in reviewing, approving or
ratifying transactions in which our directors, executive officers or 5% stockholders have a material interest. We
expect that in connection with the review, approval or ratification of any such transaction, our compliance officer
and Audit Committee or independent body of the Board will be provided with all material information then
available regarding the transaction, the nature and extent of the director’s, executive officer’s or 5% stockholder’s
interest in the transaction, and the terms upon which the products, services or other subject matter of the transaction
could be provided by alternative sources. We expect that any such transaction would be approved or ratified only if
our Audit Committee or independent body of the Board conciuded in good faith that it was in our interest to proceed
wilh it. We expect that that pre-approval will be sought for any such transaction when practicable, and when.pre-
approval is not obtained, for any such transaction to be submitted for ratification as promptly as practicable.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

This report of the Audit Committee is required by the Securities and Exchange Commission and, in accordance
with the Commission’s rules, will not be deemed to be part of or incorporated by reference by any general statement
incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that ShoreTel specifically incorporates
this information by reference, and will not otherwise be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” under either the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Management is responsible for ShoreTel’s internal controls and the financial reporting process. Our inde-
pendent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an independent audit of ShoreTel's
consolidated financial statements, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and to issue a report thereon.
The Audit Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes. In this context, during fiscal year
2007, the Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management and Deloitte & Touche LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm. Management has represented to the Audit Committee that
ShoreTel’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements with
management and Deloitte & Touche LLP. The Audit Committee has discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP the
matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit
Committees).

Deloitte & Touche LLP has also provided to the Audit Committee the written disclosures and the letter
required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees),
and the Audit Committee has discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP that independent registered public accounting
firm’s independence.

Based upon the Audit Committee’s discussions with management and Deloitte & Touche LLP and the Audit
Cominittee’s review of the representations of management and the report of Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee recommended that the Board include the audited consolidated financial
statements in ShoreTel’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2007 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Edward F. Thompson (Chair)

Kenneth D. Denman
Charles D. Kissner
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SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE
Not applicable.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Stockholder proposals for inclusion in ShoreTel’s Proxy Statement and form of proxy relating to ShoreTel’s
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2008 must be received by the Secretary of ShoreTel at its principal
executive offices no later than June 24, 2008. Stockholders wishing to bring a proposal before the annual meeting to
be held in 2008 (but not include it in ShoreTel’s proxy materials) must provide written notice of such proposal to the
Secretary of ShoreTel at the principal executive offices of ShoreTel between August 3, 2008 and September 2, 2008.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL STOCKHOLDER MEETINGS

ShoreTel invites its Board members to attend its annual stockholder meetings, but does not require attendance.

SECURITYHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS

Any securityholder of ShoreTel wishing to communicate with the Board may write to the Board at Board of
Directors, c/o ShoreTel, 960 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale, California 94085. An employee of ShoreTel, under the
supervision of the Chairman of the Board, will forward these emails and letters directly to the Board. Secur-
ityholders may indicate in their email messages and letters if their communication is intended to be provided to
certain director(s) only.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

ShoreTel has adopted a code of conduct and ethics that applies to ShoreTel’s directors, executive officers and
employees, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The code of conduct and ethics is
available under the heading “Corporate Governance” in the investor relations section of ShoreTel's website at
www.shoretel.com. ’

OTHER BUSINESS

The Board does not presently intend to bring any other business before the Annual Meeting, and, so far as is
known to the Board, no matters are to be brought before the Annual Meeting except as specified in the Notice of the
Annual Meeting. As to any business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting, however, it is intended that
proxies, in the form enclosed, will be voted in respect thereof in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting
such proxies.

Whether or not you expect to attend the meeting, please complete, date, sign and promptly return the
accompanying proxy in the enclosed postage paid envelope so that your shares may be represented at the meeting.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the year' ended June 30, 2007
or

g TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

SHORETEL, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 3661 77-0443568
{State or other jurisdiction of {Primary standard (LR.S. employer
incorporation or erganization) industrial code number) identification no.)

960 Stewart Drive
Sunnyvale, CA 94085-3913
(408) 331-3300
{Address, including zip code, and relephone number. including area code, of Registrant’s principal executive offices)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act, Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part 11I of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated
" filer. See definition of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one):
Large accelerated filer [ Accelerated Filer [ Non-accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes O No i

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of September 13, 2007 was
approximately $189,933 588 based on the number of shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of September 13,
2007 and based on the reported last sale price of common stock on September 13, 2007. This calculation does not reflect a
determination that persons are affiliates for any other purposes, Shares of stock held by ten percent stockholders have been
excluded from this calculation as they may be deemed affiliates.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of September 13, 2007 was 42,582,714.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting.of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) to be held on
November 16, 2007, and to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after registrant’s fiscal year ended June 30,
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TRADEMARKS

The ShoreTel logo, ShoreTel, ShoreCare, ShoreGear, ShoreWare and ControlPoint are registered trademarks
of ShoreTel, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries. ShorePhone is a trademark of ShoreTel, Inc. in the
United States and/or other countries. All other trademarks, tradenames and service marks herein are the property of
their respective owners.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Internet address is www.shoretel.com. On our Internet website, we make publicly available free of charge
our annual repost on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

In addition, the public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Fublic
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov.

The charters of our Audit Committee, our Compensation Committee and our Governance and Nominating
Committee, as well as our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, are available on the Investor Relations section of
our website under “Corporate Governance.” This information is also available by writing to us at the address on the
cover of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




This report contains "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Forward-looking statements relate to expeciations
concerning matters that are not historical facts. Words such as “projects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“expects,” “intends” and similar words and expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. While
we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot assure you
that those expectations will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expectations are disclosed in this report, including, without limitation, in the “Risk Factors”
described in Part I, Item 1A. All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirery by these factors
and all related cautionary statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking

statements.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading provider of Internet Protocol, or IF, telecommunications systems for enterprises. Our systems
are based on our distributed software architecture and switch-based hardware platform which enable multi-site
enterprises to be served by a single telecommunications system. Our systems enable a single point of management,
easy installation and a high degree of scalability and reliability, and provide end users with a consistent, full suite of
features across the enterprise, regardless of location. As a result, we believe our systems enable enhanced end user
productivity and provide lower total cost of ownership and higher customer satisfaction than alternative systems.

Qur solution is comprised of ShoreGear switches, ShorePhone IP telephones and ShoreWare software
applications. We provide our systems to enterprises across all industries, including to small, medium and large
companies and public institutions. Qur enterprise customers include multi-site Fortune 500 companies. As of
June 30, 2007, we had sold our IP telecommunications systems to more than 5,000 enterprise customers, including
CNET Networks, Robert Half International, SEGA,Wedbush Morgan Securities, and the City of Oakland,
California. We sell our systems through our extensive network of 470 channel partners.

We have achieved broad industry recognition for our technology and high customer satisfaction. Our enterprise
IP telecommunications systems received PC Magazine's Best of the Year 2005 Editors’ Choice designation. For the
last four years, IT executives surveyed by Nemertes Research, an independent research firm, have rated ShoreTel
highest in customer satisfaction among leading enterprise telecommunications systems providers.

We increased our total revenue over the last three fiscal years, from $35.5 million in fiscal 2005 to $97.8 million
in fiscal 2007, and we generated net income available to sharchalders of $6.0 million in fiscal 2007. As of June 30,
2007, we had an accumulated deficit of $84.8 million and total shareholders’ deficit of $31.8 million.

We were originally incorporated in California in September 1996, and reincorporated into Delaware in June
2007.

Products

We provide a switch-based IP telecommunications system for enterprises. Qur systems are based on our
distributed software architecture and switch-based hardware platform that enable a single telecommunications
system to serve multi-site enterprises. This architecture provides high network reliability and allows for a single
point of management and administration of a system across all sites of a multi-site enterprise. System administrators
can make changes anywhere throughout the system through a web browser interface that presents a user-friendly
view of the system’s configuration. Our architecture also provides end users with a consistent and full set of features
across an enterprise, regardless of location.

We introduced our first suite of products in 1998 and have continued to add features and functionality
throughout our history. Our bundled solution is comprised of ShoreGear switches, ShorePhone IP phones and
ShoreWare software applications. As new software versions of our solution have been released, existing enterprise
customers have been able to upgrade their switches, phones and applications, allowing them to preserve their
ShoreTel investment.

ShoreGear switches. QOur switches provide call management functionality, and each switch in the system is
capable of independently establishing and terminating calls without relying on a centralized call control server. As a
result, enterprise telecommunications can survive a variety of LAN, WAN and hardware failures. The high reliability
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of our switches is enhanced by two key design features: the use of flash memory in lieu of disk drives and running an
embedded operating system optimized for real-time processing, such as call management. Unlike disk drives, flash
memory does not rely on mechanical movement, and therefore is less likely to break down and cause our systems to
fail. Furthermore, our embedded operating system enables a higher performing and more reliable software platform
relative to server-centric IP systems because it is optimized for real-time processing. The reliability of each site within
the system can be further improved by adding a single additional switch to that site to create “n+!” redundancy, rather
than requiring a dedicated back-up switch for each primary switch to improve reliability as needed by alternative
systems. In addition, our switches connect to the public telephone network via one of several interfaces, including T1
and E1 interfaces for high-density connectivity to the public telephone network. We offer nine switches of varying
sizes to meet the needs of enterprises of all sizes. The modular nature of our switches allows our enterprise customers
to easily expand their system capacity by deploying additional switches across their network.

ShorePhone IP phones.  We offer a range of innovative, high performance phones to meet the needs of the different
types of end users across the enterprise. Our phones are designed to provide a superior combination of ergonomics, sound
quality and appearance. We offer five phones that vary by size, display features and line capacity. ShorePhone IP phones are
designed to function without any configuration, simplifying installation. Our systems also support Wi-Fi phones for mobile
workers. Our range of IP phones include the following models, which are offered in silver and black:
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ShoreWare software applications.  Qur ShoreWare software features a number of applications that facilitate
the end user experience and enterprise system management. In addition, we offer additional business applications
that integrate with core business processes to provide improved functionality and enhanced end user productivity.
An industry standard server is used to support these applications, as opposed to the call management functions of
our systems, which run entirely on ShoreGear switches. Qur ShoreWare software consists of our proprietary
software as well as third-party applications and includes:

* ShoreWare desktop applications.  ShoreWare desktop applications for end users include the following primary
offerings: Personal Cal! Manager, Unified Messaging, Office Anywhere, Automated Attendant and a softphone.

*+ Personal Call Manager. Personal Call Manager is an application that allows end users to manage their
voice communications from their desktops. With the click of a mouse, end users can initiate, manage,
terminate, and receive calls, convene and manage conference calls, and see the availability of others on the
network. This functionality is enhanced by the integration of our Personal Call Manager application with
Microsoft Outlook, which allows the end user to initiate calls from a contact list.

* Unified Messaging. Unified Messaging integrates our voicemail application with Microsoft Outlook.
This enables end users to receive, send, be notified of and play voice mail messages through their
Microsoft Qutlook email.
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* Office Anywhere. Office Anywhere enables end users outside the office to manage calls with Personal
Call Manager and to enjoy the same call handling productivity benefits as their office-based colleagues.
Communications directed to the end user’s office phone are forwarded to the end user’s location, and the
end user’s outbound calls appear to the called party as if they originated in the end user’s office. Using
Office Anywhere, end users have the same call management and unified messaging features and
functionality at remote locations as they have in their offices.

* Softphone.  ShoreTel’s softphone application allows an end user to turn a PC into an IP phone by simply
connecting a headset to the PC and activating the application.

* Automated Attendant. Automated Attendant provides end users with a 24-hour automated call answering
and routing capability that enables the enterprise to direct callers to appropriate individuals, workgroups or
messages.

* Workgroup. Workgroup is an entry-level contact center application that provides real-time handling of
incoming calls to enterprises, with call routing, queuing and reporting tools.

* ShoreWare system management. QOur browser-based system management applications consist of Shore-
Ware Director and ShoreWare Systern Monitor,

*» ShoreWare Director. ShoreWare Director provides enterprises with a single point of system manage-
ment, enabling IT administrators to view and manage the entire telecommunications system of the
enterprise from any location using a single application. A new end user’s extension, mailbox and
automated attendant profile can be added from a single management screen, avoiding the additional work
required with most PBXs, voice mail systems and automated attendants.

*» ShoreWare System Monitor. ShoreWare System Monitor is an IP voice management tool that is designed
to continuously measure the performance of every link in the network, enabling an enterprise to identify
and address voice quality issues.

* Additional business applications. 'We offer other business applications, such as ShoreTel Contact Center, .
ShoreTel Converged Conferencing and salesforce.com integration. ShoreTel Contact Center allows enter-
prises to efficiently manage significant inbound or outbound call activities. ShoreTel Converged Confer-
encing enables enterprises to conduct large audio conferences and provides collaboration tools for
application sharing, desktop sharing, instant messaging and end user availability information. Our sales-
force.com integration application is designed to improve the productivity of end users that use sales-
force.com by seamlessly integrating voice communications capabilities into their data driven workflow.

ShoreTel Global Services

We complement our product offerings with a broad range of services that help us maintain and expand our
relationships with enterprise customers and channel partners and, in the case of post-contractual support, provide us
with recurring revenue. Typically, our channel partners provide many of these services, although we provide back
up and escalation support as needed, or if requested by the enterprise customer, we provide these services directly.

The ShoreTel Global Services include post-contractual support, training, system design and installation, and
professional services.

* Post-contractual support services include web-based access support services and tools, access to technical
_ support engineers, hardware replacement and software updates. These services are typically offered under
support contracts with terms of up to five years.

* Training services include certification programs for channel partners, training programs at enterprise
customer or channel partner locations and self-paced, desktop training programs.

= System design and installation services include the assessment of the telecommunications requirements of a
particular enterprise, the configuration of a system to maximize its efficiency, the management of the
installation, and the subsequent testing and implementation of our systems.

= Professional services include software development to improve system performance, enable integration of
our systems with third party applications or legacy systems, streamline business processes and address
enterprise customer-specific business opportunities.
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Technology

Our systems are based on a combination of our proprietary software, industry-standard interfaces and
protocols, and customized and off-the-shelf hardware components. We have developed proprietary technologies
that are critical to the operation of the servers and ShoreGear switches within our systems and provide our sysiems
with the properties that distinguish them from alternative IP systems.

The key elements of our distributed software architecture are:

* software that enables calling between switches and allows calls to be distributed among switches instead of
using a single centralized switch;

+ software that enables ShoreGear switches to obtain call routing information;

= software that moniters the bandwidth consumed on each WAN segment and prevents the system from
exceeding bandwidth limitations;

* software that monitors all call activity on ShoreGear switches, and enables integration of ShoreTe! and third-
party applications;

+ software that coordinates the functions of all servers on the system, allowing them to perform as a single,
virtual server; '

"+ software that enables remote ShoreTel and third-party applications to access and modify our systems;

+ software that enables the switch to communicate with the application server, and receive system config-
uration information;

* software that allows cach switch to maintain a comprehensive view of the system; and
* software that provides a graphical user interface for our phones.

Qur switch-based software also uses industry-standard Media Gateway Control Protocol, or MGCP, and
Session Initiation Protocol, or SIP, for setting up calls.

ShoreGear switches are comprised of off-the-shelf, embedded microprocessors and networking components,
such as Ethernet controllers, and customized integrated circuits. These switches run on Windl River VxWorks, a
widely-used embedded operating system, and use random access memory and flash memory and our switch call
management software for application processing. ShorePhone IP phones are comprised of enterprise IP phone chips
manufactured by Broadcom Corporation and customized LCD displays, microphones and speaker circuitry.

Enterprise Customers

QOur enterprise customers include small, medium and large companies and public institutions in a wide range of
vertical markets, including the financial services, government, education, health care, manufacturing, non-profit
organization, professional services and technology industries, As of June 30, 2007, we had sold our IP tele-
communications systems to more than 5,000 enterprise customers, including CNET Networks, Robert Half
International, SEGA, Wedbush Morgan Securities and the City of Oakland, California. Our broad enterprise
customer base reflects our historical strength in the small and medium-sized business and public institution sectors.

We believe that maintaining the highest possible levels of customer satisfaction is critical to our ability to
retain existing and gain new enterprise customers. We belicve that satisfied enterprise customers will purchase more
of our products and serve as advocates for our systems, and we work closely with them as they deploy and use our
systems. We follow implementation with a formal review with the enterprise customer that involves contacts with
our internal staff and third-party technical personnel, and take prompt action to resolve any issues that might have
been identified. We also have frequent follow-up contacts with our enterprise customers to promptly resolve issues
and to ensure that they are fully satisfied with their system. We also survey enterprise customers that use technical
support services to ensure that high-quality support services are being provided. Through this process, we gain
valuable insights into the existing and future requirements of our enterprise customers’ activities and this helps us
develop product enhancements that address the evolving requirements of enterprises.

Additionally, to promote high-quality support throughout our services organization, we measure key perfor-
mance indicators and operational metrics of our services organization, including call answer times, call abandon
rates, customer satisfaction with technical support, time to issue reselution, call interaction quality, as well as




customer satisfaction with system implementation, training services and technical support, and use the resuits to
direct the management of our services organization.

We also monitor our enterprise customers’ satisfaction with our channel partners by surveying our enterprise
customers after the system is installed. We actively encourage our channel partners to maintain and improve our
enterprise customers’ levels of satisfaction. We also monitor our channe! partners’ satisfaction with ShoreTel, as
their satisfaction with and advocacy of ShoreTel is also very important 10 our success.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and services primarily through an extensive network of channel partners. As of June 30,
2007, we had 470 channel partners in our network, These channel partners range in size from single-site, regional
firms with specialized products and services to multi-national firms that provide a full range of IT products and
services. Qur channel partners market and sell our products into both the large enterprise and small-to-medium
enterprise markets. We maintain a sales organization that recruits, qualifies and trains new channel partoers,
participates in sales presentations to potential enterprise customers and assesses customer feedback to assist in
developing product roadmaps. As part of our increased focus on sales to large accounts, we have also implemented a
major accounts program whereby senior sales executives assist our channel partners in selling to and providing
support for large enterprise customer accounts. No single channel partner accounted for 10% or more of our total
revenue in fiscal 2007. As of June 30, 2007, we had 94 personnel in sales and marketing activities.

We believe our channel partner network allows us to effectively sell our systems without the need to build large
dedicated in-house sales and service capabilities. We continue to work with existing channel partners to expand
their sales of our systems and to recruit new channel partners with a focus on increasing market coverage.

Our internal marketing team focuses on increasing brand awareness, communicating product advantages and
generating qualified leads for our sales force and channel partners. In addition to providing marketing materials, we
communicate product and service offerings through our installed base and news letters, direct mail campaigns, web
postings, press releases and web-based training.

Research and Development

We believe that our ability to enhance our current products, develop and iniroduce new products on a timely
basis, maintain technological competitiveness and meet enterprise customer requirements is essential to our
success. To this end, we have assembled a team of engineers with expertise in various fields, including voice and IP
communications, telecommunications network design, data networking and software engineering. Our principal
research and development activities are conducted in Sunnyvale, California. We have invested significant time and
financial resources into the development of our architecture, including our switches and related software. We intend
to continue to expand our product offerings, improve the features available on our products and integrate our
systems with third-party enterprise applications. As of June 30, 2007, we had a total of 102 personnel in research
and development and related technical service and support functions. Research and development expenses were
$17.2 million, $9.7 million, and $7.0 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Manufacturing and Suppliers
We outsource the manufacturing of our hardware products. This outsourcing allows us to:
« avoid costly capital expenditures for the establishment of manufacturing operations;
» focus on the design, development, sales and support of our hardware products; and
« leverage the scale, expertise and purchasing power of specialized contract manufacturers.

We outsource the manufacturing of our products. Currently, we have arrangements for the production of our
switches with a contract manufacturer in California and for the production of our phones with a contract
manufacturer located in China. Qur reliance on contract manufacturers involves a number of potential risks,
including the absence of adequate capacity, ownership of certain clements of electronic designs, and reduced
control over delivery schedules. Our contract manufacturers provide us with a range of operational and manu-
facturing services, including component procurement and performing final testing and assembly of our products.
We depend on our contract manufacturers o procure components and to maintain adequate manufacturing capacity.
We typically fulfill product orders out of our Fremont, California location.
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We regularly provide forecasts for orders, and we order products from our contract manufacturers based on our
projected sales levels. However, enterprise customers may generally cancel or reschedule orders without penalty,
and delivery schedules requested by enterprise customers in these orders frequently vary based upon each enterprise
customer’s particuiar needs.

We also rely on sole or limited numbers of suppliers for several key components utilized in the assembly of our
products. For example, our contract manufacturers purchase semiconductors that are essential to the production of
our phones from a single source supplier, and we have not identified any alternative suppliers for these components.
This reliance is amplified by the fact that we and our contract manufacturers maintain relatively low inventories and
acquire components only as needed. As a result, our ability to respond to enterprise customer orders efficiently may
be constrained by the then-current availability or terms and pricing of these components. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to obtain a sufficient quantity of these components in a timely manner to meet the demands of our
enterprise customers or that prices of these components will not increase. These delays or any disruption of the
supply of these components could also materially and adversely affect our operating results.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

For financial information about geographic areas, refer to Note 13 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 of this report.

Competition

The market for enterprise IP telecommunications systems is quickly evolving, highly competitive and subject
to rapid technological change. As a result of the convergence of voice and data networking technologies that
characterize IP enterprise telecommunications systems, we compete with providers of enterprise voice commu-
nications systems, such as:

 Providers of IP systems, including 3Com and Cisco Systems; and

* Providers of hybrid systems, including Avaya, Alcatel-Lucent, Avaya, Inter-Tel, Mitel Networks (which
recently acquired Inter-Tel) and Nortel Networks.

In addition, because the market for our products is subject to rapid technological change, as the market evolves
we may face competition in the future from companies that do not currently compete in the enterprise commu-
nications market, including companies that currently compete in other sectors of the information technology,
communications and software industries or communications companies that serve residential rather than enterprise
customers. In particular, as more enterprises converge their voice and data networks, the business information
technology and communication applications deployed on converged networks become more integrated. We may
face increased competition from current leaders in information technology infrastructure, information technology,
personal and business applications and the software that connects the network infrastructure to those applications,
such as Microsoft. We could also face competition from new market entrants, whether from new ventures or from
established companies moving into the market. Competition from these and other potential market entrants may
take many forms, including offering products and applications similar to those we offer as part of a larger, bundled
offering. In addition, technological developments and consolidation within the communications industry result in
frequent changes to our group of competitors. Many of our current and potential competitors are substantially larger
than we are and have significantly greater financial, sales, marketing, distribution, technical, manufacturing and
other resources. We believe that we compete favorably with regard to the principal competitive factors applicable to
our products, which include:

» price of products and services and total cost of ownership;

+ system reliability;

= voice quality and product features;

» ease of administration and installation, including system scalability,;
= customer service and technical support;

« relationships with buyers and decision makers and brand recognition;

« an installed base of similar or related products;




« the ability to integrate various products into an enterprise customer’s existing networks, including the ability
of a provider’s products to interoperate with other providers’ communications products; and

+ size and financial stability of our operations compared to those of our competitors.

For more information concerning competition, please see “Risk Factors — Risks Related To Our Business —
The market in which we operate is intensely competitive, and many of our competitors are larger, more established
and better capitalized than we are” and “— As voice and data networks converge, we are likely to face increased
competition from companies in the information technology, personal and business applications and software
industries.”

Intellectual Property

Our success as a company depends upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. To
accomplish this, we rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, copyrights
and trademarks, as well as customary contractual protections.

We have three patents issued in the United States, which expire in 2019, 2023 and 2023, and have twelve patent
applications in the United States. We also have one foreign patent application relating to one of our U.S. patents. We
intend to file other counterparts for these patents and patent applications in foreign jurisdictions around the world.

ShoreTel, our logo, ShorePhone, ShoreGear and ShoreWare are registered trademarks of ShoreTel.

The steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not be adequate. Third parties may
infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property rights and may chalienge our issued patents. In addition, other
parties may independently develop similar or competing technologies designed around any patents that are or may
be issued to us. We intend to enforce our intellectual property rights vigorously, and from time to time, we may
initiate claims against third parties that we believe are infringing on our intellectual property rights if we are unable
to resolve matters satisfactorily through negotiation. If we fail to protect our proprietary rights adequately, our
competitors could offer similar products, potentially significantly harming our competitive position and decreasing
our revenue.

Employees

As of June 30, 2007, we had 285 employees in North America, Europe and Australia, of which 94 were in sales
and marketing, 102 were in engineering, 42 were in global support services, 33 were in general and administrative
functions and 14 were in operations. None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we consider
current employee relations to be good.

Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information about our executive officers as of Septembér 15, 2007:

Name Age Position
JohnW.Combs................... 60 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
EdwinJ). Basart . . ................. 58 Founder, Chief Technology Officer and Director
Michael E. Healy. .. ............... 46  Chief Financial Officer

John Finegan. .. ... ................ 58 Vice President, Finance

PedroE.Rump ................... 51  Vice President, Engineering and Operations
Stephen G. Timmerman. ... ......... 48  Vice President, Marketing

Joseph A. Vitalone . ............... 45  Vice President, Sales

Walter Weisner . . ................. 51 Vice President, Global Services

Ava M. Hahn ......... ... ... ..... 34  General Counsel and Secretary

John W. Combs has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director since July 2004 and as
our Chairman since February 2007. From July 2002 to May 2004, Mr. Combs served as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Litlefeet Inc., a wireless infrastructure supplier. From September 1999 to July 2002,
Mr. Combs served as Chief Executive Officer of InternetConnect Inc., a broadband networking solutions provider.
Mr. Combs has also held senior management positions at Nextel Communications, Inc., a wireless digital
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communications system provider, L.A. Cellular, a wireless network operator, Mitel Inc., a manufacturer of private
branch exchanges and Fujitsu Business Communication Systems, Inc., a provider of telecommunications products.
Mr. Combs holds a B.S. in engineering from California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo.

Edwin J. Basart co-founded ShoreTel in 1996 and has served as our Chief Technology Officer and as a director
since inception. Prior to co-founding ShoreTel, Mr. Basart co-founded Network Computing Devices, Inc., a
provider of thin client computing hardware and software, where he served as Vice President of Engineering, and
Ridge Computers, Inc. where he served as Vice President of Software. Mr. Basart began his career as a software
engineer at Hewlett Packard. Mr. Basart holds a B.S. in English from lowa State University and an M.S. in electrical
engineering {rom Stanford University.

Michael E. Healy has served as our Chief Financial Officer since May 2007. From February 2004 to May 2007,
he served as Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Finance of Genesis Microchip Inc., a supplier of
display image processors. From November 2002 to February 2004, Mr. Healy served as Chief Financial Officer of
Jamcracker, Inc., a software and application service provider. From September 1997 to June 2002, Mr. Healy held
senior level finance positions at Exodus Communications, Inc., an Internet infrastructure outsourcing services
provider (Exodus Communications sold substantially all of its assets in January 2002 and changed its name to
EXDS, Inc. in February 2002), including as Senior Vice President of Finance prior to February 2002, and as its
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Treasurer from February 2002 to June 2002. From 1987 to 1997, Mr. Healy
held various financial management positions at Apple Computer, Inc., and was an auditor at Deloitte & Touche LLP
from 1983 to 1987. Mr. Healy holds a B.S. in accounting from Santa Clara University and is a Certified Public
Accountant, Mr. Healy is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the California
Society of Certified Public Accountants.

John Finegan has served as our Vice President of Finance since May 2007. From April 2003 to May 2007,
Mr. Finegan served as our Chief Financial Officer. From July 1989 to March 2003, Mr. Finegan served as Chief
Financial Officer of ActionPoint, Inc. {(previously named Cornerstone Imaging, Inc.), an enterprise software
company that later merged with Captiva Software Corporation. Prior to joining Cornerstone Imaging, Mr. Finegan
served as Vice President of Finance and Administration of Faraday Electronics Inc., a fabless semiconductor
company, and held senior management positions at ECS Microsystems Inc., a compuier terminal company and
Beckman Instruments Inc., a scientific instruments company. Mr. Finegan holds a B.S. in engineering from Tufts
University and an M.B.A. from the University of Massachusetts.

Pedro E. Rump has served as our Vice President of Engineering and Operations since January 2006. From July
2004 to January 2006, Mr. Rump served as Vice President of Engineering and Operations at Dust Networks, Inc., a
developer of embedded wireless sensor networking products. From January 2004 to July 2004, Mr. Rump served as
Vice President of Engineering at Sonim Technologies, Inc., a provider of voice over IP applications. From January
2003 to January 2004, Mr. Rump served as Vice President of Engineering at Littlefeet Inc. From January 2002 to
October 2002, Mr. Rump served as Vice President of Inviso, a developer of signal transport and display selutions for
television and telecommunications. Mr. Rump holds a B.S. and M.S. in electrical engineering from the Swiss
Federal Institute of Technology.

Stephen G. Timmerman has served as our Vice President of Marketing since January 2005. From February
2004 to December 2004, Mr. Timmerman was an independent marketing and business consultant. From February
2003 to January 2004, he served as Vice President for Bermai, Inc., a provider of chipsets for wireless applications.
From February 2002 to November 2002, Mr. Timmerman served as Vice President of Marketing for Proxim
Wireless Corporation, a developer of broadband wireless networking systems. Prior to joining Proxim, Mr. Timmer-
man held management positions at Octel Communications Corporation, a supplier of voicemail systems, and at
McKinsey & Company, a consulting firm. Mr. Timmerman holds a B.S. in mechanical and aerospace engineering
from Princeton University and an M.B.A. from Harvard University.

Joseph A. Vitalone has served as our Vice President of Sales since October 2005. From February 2003 to
October 2005, Mr. Vitalone served as Vice President of Worldwide Sales for CoVI Technologies, Inc., a provider of
digital surveillance solutions. From June 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Vitalone served as Senior Vice President of Sales
for Wire One Communications, Inc., a video conferencing solutions provider. Prior to joining Wire One Com-
munications, Mr. Vitalone served as Vice President of Sales for Polycom, Inc., a provider of broadband commu-
nications solutions, and held sales positions at ViaVideo Communications, Inc., a developer of group video
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communications systems, Mitel, PictureTel Corporation, a video conferencing solutions provider, Siemens A.G.,
and AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. Mr. Vitalone holds a B.A. in business and public relations from Western
Kentucky University.

Walter Weisner has served as our Vice President of Global Services since July 2005. From April 2002 to June
20035, Mr. Weisner served as Vice President, Global Support Services for Webex Communications, Inc., a web
comrnunications services provider. From Qctober 1999 to March 2002, Mr. Weisner served as Executive Vice
President of Operations and Support for InternetConnect. Prior to joining InternetConnect, Mr. Weisner served as
Senior Director of Customer Operations and Support for Nextel Communications, Southwest region, and also held
positions in product management and product development with Nextel. Mr. Weisner holds a B.A. in business
administration from Cleveland State University.

Ava M. Hahn has served as our General Counsel and Secretary since June 2007. From August 2002 to June
2007, Ms. Hahn served in various capacities at Genesis Microchip, Inc., a supplier of display image processors,
including General Counsel, Secretary, Corporate Counsel and Associate General Counsel. From August 2000 to
August 2002, Ms. Hahn was Director, Legal Affairs at LuxN, Inc., an optical networking company. From August
1997 to August 2000, Ms. Hahn was an associate attorney with Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. Ms, Hahn
holds a B.A. in histery from the University of California, Berkeley and a J.D. from Columbia Law School.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Qur Business

Our recent profitability and growth rates may not be indicative of our future profitability or growth, and
we may not be able to continue to maintain or increase our profitability or growth.

While we have been profitable in recent periods, we had an accumulated deficit of $84.8 million as of June 30,
2007. This accumulated deficit is attributable to net losses incurred from our inception in September 1996 through
the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2005. We may not succeed in maintaining or increasing our profitability and
could incur losses in future periods. We expect to incur significant additional operating expenses associated with
being a public company. We also expect that our operating expenses, including recognition of stock-based
compensation, will continue to increase in all areas as we seek to grow our business. If our gross profit does
not increase to offset these expected increases in operating expenses, our operating resuits will be negatively
affected. You should not consider our recent growth rates in terms of revenue and net income as indicative of our
future growth, Accordingly we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or increase our profitability in the
future,

The market in which we operate is intensely competitive, and many of our competitors are larger, more
established and better capitalized than we are.

The market for IP telecommunications and other telecommunications systems is extremely competitive, Our
competitors include companies that offer IP systems, such as Cisco Systems, Inc. and 3Com Corporation, and that
offer hybrid systems, such as Alcaiel-Lucent, Avaya, Inc., Inter-Tel Incorporated, Mitel Networks Corporation
(which recently acquired Inter-Tel Incorporated) and Nortel Networks Corporation. Several of the companies that
offer hybrid systems are beginning to also offer IP telecommunications systems. Many of our competitors are
substantially larger and have greater financial, technical, research and development, sales and marketing, man-
ufacturing, distribution and other resources. We could also face competition from new market entrants, whether
from new ventures or from established companies moving in to the market. These competitors have various other
advantages over us, including:

» greater market presence, name recognition and brand reputation;
+ a larger installed base of telecommunications and networking systems with enterprise customers;

» larger and more geographically distributed services and support organizations and capabilities;

a broader offering of telecommunications and networking products, applications and services;
= a more established international presence to address the needs of global enterprises;

« substantially larger patent and intellectual property portfolios;
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» longer operating histories;
* a fonger history of implementing large-scale telecommunications or networking systems;

* more established relationships with industry participants, customers, suppliers, distributors and other
technology companies; and

= the ability to acquire technologies or consolidate with other companies in the industry to compete more
effectively.

Given their capital resources, many of these competitors are in a better position to withstand any significant
reduction in capital spending by enterprise customers on telecommunications equipment and are not as susceptible
to downturns in a particular market. This risk is enhanced because we focus our business solely on the enterprise IP
telecommunications market and do not have a diversified portfolio of products that are applicable to other market
segments. :

We compete primarily on the basis of price, feature set, reliability, scalability, usability, total cost of ownership
and service. Because our competitors have greater financial strength than we do and are able to offer a more
diversified bundle of products and services, they have offered and in the future may offer relecommunications
products at lower prices than we do. These larger competitors can also bundle products with other services, such as
hosted or managed services, effectively reducing the price of their products. In order to remain competitive from a
cost perspective, we have in the past reduced the prices of our products, and we may be required to do so in the
future, in order to gain enterprise customers. Price reductions could have a negative effect on our gross margins.

Our competitors may also be able to devote more resources to developing new or enhanced products, including
products that may be based on new technologies or standards. 1f our competitors’ products become more accepted
than our products, our competitive position will be impaired and we may not be able to increase our revenue or may
experience decreased gross margins. If any of our competitors’ products or technologies become the industry
standard, if they are successful in bringing their products to market earlier, or if their products are more
technologically capable than ours, then our sales could be materially adversely affected. We may not be able
to maintain or improve our competitive position against our current or future competitors, and our faiture to do so
could materially and adversely affect our business.

As voice and data networks converge, we are likely to face increased competition from companies in the
information technology, personal and business applications and software indusiries.

The convergence of voice and data networks and their wider deployment by enterprises has led information
technology and communication applications deployed on converged networks to become more integrated. This
integration has created an opportunity for the leaders in information technology, personal and business applications
and the software that connects the network infrastructure to those applications, to enter the telecommunications
market and offer products that compete with our systems. Competition from these potential market entrants may
take many forms, and they may offer products and applications similar to those we offer. For example, Microsoft
Corporation has recently announced its wnified communications product roadmap, This includes its recently
introduced “Office Communicator 2007, which Microsoft stated will allow end users to control communications,
including voice over IP, through the Office Communicator application on their PC, which we expect will provide
functionality similar to that offered by our Personal Call Manager application. Microsoft has also announced plans
to intreduce Exchange Server 2007, a product that will offer competing unified messaging capabilities. Microsoft
has also developed an IP phone and has licensed the rights to produce such phones to third parties. In addition,
Microsoft has also entered into alliances with several of our competitors, and in July 2006 announced an extensive
relationship with Nortel for the production of IP-based communications equipment that will be integrated with the
Microsoft systems and Office Communicator. Microsoft and other leaders in the information technology, personal
and business applications and software industries, have substantial financial and other resources that they could
devote to this market.

If Microsoft continues to move into the telecommunications market or if other new competitors from the
information technology, personal and business applications or software industries enter the telecommunications
market, the market for IP telecommunications systems will become increasingly competitive. If the solutions
offered by Microsoft or other new competitors achieve substantial market penetration, we may not be able to
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maintain or improve our market position, and our failure to do so could materially and adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

If the emerging market for enterprise IP telecommunications systems does not fully develop, our future
business would be harmed. '

The market for enterprise IP telecommunications systems has begun to develop only recently, is evolving
rapidly and is characterized by an increasing number of market entrants. As is typical of a new and rapidly evolving
industry, the demand for and market acceptance of, enterprise IP telecommunications systems products and services
are uncertain, We cannot assure you that enterprise telecommunications systems that operate on IP networks will
‘become widespread. In particular, enterprises that have already invested substantial resources in other means of
communicating information may be reluctant or slow to implement an IP telecommunications system that can
require significant initial capital expenditures as compared to a hybrid system that might require a lower initial
capital expenditure despite higher potential total expenditures over the long term. If the market for enterprise IP
telecommunications systems fails to develop or develops more slowly than we anticipate, our products could fail to
achieve market acceptance, which in turn could significantly harm our business. This growth may be inhibited by a
number of factors, such as: :

» initial costs of implementation for a new system;

« quality of infrastructure;

* security concerns;

 equipment, software or other technology failures;

* regulatory encroachments; ’

* inconsistent quality of service;

* perceived unreliability or poor voice quality over IP networks as compared to circuit-switched networks; and
« lack of availability of cost-effective, high-speed network capacity.

Moreover, as [P-based data communications and telecommunications usage grow, the infrastructure used to
support these services, whether public or private, may not be able to support the demands placed on them and their
performance or reliability may decline. Even if enterprise IP telecommunications systems become more widespread
in the future, we cannot assure you that our products will attain broad market acceptance.

Our operating results may fluctuate in the future, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations may fluctuate in the future as a result of a variety of factors,
some of which may be outside of our control. If our results of operations fall below the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Fluctuations in our quarterly or
annual results of operations may be due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

» the (iming and volume of shipments of our products during a particular period;
+ the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors;
* the timing of recognition of revenue from sales to our customers;

« changes in our or our competitors’ pricing policies or sales terms;

= changes in the mix of our products and services sold during a particular period;

+ the amount and timing of operating costs related to the maintenance and expansion of our business,
operations and infrastructure;

+ our ability to control costs, including third-party manufacturing costs and costs of components;
« our ability to obtain sufficient supplies of components;
« our ability to maintain sufficient production volumes for our products;

+ volatility in our stock price, which may lead to higher stock compensation expenses pursuant to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, or SFAS 123(R);
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publicly-announced litigation, such as the lawsuit by Mitel;
» the timing of costs related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses;

» conditions specific to the IP telecommunications market, such as rates of adoption of 1P telecommunications
systems and introduction of new standards;

« changes in domestic and international regulatory environments affecting the Internet and telecommunica-
tions industries;

» seasonality in our target markets; and
» the purchasing and budgeting cycles of enterprise customers.

Because our operating expenses are largely fixed in the short-term, any shortfalls in revenue in a given period would
have a direct and adverse effect on our operating results in that period. We believe that our quarterty and annual revenue
and results of operations may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating
results may not be meaningful. You should not rely on the results of one period as an indication of future performance.

We rely on third-party resellers to sell our products, and disruptions to, or our failure to develop and
manage, our distribution channels and the processes and procedures that support them could adversely
affect our business.

Approximately 89% of our total revenue in fiscal 2007 was generated through indirect channel sales. These indirect
sales channels consist of third-party resellers that market and sell telecommunications systems and other products and
services to customers. We expect indirect channel sales will continue to generate a substantial majority of our total
revenue in the future. Our future success is highly dependent upon establishing and maintaining successful relationships
with a variety of third-party resellers of telecommunications products and services. In addition, we rely on these entities
to provide many of the installation, implementation and support services for our products. Accordingly, our success
depends in large part on the effective performance of these channel partners. By relying on channel partners, we may in
some cases have little or no contact with the ultimate users of our products, thereby making it more difficult for us to
establish brand awareness, ensure proper delivery and installation of our products, service ongoing enterprise customer
requirements and respond to evolving enterprise customer needs. This difficulty could be more pronounced in
international markets, where we expect that enterprise customers will purchase our systems from a channel partner
that purchased through a distributor. Additionally, some of our channel partners are smaller companies that may not have
the same financial resources as other of our larger channel partners, which could in some cases expose us to additional
collections risk. As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, we had approximately 470 and 340 third-party resellers, respectively, in
our channel partner program. Historically, we have experienced relatively low turnover of the resellers in our program,
with 46 and 19 partners leaving the program in fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, respectively.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partners and training them in our technology and products requires
significant time and resources. In order to develop and expand our distribution channel, we must continue to scale
and improve our processes and procedures that support our channel, including investment in systems and training,
and those processes and procedures may become increasingly complex and difficult to manage. We have no long-
term contracts or minimum purchase commitments with any of our channel partners, and our contracts with these
channel partners do not prohibit them from offering products or services that compete with ours. Qur competitors
may be effective in providing. incentives to existing and potential channel partners to favor their products or to
prevent or reduce sales of our products. Our channel partners may choose not to offer our products exclusively or at
all. Our failure to establish and maintain successful relationships with channel partners would likely materially
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our sales cycle can be lengthy and unpredictable, which makes it difficult to forecast the amount of our
sales and operating expenses in any particular period.

The sales cycle for our products typically ranges from six to nine months, and in some cases can be over
12 months. Part of our strategy is to increasingly target our sales efforts on larger enterprises. Because the sales
cycle for large enterprises is generally longer than for smaller enterprises, our sales cycle in the future may be even
longer than it has been historically. As a result, we may have limited ability to forecast whether or in which period a
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sale will occur. The success of our product sales process is subject to many factors, some of which we have little or
no control over, including:

* the timing of enterprise customers’ budget cycles and approval processes;
* a technical evaluation or trial by potential enterprise customers;

* our ability to introduce new products, features or functionalily in a manner that suits the needs of a particuiar
enterprise customer;

* the announcement or introduction of competing products; and
+ the strength of existing relationships between our competitors and potential enterprise customers.

We may expend substantial time, effort and money educating our current and prospective enterprise customers
as to the value of, and benefits delivered by, our products, and ultimately fail to produce a sale, If we are
unsuccessful in closing sales after expending significant resources, our operating results will be adversely affected.
Furthermore, if sales forecasted for a particular pertod do not occur in such period, our operating results for that
period could be substantially lower than anticipated and the market price of our commeoen stock could decline.

Our products incorporate some sole sourced components and the inability of these sole source suppliers to
provide adequate supplies of these components may prevent us from selling our products for a significant
period of time or limit aur ability to deliver sufficient amounts of our products.

We rely on sole or limited numbers of suppliers for several key components utilized in the assembly of our
products. For example, we source semiconductors that are essential to the operation of our phones from separate
single suppliers, and we have not identified or qualified any alternative suppliers for these components. We do not
have supply agreements with our sole source suppliers, and the components for our preducts are typically procured
by our contract manufacturers. If we lose access to these components we may not be able to sell our products for a
significant period of time, and we could incur significant costs to redesign our products or to qualify alternative
suppliers. This reliance on a sole source or limited number of suppliers involves several additional risks, including:

* supplier capacity constraints;
* price increases;

= timely delivery; and

* component quality.

This reliance is exacerbated by the fact that we maintain a relatively small amount of inventory and our
contract manufacturers typically acquire compenents only as needed. As a result, our ability to respond to enterprise
customer orders efficiently may be constrained by the then-current availability or the terms and pricing of these
components, Disruption or termination of the supply of these components could delay shipments of our products
and could materially and adversely affect our relationships with current and prospective enterprise customers. For
example, in December 2004, our power supply component vendor was unable to provide sufficient components, and
we had to obtain this component from another source. Also, from time to time we have experienced component
quality issues with products obtained from our contract manufacturers. For example, in the first quarter of our 2005
fiscal year, we had to expend resources to fix keys that were not working properly on some of our phones. In
addition, any increase in the price of these components could reduce our gross margin and adversely impact our
profitability, We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain a sufficient quantity of these components to meet
the demands of enterprise customers in a timely manner or that prices of these components will not increase, In
addition, problems with respect to yield and quality of these components and timeliness of deliveries could occur.
These delays could also materially and adversely affect our operating resuts.

Our business may be harmed if our contract manufacturers are not able to provide us with adequate supplies.

We outsource the manufacturing of our products. Currently, we have arrangements for the production of our
switches with a contract manufacturer in California and for the production of our phones with a contract manufacturer
locatedin China. Our reliance on contract manufacturers involves a number of potential risks, including the absence of
adequate capacity, ownership of certain elements of electronic designs, and reduced control over delivery schedules.
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We depend on our contract manufacturers to finance the production of goods ordered and to maintain adequate
manufacturing capacity. We do not exert direct control over our contract manufacturers, so we may be unable 10
procure timely delivery of acceptable products to our enterprise customers.

If sales of our products continue to grow, one or both of our contract manufacturers may not have sufficient
capacity to enable it to increase production to meet the demand for our products. Moreover, both of our contract
manufacturers could have manufacturing engagements with companies that are much larger than we are and whose
production needs are much greater than ours. As a result, one or both of our contract manufacturers may choose to
devote additional resources to the production of products other than ours if capacity is limited.

In addition, our contract manufacturers do not have any written contractual obligation to accept any purchase
order that we submit for the manufacture of any of our products nor do we have any assurance that our contract
manufacturers will agree to manufacture and supply any or all of our requirements for our products. Furthermore,
either of our contract manufacturers may unilaterally terminate their relationship with us at any time upon 180 days
notice with respect to the contract manufacturer of our switches and 120 days notice with respect to the contract
manufacturer of our phones or seek to increase the prices they charge us. For example, in January 2005, one of our
former contract manufacturers, which at the time was the sole manufacturer of our switches, notified us that it was
terminating its relationship with us upon six months of advance notice, which required us to qualify and obtain a
new contract manufacturer. As a result, we are not assured that our current manufacturers will continue to provide us
with an uninterrupted supply of products of at an acceptable price in the future.

~ Even if our contract manufacturers accept and fulfill our orders, it is possible that the products may not meet
our specifications, Because we do not control the final assembly and quality assurance of our products, there is a
possibility that these products may contain defects or otherwise not meet our quality standards, which could result
in warranty claims against us that could adversely affect our operating results and future sales.

If our contract manufacturers are unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing our products in required
volumes and to meet our quality specifications, or if they significantly increase their prices, we will have to identify

_one or more acceptable alternative contract manufacturers. The process of identifying and qualifying a new contract

manufacturer can be time consuming, and we may not be able to substitute’ suitable alternative contract manu-
facturers in a timely manner or at acceptable prices. Additionally, transitioning to new contract manufacturers may
cause delays in supply if the new contract manufacturers have difficulty manufacturing products to our specifi-
cations or quality standards. Furthermore, we do not own the electronic design for our phones, hence it may be more
difficult or costly for us to change the contract manufacturer of our phones or to arrange for an alternate of or a
replacement for these products in a timely manner should a transition be required. This could atso subject us to the
risk that our competitors could obtain phones containing technology that is the same as or similar to the technology
in our phones.

Any disruption in the supply of products from our contract manufacturers may harm our business and could
result in a loss of sales and an increase in production costs, which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

The gross margins on our products may decrease due to competitive pressures or otherwise, which could
negatively impact our profitability.

It is possible that the gross margins on our products will decrease in the future in response to competitive
pricing pressures, new product introductions by us or our competitors, changes in the costs of components or other
factors. If we experience decreased gross margins and we are unable to respond in a timely manner by introducing
and selling new, higher-margin products successfully and continually reducing our product costs, our gross margins
may decline, which will harm our business and results of operations.

If we fail to make necessary improvements to address a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately and timely, any of which
could harm our business, reputation and cause the price of our common stock to decline.

We had a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2007 in that we did
not have sufficient internal controls related to the deferral of revenue for the entire arrangement fees associated with
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transactions in which vendor specific evidence of fair value, or VSOQE, does not exist for undelivered product
elements.

If VSOE of fair value does not exist for commitments 1o provide specified upgrades, services or additional
products to customers in the future, as has been the case from time to time in the past, we defer all revenue from the
arrangement until the earlier of the point at which VSOE of fair value does exist or all such elements from the
arrangement have been delivered.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

We are in the process of taking steps intended to remedy this material weakness, and we will not be able to fully
address this material weakness until these steps have been completed. If we fail to maintain the number and
expertise of our staff for our accounting and finance functions and (o improve and maintain internal control over
financial reporting adequate to meet the demands of a public company, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, we may be unable to report our financial results accurately. If we cannot do so, our business, reputation
and stock price may decline.

Even if we are able to report our financial statements accurately and timely, if we do not make all the necessary
improvements to address the material weakness, continued disclosure of our material weakness will be required in
future filings with the SEC, which could cause our reputation to be harmed and our stock price to decline.

We are incurring significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management
will is required to devote substantial time to public company compliance initiatives. These added costs and
required management focus could adversely affect our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a
private company, In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and
the NASDAQ Stock Market, have imposed a variety of new requirements on public companies, including requiring
changes in corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial
amount of time to these new compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal
and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, we
| expect these new rules and regulations will make it more difficult and expensive for us to obtain director and officer
| liability insurance, and we will be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal control
, over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, commencing in fiscal 2008, we must
| perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal controt over financial reporting to allow
management and our independent registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our compliance with
Section 404 will require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management efforts.
We currently do not have an internal audit group, and we have recently hired additional accounting and financial
staff with public company experience and technical accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not able 1o comply
with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, or if we or our independent registered public accounting
firm continues to note or identify deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be
material weaknesses, the market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or
investigations by the NASDAQ Stock Market, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require
additional financial and management resources.

The increased costs associated with operating as a public company may decrease our net income or increase
our net loss, and may cause us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the prices of our products or
services to offset the effect of such increased costs. Additionally, if these requirements divert our management’s
attention from other business concerns, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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If we fail to develop and introduce new products and features in a timely manner, or if we fail to manage
product transitions, we could experience decreased revenue or decreased selling prices in the future.

Our future growth depends on our ability to develop and introduce new products successfully. Due to the
complexity of the type of products we produce, there are significant technical risks that may affect our ability to
introduce new products and features successfully. In addition, we must commit significant resources to developing
new products and features before knowing whether our investments will result in products that are accepted by the
market. The success of new products depends on many factors, including:

« the ability of our products to compete with the products and solutions offered by our competitors;
+ the cost of our products;

« the reliability of our products;

* the timeliness of the introduction and delivery of our products; and

* the market acceptance of our products.

If we are unable to develop and introduce new products in a timely manner or in response to changing market
conditions or enterprise customer requirements, or if these products do not achieve market acceptance, our
operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

Product introductions by us in future periods may also reduce demand for, or cause price declines with respect
to, our existing products. As new or enhanced products are introduced, we must successfully manage the transition
from older products, avoid excessive levels of clder product inventories and ensure that sufficient supplies of new
products can be delivered to meet enterprise customer demand. Qur failure to do so could adversely affect our
revenue, gross margins and other operating results.

If we fail to respond to technological changes and evolving industry standards, our products could
become obsolete or less competitive in the future.

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technologies
and standards, frequent product introductions and short product life cycles. Accordingly, our operating resuits
depend upon, among other things, our ability to develop and introduce new products and our ability to reduce
production costs of existing products. The process of developing new technologies and products is complex, and if
we are unable to develop enhancements to, and new features for, our existing products or acceptable new products
that keep pace with technological developments or industry standards, our products may become obsolete, less
marketable and less competitive and our business will be harmed.

In addition, as industry standards evolve, it is possible that one standard becomes predominant in the market. This
could facilitate the entry into the market of competing products, which could result in significant pricing pressure.
Additionally, if one standard becomes predominant and we adopt that standard, enterprises may be able to create a unified,
integrated system by using phones, switches, servers, applications, or other telecommunications products produced by
different companies. Therefore, we may be unable to sell complete systems to enterprise customers because the enterprise
customers elect to purchase portions of their telecommunications systems from our competitors. For example, if a single
indusiry standard is adopted, customers may elect to purchase our switches, but could purchase software applications and
phones from other vendors. This could reduce our revenue and gross margins if enterprise customers instead purchase
primarily lower-margin products from us. Conversely, if one standard becomes predominant, and we do not adopt it,
potential enterprise customers may choose to buy a competing system that is based on that standard.

Our products are highly complex and may contain undetected software or hardware errors, which could
harm our reputation and future product sales. )

Because our enterprise customers rely on our products for telecommunications, an application that is critical to
their business, any failure to provide high quality and reliable products, whether caused by our own failure or failures
by our contract manufacturer or suppliers, could damage our reputation and reduce demand for our products. Qur
products have in the past contained, and may in the future contain, undetected errors or defects. Some errors in our
products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by enterprise customers. Any efrors or
defects discovered in our products after commercial release could result in loss of revenue, loss of enterprise customers
and increased service and warranty costs, any of which could adversely affect our business. In addition, we could face
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claims for product liability, tort or breach of warranty. Our purchase orders contain provisions relating to warranty
disclaimers and liability limitations, which may not be upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly
and may divert management’s attention and adversely affect the market’s perception of us and our products. In
addition, if our business liability insurance coverage proves inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable
terms or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our business could be harmed by adverse economic conditions in our target markets or reduced spending
on information technology and telecommunication products.

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology, and in particular for telecommu-
nications systems. The market we serve is emerging and the purchase of our products involves significant upfront
expenditures. In addition, the purchase of our products can be discretionary and may involve a significant
commitment of capital and other resources. Weak economic conditions in our target markets, or a reduction in
information technology or telecommunications spending even if economic conditions improve, would likely
adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition in a number of ways, including longer sales
cycles, lower prices for our products and reduced unit sales. For example, some of our sales are derived from the
financial services market, which is experiencing a downturn related to the sub-prime mortgage market defaults.

Our future success depends on our ability to attract, integrate and retain key personnel, and our failure
to do so could harm our ability to grow our business.

Our future success will depend, to a significant extent, on our ability to attract, integrate and retain our key
personnel, namely our management team and experienced sales and engineering personnel. We may experience
difficulty assimilating our newly hired personnel, which may adversely affect our business. In addition, we must
retain and motivate high quality personnel, and we must alse attract and assimilate other highly qualified
employees. Competition for qualified management, technical and other personnel can be intense, and we may
not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Competitors have in the past and may in the future
attempt to recruit our employees, and our management and key employees are not bound by agreements that could
prevent them from terminating their employment at any time. If we fail to attract, integrate and retain key
employees, our ability to manage and grow our business could be harmed.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our business could be harmed.

We have recently experienced a period of rapid growth in our headcount and operations. In the last year and a
half, we have more than doubled our workforce and significantly expanded our channel partner network and the
number and size of enterprise customers implementing our systems. We anticipate that we will further éxpand our
operations. This growth has placed, and future growth will place, a significant strain on our management,
administrative, operaticnal and financial infrastructure. Our success will depend in part upon our ability to
manage this growth effectively. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to
continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures.
Failure to effectively manage growth could result in difficulty in filling enterprise customer orders, declines in
product quality or customer satisfaction, increases in costs or other production and distribution difficulties, and any
of these difficulties could adversely impact our business performance and results of operations.

We intend to expand our international operations, which could expose us to significant risks.

To date we have limited international operations and have not had material revenue from international
enterprise customers. The future success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to expand our operations
and enterprise customer base successfully worldwide. Operating in international markets requires significant
resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, economic and political risks that are different
from those in the United States. Because of our limited experience with international operations, we cannot assure
you that our international expansion efforts will be successful. In addition, we will face risks in doing business
internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:

+ our ability to comply with differing technical and environmental standards and certification requirements
outside the United States;

« difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations;
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+ greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles;

* the need to adapt our products for specific countries;

+ availability of reliable broadband connectivity and wide area networks in targeted areas for expansion;

» unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

« difficulties in understanding and complying with local laws, regulations and customs in foreign jurisdictions;
= tariffs, export controls and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules;

* more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

= adverse tax consequences;

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could increase the price of our products outside of the
United States, increase the expenses of our international operations and expose us to foreign currency
exchange rate risk; '

« restrictions on the transfer of funds; and
* new and different sources of competition.

Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our future international operations and our
overall business.

Failure to protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our business.

Our success and ability to compete are substantially dependent upon our intellectual property. We rely on
patent, trademark and copyright law, trade secret protection and confidentiality or license agreements with our
employees, enterprise customers, strategic partners and others to protect our intellectual proprietary rights.
However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be inadequate. We currently have three
issued patents and 12 patent applications in the United States. We also have one foreign patent application relating
1o one of our U.S. patents. We cannot assure you that any additional patents will be issued. Even if patents are issued,
they may not adequately protect our intellectual property rights or our products against competitors, and third-
parties may challenge the scope, validity and/or enforceability of our issued patents. In addition, other parties may
independently develop similar or competing technologies designed around any patents that may be issued to us.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and
protect such rights. We may not be able to detect infringement, and may lose our competitive position in the market
before we are able to do so. In the event that we detect any infringement of our intellectual property rights, we intend to
enforce such rights vigorously, and from time to time we may initiate claims against third parties that we believe are
infringing on our intellectual prop'erty rights if we are unable to resolve matters satisfactorily through negotiation.
Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting
to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts
to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity
and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Qur failure to secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property
rights could harm our brand and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If a third party asserts that we are infringing on its intellectual property, whether successful or not, it could
subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, which could harm our business.

There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. Qur success
depends, in part, upon our not infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well
have a number of other entities and individuals, own or claim to own intellectual property relating to our industry.
From time to time, third parties may claim that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights, and we may
be found to be infringing upon such rights. Third-parties have in the past sent us correspondence regarding their
intellectual property and have filed litigation against us, and in the future we may receive claims that our products
infringe or violate their intellectual property rights. In this regard, on June 27, 2007, Mitel Networks Corporation,
one of our competitors, filed a lawsuit alleging that we infringed six of its patents. See “Business —— Legal
Proceedings™ for a further discussion of this lawsuit. Furthermore, we may be unaware of the intellectual property
rights of others that may cover some or all of our technology or products. Any claims or litigation could cause us to
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incur significant expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial damages or
ongoing royalty payments, prevent us from selling our products, damage our reputation, or require that we comply
with other unfavorable terms, any of which could materially harm our business. In addition, we may decide to pay
substantial settlement costs in connection with any claim or litigation, whether or not successfully asserted against
us. Even if we were to prevail, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming
and divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations.

Litigation with respect to inteliectual property rights in the telecommunications industries is not uncommon
and can often involve patent holding companies who have little or no product revenue and against whom our own
patents may provide little or no deterrence. We may also be obligated to indemnify our enterprise customers or
business partners in connection with any such litigation, which could further exhaust our resources. Furthermore, as
aresult of an intellectual property challenge, we may be required to enter into royalty, license or other agreements.
We may not be able to obtain these agreements on terms acceptable to us or at all. In addition, disputes regarding our
intellectual property rights may deter distributors selling our products and dissuade potential enterprise customers
from purchasing such products. As such, third-party claims with respect to intellectual property may increase our
cost of goods sold or reduce the sales of our products, and may have a material and adverse effect on our business.

Qur products include third-party technology and intellectual property, which could present additional risks.

We incorporate certain third-party technologies, such as our contact center, collaboration bridge and network
monitoring software, into our products, and intend to utilize additional third-party technologies in the future, However,
lcenses to relevant third-party technology or updates to those technologies may not continue to be available to us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Furthermore, we do not.own the electronic design for our phones, hence it
may be difficult for us to arrange for an alternate of or a replacement for these products in a timely manner. Therefore,
we could face delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed, and
integrated into our current products. These delays, if they occur, could materially adversely affect our business.

We are subject to environmental and other health and safety regulations that may increase our costs of
operations or limit our activities.

We are subject to environmental and other health and safety regulations relating to matters such as reductions
in the use of harmful substances, the use of lead-free soldering and the recycling of products and packaging
materials. For example, the European Parliament and the Counsel of the European Union have published directives
on waste electrical and electronic equipment and on the restriction of the use of certain hazardous substances in
electrical and electronic equipment. These directives generally require electronics producers to bear the cost of
collection, treatment, recovery and safe disposal of past and future products from end users and to ensure that new
electrical and electronic equipment does not contain specified hazardous substances. While the cost of these
directives to us cannot be determined before regulations are adopted in individual member states of the European
Union, it may be substantial and may divert resources, which could detract from our ability to develop new products
or operate our business, particularly if we increase international operations. We may not be able to comply in all
cases with applicable environmental and other regulations, and if we do not, we may incur remediation costs or we
may not be able to offer our products for sale in certain countries, which could adversely affect our results.

Some of our competitors could design their products to prevent or impair the intei‘bpembility of our products
with enterprise customers’ networks, which could cause installations to be delayed or cancelled.

Our products must interface with enterprise customer software, equipment and systems in their networks, each
of which may have different specifications. To the extent our competitors supply network software, equipment or
systems to our enterprise customers, it is possible these competitors could design their technologies to be closed or
proprietary systems that are incompatible with our products or to work less effectively with our products than their
own. As a result, enterprise customers would be incentivized to purchase products that are compatible with the
products and technologies of our competitors over our products. A lack of interoperability may result in significant
redesign costs and harm relations with our enterprise customers. If our products do not interoperate with our
enterprise customers’ netwoiks, installations could be delayed or orders for our products could be cancelled, which
would result in losses of revenue and enterprise customers that could significantly harm our business.

20




Our principal offices and the facilities of our contract manufacturers are located near known earthquake
fault zones, and the occurrence of an earthquake or other catastrophic disaster could damage our facilities
or the facilities of our contract manufacturers, which could cause us to curtail our operations.

Qur principal offices and the facilities of one of our contract manufacturers are located in California near
known earthquake fault zones and, therefore, are vulnerable to damage from earthquakes. We and our contract
manufacturers are also vulnerable to damage from other types of disasters, such as power loss, fire, floods and
similar events. If any disaster were to occur, our ability to operate our business could be seriously impaired. In
addition, we may not have adequate insurance to cover our losses resulting from disasters or other similar
significant business interruptions. Any significant losses that are not recoverable under our insurance policies could
seriously impair our business and financial condition.

Our products require reliable broadband connections, and we may be unable to sell our products in markets
where broadband connections are not yet widely available.

End users of our products must have reliable access to an enterprise customer’s wide area network in order for our
products to perform properly. Accordingly, it is not likely that there will be demand for our products in geographic
areas that do not have a sufficiently reliable infrastructure of broadband connections. Many geographic locations do
not have reliable infrastructure for broadband connections, particularly in some international markets. Our future
growth could be limited if broadband connections are not or do not become widely available in markets that we target.

If our enterprise customers experience inadequate performance with their wide area networks, even if
unrelated to our systems, our product performance could be adversely affected, which could harm our
relationships with current enterprise customers and make it more difficult to attract new enterprise customers.

Our products depend on the reliable performance of the wide area networks of enterprise customers. If enterprise
customers experience inadequate performance with their ‘wide area networks, whether due to outages, component
failures, or otherwise, our product performance would be adversely affected. As a result, when these types of problems
occur with these networks, our enterprise customers may not be able to immediately identify the source of the problem,
and may conclude that the problem is related to our products. This could harm our relationships with our current
enterprise customers and make it more difficult to attract new enterprise customers, which could harm our business.

We might require additional capital to support our business in the future, and this capital might not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all.

Although we anticipate that our current cash on hand and the proceeds from our initial public offering, which
was completed in July 2007, will be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated cash needs through fiscal 2008, if
our cash and cash equivalents balances and any cash generated from operations and from our initial public offering
are not sufficient to meet our future cash requirements, we will need to seek additional capital, potentially through
debt or equity financings, to fund our operations. We may also need to raise additional capital to take advantage of
new business or acquisition opportunities. We may seek to raise capital by, among other things:

» issuing additional common stock or other equity securities;
» issuing debt securities; or
« borrowing funds under a credit facility.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to raise needed cash on terms acceptable to us or at all. Financings, if
available, may be on terms that are dilutive or potentially dilutive to our stockholders, and the prices at which new
investors would be willing to purchase our securities may be lower than the initial public offering price. The holders
of new securities may also receive rights, preferences or privileges that are sentor to those of existing holders of
common stock. In addition, if we were to raise cash through a debt financing, such debt may impose conditions or
restrictions on our operations, which could adversely affect our business. If new sources of financing are required
but are insufficient or unavailable, we would be required to modify our operating plans to the extent of available
funding, which would harm our ability to maintain or grow our business.
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Future sales of outstanding shares of our common stock into the market in the future could cause the
market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well,

If our existing stockholders sell a large number of shares of our common stock or the public market perceives
that these sales may occur, the market price of our commeon stock could decline. Commencing 181 days from July 2,
2007, the lock-up and market stand off arrangements relating to our initial public offering will expire. At that time,
an additional approximately 34.5 million shares will become freely tradable without restriction or further
registration under the federal securities laws, subject in some cases to the volume, manner of sale and other
limitations under Rule 144 and 701,

Our charter documents and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover that stockholders consider favorable
and could also limit the market price of our stock,

Qur restated certificate of incorperation and bylaws and applicable provisions of Delaware law may make it
more difficult for or prevent a third party from acquiring control of us without the approval of our board of directors.
These provisions:

» prohibit stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a
meeting of our stockholders;

* limit who may calt a special meeting of stockholders;

» establish a classified board of directors, so that not all members of our board of directors may be elected at
one time;

» provide our board of directors with the ability to designate the terms of and issue a new series of preferred
stock without stockholder approval;

= require the approval of two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend or
repeal our bylaws or repeal certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation;

* allow a majority of the authorized number of directors to adopt, amend or repeal our bylaws without
stockholder approval,

* do not permit cumulative voting in the election of our directors, which would otherwise permit less than a
majority of stockholders to elect directors; and

» set limitations on the removal of directors.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law generally limits our ability to engage in any
business combination with certain persons who own 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock or any of our
associates or affiliates who at any time in the past three years have owned 15% or more of our outstanding voting
stock. These provisions may have the effect of entrenching our management team and may deprive you of the
opportunity to sell your shares to potential acquirers at a premium over prevailing prices. This potential inability to
obtain a control premium could reduce the price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in Sunnyvale, California in a 63,781 square foot facility that we lease through
October 2009. We also maintain leased sales offices in Europe and Australia.

We do not maintain a dedicated warehouse facility for our inventory, rather we rent space as needed at a
third-party warehouse. In May 2007, we entered into a lease for a shipping and receiving facility with warehouse
capacity and occupied it in July 2007. The lease expires in September 2009. Our inventory is expected to be kept at
our facility and at the third party facility.

We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs, and we intend to add
new facilities or expand existing facilities as we add employees. We believe that suitable additionai or substitute
space will be available on commercially reasonable terms as needed to accommodate our operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On June 27, 2007, a lawsuit was filed against us by Mitel Networks Corporation in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas. Mitel alleges that we infringe four of its U.S. patents: U.S. Patent
No. 5,940,834, entitled “Automatic Web Page Generator,” U.S. Patent No. 5,703,942 entitled “Portable Telephone
User Profiles Using Central Computer,” U.S. Patent No. 5,541,983 entitled “Automatic Telephone Feature Selector”
and U.S. Patent No. 5,657,446 entitled “Local Area Communications Server.” On August 21, 2007, Mitel filed an
amended complaint, which alleges that we infringe two additional U.S. patents held by Mitel: U.S. Patent
No. 5,007,080, entitled “Communications System Supporting Remote Operations,” and U.S. Patent No. 5,657,377,
entitled “Portable Telephone User Profiles.” The lawsuit includes claims that relate to components or features that
are material to our products. In relation to its claims under each patent, Mitel seeks a permanent injunction against
infringement, attorney’s fees and compensatory damages.

On July 31, 2007, we filed counterclaims in the Eastern District of Texas. In addition to denying ail of Mitel’s claims
of patent infringement, our counterclaim alleged that Mitel’s IP phone systems, including the Mitel 3300 [P Com-
munications Platform, infringes ShoreTel’s U.S. Patent No. 7,167,486 B2 entitled *“Voice Traffic Through a Firewall.”
We also filed claims for approximately $10 million in damages to our initial public offering and an injunction against
Mitel in Ontario Superior Court for making false or misleading statements about ShoreTel’s alleged infringement.

This litigation is causing us to incur significant expenses and costs. Negative developments with respect to the
lawsuit could cause our stock price to decline, and an unfavorable resolution of this lawsuit could have an adverse
and possibly material effect on our business and results of operations. If we do not prevail, we may be required to
pay substantial damages, an injunction may be entered against us that prevents us from manufacturing, using,
selling and importing our products; and a license to continue selling our products may not be available to us at all or
may require us to pay substantial ongoing royalties and comply with unfavorable terms, any of which could
materially harm our business. Even if we were to prevail, this litigation could be costly and time-consuming, divert
the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations and deter distributors from selling
our products and dissuade potential enterprise costomers from purchasing our products. We believe we have
meritorious defenses to Mitel’s claims. We intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

We could become involved in litigation from time to time relating to claims arising out of our ordinary course
of business or otherwise.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

In April 2007, we submitted the following matters to our stockholders for their approval by written consent
pursuant to Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. As of the record date for taking such action, we
had approximately 33.4 million shares of our common stock outstanding (on an as-if-converted to common stock
basis). The following actions were approved:

* The approval of our reincorporation in Delaware.

* The approval of the amendment and restatement of our certificate of incorporation to effect a 1-for-10
reverse stock split of our capital stock (including ali outstanding warrants and options exercisable for shares
of our capital stock).
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» The approval of the amendment and restatement of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that became
effective upon the completion of our initial public offering.

* The approval of the election of the incumbent board members.
* The approval and adoption of our 2007 employee stock purchase plan.
* The approval of a form of indemnification agreement to be entered into by us with each of our directors and officers.

The results of the voting from stockholders that returned written consents for the actions listed above were
approximately 32.6 million for and none against.

PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR OUR COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “SHOR™ on July 3, 2607.
‘We have not listed our stock on any other markets or exchanges. As of September 13, 2007, we had 245 holders of
record of our common stock, although we believe there are approximately 2,100 beneficial owners since many
brokers and other institutions hold our common stock on behalf of stockholders. On September 13, 2007, the last
reported sales price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market was $13.28 per share.

In the past, technology stocks have experienced high levels of volatility, The trading price of our common
stock may fluctuate substantially. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our
common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:

» price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

= significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies;

+ actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our operating results;
» actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts;

* actual or anticipated developtents in our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
+ litigation involving us, our industry or both;

+ regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;

* economic condittons and trends in our indusiry;

* major catastrophic events;

*» sales of large blocks of our stock; or

*» departures of key personnel.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securilies, securities class action
litigation has often been brought against that company. If our stock price is volatile, we may become the target of
securities litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and
resources from our business.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain our earnings for use in our
business and therefore we do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in connection with our consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected in any future period.

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
| (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income (loss) per common share available to
common shareholders(2):
Basic . ... ... e e $ 070 % 060 $ (027) $§ (1.27) $ (1097

Diluted......... ... o i $ 017 % 0123)% (027 $ (127 8§ (109D

Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share
available to common shareholders:
Basic . ... .. e 8,565 6,609 5,352 4,935 1,100
Diluted. . ... ... .. e 35,581 33,431(3) 5,352 4,935 1,100

Revenue:
Product .. ........ . it $87,095 $55300 $31970 $16,587 $ 8,537
Support and services. ......... ... ... .. ... 10,732 6,308 3,512 2,241 1,755
Total revenue . ... ... ...ttt 97,827 61,608 35,482 18,828 10,292
Cost of revenue:
Product{1) . ...... .. ... .. . .. ... .. 29,751 21,855 13,961 7,725 4,401
Support and services(1). ... ... ... Lo 6,837 5,425 2,907 1,660 1,539
' Total costof revenue. . . ... oo v veiiinn e 36,588 27,280 16,868 9,385 5,940
Grossprofit .. ... ... .. ... . .. i 61,239 34,328 18,614 9,443 4,352
_Operating expenses:
Research and development(1) .. .............. 17,224 9,720 7,034 5,517 6,575
Sales and marketing(1) . .... ... ... . ... ..., 26,126 15,699 10,050 8,004 6,934
General and administrative(l) ... ............. 11,673 4,936 3,045 2,166 2,884
Total operating expenses . . ... ............. 55,023 30,355 20,129 15,687 16,393
Operating income (Joss) . ..................... 6,216 3,973 (1,515) (6,244)  (12,04D)
Otherincome —net . ... ..ottt i 273 248 124 (N 19
Income (loss) before provision for income tax. ... .. 6,489 4,221 (1,391) 6,251)  (12,022)
Income tax provision . ............ .. ... . ..., (408) (219) (11) — —_
Netincome (loss). ........ .. ... 6,081 4,002 (1,402) (6,251) (12,022)
Accretion of preferred stock . .. ... ... ... ... {50} 51 (32) (26) (38)
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders . . .. ... .. .. . ... .. ... ... . ... $ 6,031 $3951 ${1434) $(62771) $(12,060)
|

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Cost of product revenue. . . .. ... .cvuee ... $ 12 $— = 55— §—

Cost of support and services revenue . . ................ 99 16 _— — —

‘ Research and development. .. .. ..................... 384 14 — — —
Sales and marketing .. ... ..... ... ... ... ... ... 533 7 — — —

General and administrative. .. ... ... ... . .o 1,658 45 82 45 446

Total stock-based compensation expense. .. ........... $2,686 $82 §82 345 $446
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(2) See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for a description of the method used to compute basic and
diluted net income (loss) per share available to cormmon shareholders, which gives effect to the 1-for-10 reverse
split of our outstanding common stock on June 22, 2007,

(3) See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements regarding the restatement of diluted net income per
common share available to common shareholders and diluted shares used in computing net income per share
available to common shareholders for the year ended June 30, 2006.

Effective July 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R) “Share-Based Payment.” Stock-based compensation expense
for years prior to fiscal 2007 was calculated based on provisions of APB 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.”

As of June 30,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash and cash equivalents . .. ............... $17326 $12333 $ 5373 §$§ 723 % 3451
Working capital . . . .......... ... .. ., 23,018 16,208 10,741 1,320 3,720
Total assets . .. ... ovnt i, 53,034 30,885 20,960 7,962 8,231
Redeemable convertible preferred stock ... ... .. 56,341 56,332 56,281 46,300 42,814
Total shareholders’ deficit .................. (31,829) (41,168) (45,713)  (44,596) (38,374)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements regarding the restatement of diluted net income per
common share available to common shareholders and diluted shares used in computing net income per share
available to common shareholders for the year ended June 30, 2006.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations shoild be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this document, This
discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Qur actual results could differ
materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are
not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed above in the section entitled “Risk Factors.” We report
results on a fiscal year ending June 30. For ease of reference within this section, 2007 refers to the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007, 2006 refers to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 refers to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2005. :

Overview

We are a leading provider of IP telecommunications solutions for enterprises. Our solution is comprised of our
ShoreGear switches, ShorePhone IP phones and ShoreWare software applications. We were founded in September
1996 and shipped our first system in 1998. We have continued to develop and enhance our product line since that
time. We currently offer nine models of our switches and five models of our IP phones.

We sell our products primarily through channet partners that market and sell our systems to enterprises across
alt industries, including to small, medium and large companies and public institutions. We believe our channel
strategy allows us to reach a larger number of prospective enterprise customers more effectively than if we were to
sell directly. The number of our authorized channel partners has more than doubled since June 30, 2004 to 470 as of
June 30, 2007, including over 40 channel partners internationally. Channel partners typically purchase our products
directly from us. Our internal sales and marketing personnel support these channel partners in their selling efforts.
In some circumstances, the enterprise customer will purchase products directly from us, but in these situations we
typically compensate the channel partner for its sales efforts. At the request of the channel partner, we often ship our
products directly to the enterprise customer.

Our channel partners generally perform installation and implementation services for the enterprises that use
our systems. In most cases, our channel partners provide the post-contractual support to the enterprise customer by
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providing first-level support services and purchasing additional services from us under a post-contractual support
contract. For channel partners without support capabilities or that do not desire to provide support, we offer full
support contracts to provide all of the support to enterprise customers.

We outsource the manufacturing of our products to contract manufacturers. Our outsourced manufacturing
model allows us to scale our business without the significant capital investment and on-going expenses required to
establish and maintain a manufacturing operation. Our switch products are manufactured by a contract manufac-
turer in San Jose, California and our phone products are manufactured by a contract manufacturer in China. Our
contract manufacturers provide us with a range of operaticnal and manufacturing services, including component
procurement, final testing and assembly of our products. We work closely with our contract manufacturers to
manage the cost of components, since our total manufacturing costs are directly tied to component costs. We
regularly provide forecasts to our contract manufacturers, and we order products from our contract manufacturers
based on our projected sales levels well in advance of receiving actual orders from our enterprise customers. We
seek to maintain sufficient levels of finished goods inventory to meet our forecasted product sales with limited levels
of inventory to compensate for unanticipated shifts in sales volume and product mix.

Although we have historically sold our systems primarily to small and medium sized enterprises, we have
recently begun to expand our sales and marketing activities to increase our focus on larger enterprise customers.
Accordingly, we have implemented a major accounts program whereby our sales personnel assist our channel
partoers to sell to large enterprise accounts, and we coordinate with our channel partners to enable them to better
serve large mulii-site enterprises. To the extent we are successful in penetrating larger enterprise customers, we
expect that the sales cycle for our products will increase, and that the demands on our sales and support
infrastructure will also increase.

We are headquartered in Sunnyvale, California and the majority of our personnel work at this location. Sales
and support personnel are located throughout the United States and, to & lesser extent, in the United Kingdom,
Germany, Spain and Australia. While we expanded our operations to Europe in 2005 and to the Asia Pacific region
in 2006, most of our enterprise customers are located in the United States. Revenue from international sales has
been 3% or less of our total revenue for 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively. Although we intend to focus on
increasing international sales, we expect that sales to enterprise customers in the United States will continue to
comprise the significant majority of our sales.

We have experienced significant growth in recent periods, with our total revenue growing to $97.8 million for
2007 from $35.5 million for 2005. This growth in revenue has largely been driven by increased demand for IP
telecommunications systems from new enterprise customers, as well as sales of additional preducts to our installed
enterprise customer base. Qur operating expenses have also increased significantly to $55.0 million for 2007 from
$20.1 million for 2005. This growth in operating expenses has primarily been driven by our growth in headcount, to
285 employees at June 30, 2007,as compared with 174 employees at June 30, 2006 and 118 employees at June 30,
2005. We expect to continue to add personnel in all functional areas.

Key Business Metrics

We monitor a number of key metrics to help forecast growth, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of
sales and marketing efforts and measure operational effectiveness.

Initial and repeat sales orders.  Qur goal is to attract a significant number of new enterprise customers and to
encourage existing enterprise customers to purchase additional products and support. Many enterprise customers
make an initial purchase and deploy additional sites at a later date, and also buy additional products and support as
their businesses expand. As our installed enterprise customer base has grown we have experienced an increase in
revenue attributable to existing enterprise customers, which currently represents a significant portion of our total
revenue.

Deferred revenue. Nearly all system sates include the purchase of post-contractual support contracts with
terms of up to five years, and our renewal rates on these contracts have been high historically. We recognize support
revenue on a ratable basis over the term of the support contract, Since we receive payment for support in advance of
our recognizing the related revenue, we carry a deferred revenue balance on our consolidated balance sheet. This
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deferred revenue helps provide predictability to our future support and services revenue. Accordingly, the level of
purchases of post-contractual support with our product sales is an important metric for us along with the renewal
rates for these services. Our deferred revenue balance at June 30, 2007 was $14.0 million, of which $10.1 million is
expected to be recognized within one year.

Gross margin.  Our gross margin for products is primarily affected by our ability to reduce hardware costs
faster than the decline in average overall system prices. We have been able to increase our product gross margin by
reducing hardware costs and through product redesign and volume discount pricing from our suppliers. For
example, in 2004, we introduced our current family of switches and [P phones, which generally improved our gross
margin. We have also introduced new, lower cost hardware following these introductions, which has continued to
improve our product gross margin. In general, product gross margin on our switches is greater than product gross
margin on cur IP phones. As the prices and costs of our hardware components have decreased over time, our
software components, which have lower costs than our hardware components, have represenied a greater
percentage of our overall system sales. We consider our ability to monitor and manage these factors to be a
key aspect of maintaining product gross margins and increasing our profitability.

Gross margin for support and services is significantly lower than gross margin for products, and is impacted
primarily by personnel costs and labor related expenses. The primary goal of our support and services function is to
ensure maximum customer satisfaction and our investments in support personnel and infrastructure are made with
this goal in mind. We expect that as our installed enterprise customer base grows, we will be able to improve gross
margin for support and services through economies of scale. However, the timing of additional investments in our
- support and services infrastructure could materially affect our cost of support and services revenue, both in absolute
dollars and as a percentage of support and services revenue and total revenue, in any particular period.

Operating expense management. 'To date, we have managed our operating expenses so that they have
generally increased at a slower rate than our annual revenue growth, and we intend to continue to do so in the future,
However, because of the additional expenses we incur related to the growth of our general and administrative
function as a result of becoming a public company, together with our litigation-related expenses, we may not
succeed in doing so. Qur operating ¢xpenses are comprised primarily of compensation and benefits for our
employees and, therefore, the increase in operating expenses has been primarily related to increases in our
headcount. We intend to expand our workforce to support our anticipated growth, and therefore our ability to
forecast revenue is critical to managing our operating expenses.

Basis of Presentation

Revenue. 'We derive our revenue from sales of our IP telecommunications systems and related support and
services. Our typical system includes a combination of IP phones, switches and software applications. Channel
partners buy our products directly from uvs. Prices to a given channel partner for hardware and software products
depend on that channel partner’s volume and customer satisfaction metrics, as well as our own strategic consid-
erations. In circumstances where we sell directly to the enterprise customer in transactions that have been assisted
by channel partners, we report our revenue net of any associated payment to the channel partners that assisted in
such sales. This results in recognized revenue from a direct sale approximating the revenue that would have been
recognized from a sale of a comparable system through a channel partner. Product revenue has accounted for 89%,
90% and 90% of our total revenue for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. -

Support and services revenue primarily consists of post-contractual support, and to a lesser extent revenue
from training services, professional services and installations that we perform. Post-coniractual suppoert includes
software updates which grant rights to unspecified software license upgrades and maintenance releases issued
during the support period. Post-contractual support also includes both Internet- and phone-based technical support.
Post-contractual support revenue is recognized ratably over the contractual service period.

Cost of revenue.  Cost of product revenue consists primarily of hardware costs, royalties and license fees for
third-party software included in our systems, salary and related overhead costs of operations personnel, freight,
warranty costs and provision for excess inventory. The majority of these costs vary with the unit volumes of product
sold. Cost of support and services revenue consists of salary and related overhead costs of personnel engaged in
support and services, and hence is substantially fixed in the near term.
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Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses primarily include personnel costs,
outside engineering costs, professional services, prototype costs, test equipment, software usage fees and facilities
expenses. Research and development expenses are recognized when incurred. We are devoting substantial resources
to the development of additional functionality for existing products and the development of new products and
related software applications. We intend to continue to.make significant investments in our research and devel-
opment efforts because we believe they are essential to maintaining and improving our competitive position.
Accordingly, we expect research and development expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars.

Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expenses primarily include personnel costs, sales
commissions, travel, marketing promotional and lead generation programs, advertising, trade shows, professional
services fees and facilities expenses. We plan to continue to invest in development of our distribution channel by
increasing the size of our field sales force and the number of our channel partners to enable us to expand into new
geographies, including Europe and Asia Pacific, and further increase our sales to large enterprises. In conjunction
with channel growth, we plan to increase the investment in our training and support of channel partners to cnable
them to more effectively sell our products. We also plan to continue investing in our domestic and international
marketing activities to help build brand awareness and create sales leads for our channel partners. We expect that
sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars and remain our largest operating expense category.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses relate to our executive, finance,
human resources, legal and information technology organizations. Expenses primarily include personnel costs,
professional fees for legal, accounting, tax, compliance and information systems, travel, recruiting expense,
software amortization costs, depreciation expense and facilities expenses. We expect that we will incur significant
additional accounting, legal and compliance costs as well as additional insurance, investor relations and other costs
associated with being a public company. We also expect to incur additional general and administrative expenses .
related to our litigation with Mitel. In addition, as we expand our business, we expect to increase our general and
administrative expenses.

In May 2007, we entered into a new lease for our existing headquarters facility that extends until October 2009.
In addition, in May 2007, we exccuted a new two-year lease for additional operational space in another location near
our corporate headquarters that expires in September 2009. In addition, in March 2007, we executed a new three-
year lease for our Australian subsidiary that expires in June 2010. As a result of these new leases, our operating lease
obligations have increased significantly beginning in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Other income {expense). Other income (expense) primarily consists of interest earned on cash balances and
the change in fair value of preferred stock warrants.

Income tax provision. Income tax provision includes federal, state and foreign tax on our incomé. From
inception through 2005 we accumulated substantial net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We fully
reserved the deferred tax asset from these losses and tax credits on our financial statements. We were profitable in
2007 and 2006 and had an effective tax rate of approximately 6% in 2007 and 5% in 2006 as a result of utilizing
portions of the deferred tax asset and reducing the related valuation allowance.

We believe we have had multipte ownership changes, as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code, due to significant stock transactions in previous years, which may limit the future realization of our net
operating losses and we are currently analyzing these ownership changes to determine the limitations on our ability
to utilize our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue
Code in future periods. At June 30, 2007, we had approximately $72.6 million and $26.5 million of net operating
loss carryforwards for federal and state purposes, respectively. Based on estimates prepared to date, we believe the
provisions of Section 382 could result in the forfeiture of substantially all of our net operating losses for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We believe there could also be an impact on our ability to utilize California net operating loss
carryforwards and our research and development tax credit carryforwards. Beginning in fiscal 2008, we anticipate
our effective tax rate will increase substantially to a range of mid- to high- 30% due to these limitations on our
ability to utilize net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, and the extent of the impact from stock-based
compensation.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the years
indicated.
Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Revenue:
Product .. .. e e $87,095 $55300 331,970
Support and Services. . . . ... e 10,732 6,308 3512
Total revenue . .. ... 97.827 61,608 35,482
Cost of revenue:
Product{1) ... ... . i 29,751 21,855 13,961
Support and services(l) ... ... . L. e e 6,837 5,425 2,907
Total cost of revenue. . . ... .. . e 36,588 27,280 16,868
Grossprofit . . .. ... .. . . . e e 61,239 34,328 18,614
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1) .. ... ... ... ... . . ... .. .. ... ... .. 17,224 9,720 7,034
Sates and marketing(1) ... ... ... L e 26,126 15,699 10,050
General and administrative(l) . . ... . 11,673 4,936 3,045
Total operating eXpenses . ... ... .ot i 35,023 30,355 20,129
Operating income (oSS} . .. ..ottt i e e e 0,216 3,973 (1.515)
Other INCOMIE — NEL. . .. .ot e e e e e e e 273 248 124
Income (loss) before provision forincome tax. . ... .. ...... ... .. ..... 6,489 4,221 (1,391)
Income tax provision .. .. ... . e e e (408) (219) (11)
Netincome (10SS). . . . .. ..ot e e e $ 6081 $ 4002 3$(1,402)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as foltows:

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005

Cost of product revenue. . .. ... .. i e 3 12 % 35—
Cost of support and services revenue . . ... .. ... .. ... . . . ., 99 16 —
Research and development. . .. ... ... . ... .. . o i i i 384 14 —
Salesand marketing ... ... .. ... . ... 533 7 —
General and administrative. . . ... ... L o o 1,658 45 82

Total stock-based compensation expense. . . .............. ... $2,686 $82  $82
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The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of total
revenue for each of the periods indicated.

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005

Revenue:
Product .. ....... S O 89% 90% 90%
Support and SEIVICES . ... ...t e e 1% _10% _10%
Total TEVEMUE . . . . .ottt e et e e e e 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenue: . '
ProdUCl . oo 0% 35% 40%
Support and Services . ... ... ... e s 1% _ 9% _ 8%
Total COSLOFTEVENUES . . .. . . ittt e e 3% 44% i@%
Gross Profit. . ..ot e 63% 56% 52%
Operating expenses:
Research and development . .. ... ... ... . il 18% 16% 20%
Salesand marketing . . . .. ... .. e 7% 26% 28%
General and administrative . . ... .o oot e 12% 8% _ 8%
Total Operaling EXPeNSES. . o . oo v v v v vt vt a e 51% 50% _56%
Operating income (J0SS). .. ... .ot e e - 6% 6% (D)%
Other INCOME, NEL . . .. vttt ettt et e et e e — = =
Income (loss) before provision for income tax . ...... ... .. ... ... .. 6% 6% (%
Provision for INCOME LAXES . . .o vt m e e e it e eaas —% — =
Net income (0SS} . . ..o i ittt e e e et e e 6% 6% _(H%

Fiscal 2007 compared to Fiscal 2006

Revenue. Total revenue was $97.8 million in 2007, an increase of $36.2 million, or 59%, from $61.6 million
in 2006. This increase was primarily attributable to increased sales of our products and services. Product revenue
was $87.1 million in 2007, an increase of $31.8 million, or 57%, from $55.3 million in 2006. Support and services
revenue was $10.7 million in 2007, an increase of $4.4 miliion, or 70%, from $6.3 million in 2006, as a result of
increased revenue associated with post-contractual support contracts accompanying new system sales, post-
contractual support contract renewals and increased revenue from training services and installations. We expect
our revenue growth in fiscal 2008 1o be in the range of 40-45%.

Gross margin. Total gross margin increased 10 63% in 2007 from 56% in 2006. Product gross margin
increased to 66% in 2007 from 60% in 2006. The increase in product gross margin was due to improved margins on
hardware products as a result of sales of hardware products introduced in April 2006 that have higher margins than
the hardware products that they replaced. Support and services gross margin increased to 36% in 2007 from 14% in
2006. The increase in support and services gross margin was due to support and service revenue increasing by 70%
and service costs only increasing 26%, compared to the same period in 2006. Compensation for support and
services employees, the largest category of support and service costs, increased 41% in 2007, as headcount
increased from 31 employees at June 30, 2006 to 42 employees at June 30, 2007.

Research and development. Research and development expenses increased $7.5 million, or 77%, to
$17.2 million in 2007 from $9.7 million in 2006. These expenses represented 18% and 16% of total revenue,
respectively, in those years. Compensation, including stock based compensation, for research and development
employees accounted for $5.1 million of the increase, primarily as a result of an increase in headcount to
102 employees at June 30, 2007, from 48 employees at June 30, 2006. Additionally, consuiting and professional
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services, non-recurring engineering charges, software license and maintenance fees and equipment costs accounted
for $785,000, $478,000, $290,000 and $230,000, respectively, of the increase,

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses were $26.1 million in 2007, an increase of $10.4 million,
or 66%, from $15.7 million in 2006. These expenses represented 27% and 26% of total revenue, respectively, in
those years. Compensation, including stock based compensation for sales and marketing employees represented
$7.2 million of this increase, primarily as a result of an increase in headcount, to 94 employees at June 30, 2007 from
66 employees at June 30, 2006. Additionally, travel, promotional and lead generation programs, marketing shows
and events and advertising and public relations accounted for $1.0 million, $952,000, $663,000 and $575,000,
respectively, of the increase.

General and administrative.  General and administrative expenses were $11.7 million in 2007, an increase of
$6.7 million, or 136%, from $4.9 million in 2006. These expenses represented 12% and 8% of total revenue,
respectively, in those years, Compensation for general and administrative employees accounted for $2.6 million of
the increase, primarily as a result of an increase in headcount, to 33 employees at June 30, 2007 from 18 employees
at June 30, 2006. Genera! and administrative compensation expense in 2007 also included $1.7 million of stock-
based compensaticn expense most of which is associated with an outstanding option granted prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) that was subject to variable accounting. Variable accounting on this outstanding option ceased in
March 2007 upon the repayment of the related note receivable in exchange for the surrender of shares of our
common stock having a value equal to the amounts outstanding under the note. Audit, legal and professional
services accounted for $1.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of the increase. The remainder of the increase
was primarily attributable to various expenses including travel expenses, software license and maintenance,
training, and facility expenses.

Other income (expense). Other income (expense) was $273,000 of other income in 2007, an increase of
$25,000, from $248,000 of other income in 2006. The increase was due to increased interest income of $511,000
associated with higher average cash balances and interest rates in 2007 as compared to 2006. The increase was
partially offset by an expense of $508,000 associated with the increase in fair value of preferred stock warrants
issued in 2001 and 2003 in conjunction with a line of credit.

Income tax provision. The income tax provision was $408,000 in 2007, an increase of $189,000, from
$219,000 in 2006, primarily due to an increase in our taxable income and in our effective tax rate from 5.2% to
6.3%. Our effective tax rate is expected to increase substantially after June 30, 2007 to a range of mid to high 30% as
a significant amount of net operating losses are expected to expire.

Fiscal 2006 compared to Fiscal 2005

Revenue. Total revenue was $61.6 million in 2006, an increase of $26.1 million, or 74%, from $35.5 millicn
in 2005. This increase was primarily attributable to increased sales of our products, including hardware and
software, and services. Product revenue was $55.3 million in 2006, an increase of $23.3 million, or 73%, from
$32.0 million in 2005. Support and services revenue was $6.3 million in 2006, an increase of $2.8 million, or 80%,
from $3.5 million in 2005, as a result of increased revenue associated with post-contractual support contracts
accompanying new system sales and post-contractual support contract renewals and, to a lesser extent, revenue
from training services and installations. The increase in support and services revenue reflected our increasing
strategic focus on large enterprise customers and overall growth in system sales. '

Gross margin.  Total gross margin was 56% in 2006, an increase from 52% in 2005. Product gross margin was
60% in 2006, an increase from 56% in 2005. The increase in product gross margin was due to improved margins on
hardware products as a result of sales of new hardware products with higher margins and reduced costs for some
existing hardware products. Support and services gross margin was 14% in 2006, a decrease from 17% in 2005. The
decrease was due to hiring new support and services employees to build our infrastructure at a faster rate than the
growth in our support and service revenue.

Research and development. Research and development expensés was $9.7 million in 2006, an increase of
$2.7 million, or 38%, from $7.0 million in 2005, These expenses represented 16% and 20% of total revenue in 2006
and 2005, respectively. Of the increase, $2.0 million was for salaries and benefits primarily as a result of an increase
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in headcount to 48 employees at June 30, 2006, from 38 employees at June 30, 2005. Engineering costs for new
products, prototype expenses, facilitics expenses and software usage fees accounted for $288,000, $133,000,
$104,000 and $99,000, respectively, of the increase.

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses were $15.7 million in 2006, an increase of $5.6 million,
or 56%, from $10.1 million in 2005. These expenses represented 26% and 28% of total revenue in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Of the increase, $3.7 million was for salaries, sales commissions and related employee benefits
primarily as a result of an increase in headcount to 66 employees at the end of 2006, from 37 employees at the end of
2005. Promotional and lead generation programs, travel, recruiting, training and professional services accounted for
$959,000, $583,000, $140,000, $114,000 and $93,000, respectively, of the increase.

General and administrative.  General and administrative expenses were $4.9 million in 2006, an increase of
$1.9 million, or 62%, from $3.0 million in 2005. These expenses represented 8% and 8% of total revenue in 2006
and 2005, respectively. Of the increase, $912,000 was for salaries and benefits primarily as a result of an increase in
headcount to 18 employees at the end of 2006, from 14 employees at the end of 2005. Professional services and
facilities maintenance costs accounted for $576,000 and $153,000, respectively, of the increase. The remainder of
the increase was attributable to various expenses including facilities expenses, expensed equipment, and an increase
in the allowance for bad debis.

Other income. Other income was $248,000 jn 2006, an increase of $124,000 from $124,000 in 2005. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in interest income, partially offset by an increase in foreign currency
exchange losses and interest expense. Interest income increased $155,000 due to higher average cash balances in
2006.

Income tax provision. The income tax provision was $219,000 in 2006, an increase of $208,000 from
$11,000 in 2005, primarily due to an increase in our taxable income.
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Quarterly Results of OQperations

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly condensed consolidated statement of operations data in
dollars and as a percentage of total revenue for each of our last eight quarters in the period ended June 30, 2007. The
quarterly data presented below have been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this document, and in the opinion of management reflect all adjustments, consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this information. You should read this
information together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors. As a
result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Qur results for these
quarterly periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of aperations for a full year or any future period.

Three Months Ended

Jun, 30, Mar. 31, Dec.3l, Sep.30, Jun. 30, Mar.31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30,
2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2008 2005

(In thousands)

Revenue:
Product ................. $25,622 $23,142 319,864 $18,467 $17,328 §$14,474 $13,498 $10,000
Support and services ....... 3,301 2,867 2,616 1,948 1,756 2,119 1,219 1,214
Total revenue .. ......... 28,923 26,009 22480 20415 19,084 16,593 14,717 11,214
Cost of revenue: .
Product(l) ............... 8,480 7,997 6,767 6,507 6,132 6,011 5,668 4,044
Support and services(l) .. ... 1,984 1,813 1,595 1,445 1,483 1,755 1,109 1,078
Total cost of revenue . . . .. 10,464 9,810 8,362 7,952 7,615 7,766 6,777 5,122
Grossprofit. ............... 18,459 16,199 14,118 12463 11,469 8.827 7,940 6,092
Operating expenses:
Research and
development(}). ......... 5,774 4,282 4,051 3,117 3,200 2,386 2,083 2,051
Sales and marketing(1}...... 7,685 7,009 5,755 5,677 4,843 3916 3,873 3,067
General and
administrative(1). . . . ... .. 3,290 2,973 2,837 2,573 1,828 1,238 905 875
Total operating expenses. .. 16,749 14,264 12,643 11,367 9,871 7,540 6,951 5,993
Operating income . .......... 1,710 1,935 1,475 1,096 1,598 1,287 989 99
Other income —net. . ........ 280 231 (395) 157 151 61 6 30
Income before provision for
income tax. . ............. 1,990 2,166 1,080 1,253 1,749 1,348 995 129
Provision for income taxes. . . .. {97) {126) 22 (207) (79) (76) 51 (13)
Netincome ................ $ 1,803 $ 2040 $ 1,102 § 1,046 $ 1,670 $ 1,272 § 944 § 116

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Three Months Ended

Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30,
2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005

(In thousands)

Cost of product revenue . . . ., . $ 5 $3 §$3 81 $—

$— S~  $—
Cost of support and services
revenue . ... .......... .. 44 26 24 5 2 — — 14
Research and development . . . . 194 9 82 17 8 6 — —
Sales and marketing . . .. ... .. 202 123 111 97 5 2 — —
General and administrative . . . . 187 353 415 703 21 2 13 9
Total stock-based compensation
EXPENSE . v v it $632  $596 $635 $823  $36 S10 $13 $23
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As a Percentage of Total Revenue
Three Months Ended
Jun, 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. M), Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec, 31, Sep. 30,

2007 2007 2006 1006 2006 2006 2005 2005
Revenue: l
Product . .................. . B9% 89% 88% 90% 91% 87% 92% 89%
Support and services . ........ 1% 1% 12% 0% _9% _13% _8% _11%
Total revenue .. ........... 1009% 100%  100% 100% 100%  100%  100%  100%
Cost of revenue:
Product . .................. 29% 31% 30% 32% 32% 36% 39% 36%
Support and services . ........ 1% 1% _ 1% _1% _8% 1% _8% _10%
Total cost of revenve ....... 36% 8% 3% 39% 4% 4% _46% _46%
Grossprofit.................. 64% 62% 63% 61% 60% 53% 54% 54%
Operating expenses:
Research and development . . . .. 20% 16% 18% 15% 17% 14% 14% 18%
Sales and marketing . ......... 27% 27% 26% 28% 25% 24% 26% 27%
General and administrative . . . .. 1% 1% 13%  _13% 0% _7% _ 1% _8%
Total operating expenses. . . .. 58%  55% @ 56% _56% @ 52% _45% @ _A1% _33%
Operating income ............. 6% 7% 7% 5% 8% 8% 7% 1%
Other income —net. .. ......... 1% 1% Q% _1% _ 1% _ 0% _0% 0%
Income before provision for
income tax..........ooov... 1% 8% 3% 6% 9% 8% 7% 1%
Provision for income taxes....... 0% 0% _0% (D)% _0% _0% _0% _ 0%
Net income . ................. 1% 8% 5% 5% _9% _8% _6% _ 1%

Revenue has increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented due to increased sales of our products, an
increase in the number of channel partners and company sales staff, an increase in lead generation activities and
additional products sold to new and existing enterprise customers. Because of the rapid growth of our revenue, we
have not yet experienced the effects of seasonality on a quarter-to-quarter basis, but we expect that, over the longer
term, we will experience seasonally reduced activity in the first and third quarters of each calendar year, as is the
case with comparable companies in our industry. Product gross margins improved in the quarter ended June 30,
2006, and remained higher in succeeding quarters, primarily as a result of newly introduced products that have
higher margins than the products that they replaced. Operating expenses increased sequentially in each of the
quarters presented as we continued to add personnel and related costs to accommodate our growth. We have
invested substantially in research and development in recent quarters as we believe technology leadership is an
important element to our continued growth, Starting largely in the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we also increased
general and administrative spending in information technotogy systems, outside audit and Sarbanes-Oxley-relaied
consulting services. General and administrative expenses for the quarters ended June 30, 2007, March 31, 2007,
December 31, 2006, and September 30, 2006 included $0, $311,000, $367,000 and $699,000, respectively. of non-
cash stock-based compensation associated with an outstanding option granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R)
that was subject to variable accounting. In addition, other (income) expense for the quarters ended June 30, 2007,
March 31, 2007, December 31, 2006, and September 30, 2006 included ($117,000), $45,000, $579,000, and 30,
respectively, of non-cash expenses (benefits) associated with the change in fair value of preferred stock warraats,
respectively.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2007, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of cash and cash equivalents of $17.3 million
and accounts receivable net of $19.4 million. On July 9, 2007, we closed our initial public offering of
9,085,000 shares of common stock at a price of $9.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately
$78 million,

Our principal usés of cash historically have consisted of the purchase of finished goods inventory from our
contract manufacturers, payroll and other operating expenses related to the development of new products and
purchases of property and equipment.

We believe that our $17.3 million of cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2007, together with cash flows from
our operations and the net proceeds from our initial public offering which was completed in July 2007, will be
sufficient to fund our operating requirements for at least | 2 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our sales and marketing activities, the timing
and extent of our expansion into new territories; the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements to
existing products, the continuing market acceptance of our products and acquisition activities. We may enter into
agreements relating to potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses or technologies in the
future, which could also require us to seek additional equity or debt financing. Additional funds may not be
available on terms favorable to us or at all.

The following table shows our cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities
for the stated periods:

Year Ended June 30,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities . ............... $§7910 $7266 $(4,957)
Cash (used in) investing activities . ... ........ ... ... ....... (2,224) (1,293) (590)
Cash provided by financing activities. . .. .................... (693) 987 10,197

Cash flows fram operating activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly influenced by our cash expenditures to support the
growth of our business in operating expense areas such as research and development, sales and marketing and
administration. Qur operating cash flows are also influenced by our working capital needs to support growth and
fluctuations in inventory, accounts receivable, vendor accounts payable and other current assets and liabilities. We
procure finished goods inventory from our contract manufacturers and typically pay them in 30 days. We extend
credit to our channel partners and typically collect in 50 to 60 days. We also prepay for license rights to third-party
products in advance of sales.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $7.9 million, $7.3 million, and ($5.0) million, in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2007 primarily consisted of net income of
$6.1 million. Noncash adjustments were higher in 2007 compared to 2006, including stock-based compensation
expense, which was higher by $2.7 million due to $1.4 million of stock-based compensation expense associated
with an award that was subject to variable accounting and the adoption of SFAS 123(R) on July 1, 2006, and an
increase in fair value of the preferred stock warrants by $508,000. In addition to the higher net income and non-cash
adjustments, the period-to-period change in cash flows relating to operating activities was also affected by an
increase in deferred revenue of $7.4 million, due primarily to the deferral of revenue from sales of post contractual
support contracts exceeding the revenue recognized from post contractual support contracts, and an increase in
accounts payable of $2.0 million, primarily attributable to increased purchasing activity required to support our
business growth and increased headcount. These sources of cash were partially offset by uses of cash associated
with an increase in accounts receivable of $8.2 miilion due to increased sales in 2007 compared to 2006, an increase
in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $2.5 million and an increase in inventory of $2.4 million. Net cash
provided by operating activities in 2006 primarily consisted of net income of $4.0 million, depreciation and
amortization expense of $716,000 and an increase of $2.3 million related to net changes in working capital. Of this
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$2.3 million, the primary sources of cash were a $1.9 million increase to accrued employee compensation, largely
employee bonuses relating to company performance, increased deferred revenue relating to support contracts of
$1.5 million and increased accounts payable of $809,000, which was partially offset by increases to accounts
receivable of $2.4 million. Net cash used in operating activities in 2005 primarily consisted of net losses of
$1.4 million, reduced by depreciation and amortization expense of $592,000 and a use of $4.2 million related to net
changes in working capital. Of this $4.2 million, the increased accounts receivable and inventories were $4.7 million
and $3.5 million, respectively. These increases were partially offset by cash provided due to increased accounts
payable of $1.0 million and increases in deferred revenue of $2.8 mitlion.

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to capital expenditures to support our growth.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.2 million, $1.3 million, and $590,000, in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Net cash used in investing activities in 2007 was primarily for capital expenditures, primarily related to
manufacturing tooling for the production of our hardware products, computer equipment for our research and
development lab and to support our growth in headcount. Net cash used in investing activities in 2006 was for
capital expenditures, primarily related to computer and lab equipment to support our growth in headcount and
manufacturing tooling for preduction of our hardware products. Net cash used in investing activities in 2005 was for
capital expenditures, primarily related to computer equipment to support our growth in headcount. Our require-
ments for additional capital expenditures are subject to change depending upon several factors, including our needs
based on our changing business and industry and market conditions.

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was ($693,000), $1.0 million, and $10.2 million, in 2007,
2006 and 2003, respectively. In 2007, we incurred $1.3 million of costs related to our initial public offering and
generated $573,000 of net proceeds from the exercise of common stock options. In 2006, we generated $1.0 million
of net proceeds from the exercise of common stock options. In 2005, we issued Series H redeemable convertible
preferred stock for net proceeds of $9.9 million and received $222,000 from the repayment of shareholder notes
issued in connection with stock option exercises.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2007:

Payments Due by Period

Less Than
Total 1 Year 1.3 Years  3-5 Years  Thereafter
. {In thousands)
Operating Lease Obligations. .. ........ $ 3528 31,367 $2,161 $— $—
Purchase Obligations(1} .............. 11,875 11,875 — = —
Total ... . e $15403  $13,242 32,161 §— 5—

(1) Purchase obligations represent commitments under non-cancelable orders for finished goods inventory with
our contract manufacturers.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements nor do we have any relationships with
unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities, which are established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepled in the United States of America, or GAAP. These accounting principles require us to make certain
estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the dates of the
consolidated financial statements, the disclosure of contingencies as of the dates of the consolidated financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Although we believe
that our judgments and estimates are reasonable under the circumstances, actual results may differ from those
estimates.

We believe the following to be our critical accounting policies because they are important to the portrayal of
our financial condition and resulis of operations and they require critical management judgments and estimates
about matiters that are uncertain:

* Revenue recognition;

* Allowance for doubtful accounts;
+ Stock-based compensation;

* Inventory valuation; and

* Accounting for income taxes.

If actual results or events differ materially from those contemiplated by us in making these estimates, our
reported financial condition and results of operations for future periods could be materially affected. See “Risk
Factors™ for certain matters that may affect our future financial condition or results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Product Revenue. OQur software is integrated with our hardware and is essential to the functionality of the
integrated system product. Product sales typically include a perpetual license to our software, except in limited
circumstances such as sales of spare or replacement handsets, back-up switches and additional business appli-
cations. We recognize revenue for these sales in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) No. 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition, or Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,
as applicable, depending on whether the hardware is sold in a multiple-elemeat arrangement with software and
post-contractual support or on a standalone basis if the enterprise customer purchases hardware, software, or
maintenance support separately, For the initial sale, we generally bundle together the hardware, software, and post-
contractual support contracts with terms of up to five years. Thereafier, if the enterprise customer increases the
number of end user deployments and/or functionality, it may add more hardware, software, and related post-
contractual support by purchasing them separately. We have established vendor-specific objective evidence, or
VSOE, of fuir value for post-contractual support and, installation and services and training, as noted below.

We recognize product revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, product has shipped or
delivery has occurred (depending on when title passes), the sales price is fixed or determinable and free of
contingencies and significant uncertainties, and collection is probable. Our fee is considered fixed or determinable
at the execution of an agreement, based on specific products and quantities to be delivered at specified prices, Our
agreements generally do not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that our agreements
contain such terms, we recognize revenue once the accepiance provisions have been met or the right of return lapses.
We maintain a reserve for sales returns based on historical experience. Payment terms generally range from net 30 to
net 60 days. In the event payment terms are extended materially from our standard business practices, the fees are
deemed to not be fixed or determinable and revenue is recognized when the payments become due. We assess the
ability to collect from channel partners based on a number of factors, including creditworthiness and past
transaction history. If the channel partner is not deemed creditworthy, we defer all revenue from the arrangement
until payment is received and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Shipping charges are included in
product revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue.
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We monitor and analyze the accuracy of sales returns estimates by reviewing actual returns and adjust it for
future expectations to determine the adequacy of our current and future reserve needs. If actual future returns and
allowances differ from past experience and expectation, additional allowances may be requ1red

We have arrangements with channel partners of their products to reimburse the channel partners for
cooperative marketing costs meeting specified criteria. The reimbursements are limited to 50% of the actual
costs charged to the channel partners by third-party vendors for advertising, trade shows and other related sales and
marketing activities for which we receive an identifiable benefit, subject to a limit of the total cooperative marketing
allowance earned by each channel partner. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer (including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products), we record the reimbursements to
the channel partners meeting such specified criteria within sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The marketing allowance can aiso be used by the channel partners to
purchase demonstration products from us at greater than the standard discount for products sold to channel partners.
Such discounts provided to the channel partners are recorded as a reduction of revenue upon shipment of the
demonstration units.

Post-Contractual Support. Our support and services revenue is primarily derived from post-contractual
support. We account for post-contractual support revenue based on SOP 97-2, which states that if an arrangement
includes multiple elements, the fee should be allocated to the various elements based on VSOE of fair value,
regardless of any separate prices stated within the contract for each element. VSOE of fair value is limited to the
price charged when the same element is sold separately. VSOE of fair value is established for support through prior
renewals of post-contractual support contracts, which establishes a price which is based on a standalone sale.

We use the residual method, as allowed by SOP No. 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions, to determine the amount of product revenue to be recognized.
Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements, such as post-contractual support, installation
services and training, are deferred and the remaining portion of the sales amount is recognized as product revenue.
The fair value of the post-contractual support is recognized as support and services revenue on a straight-line basis
over the term of the related support period, which can be up to five years in length.

If VSOE of fair value does not exist for commitments to provide specified upgrades, services or additional
products to customers in the future, as has been the case from time to time in the past, we defer all revenue from the
arrangement until the earlier of the point at which VSOE of fair value does exist or all such elements from the
arrangement have been delivered.

Installation and training. Installation services aré sold on an elective basis. Channel partners or enterprise
customers generally perform installations without our involvement, so we do not recognize substantial revenue
from installation services. As installation is typically performed by the channel partner or enterprise customer, it is
not considered essenttal to the functionality of the delivered elements. Installation is generally priced at established
rates based on estimated hours to install our systems. Training services are also sold on an elective basis, both to
channel partners and to enterprise customers, and is purchased both with system orders and on a standalone basis.
VSOE of fair value is established for training through sales made independent of a bundled order We recognize
revenue related to installation services and training upon delivery of the service.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We review our allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis by assessing individual accounts
receivable that materially exceed due dates. Risk assessment for these accounts includes historical collections
experience with the specific account and with our similarly situated accounts coupled with other related credit
factors that may evidence a risk of default and loss to us. Accordingly, the amount of this allowance will fluctuate
based upon changes in revenue levels, collection of specific balances in accounts receivable and estimated changes
in channel partner credit quality ot likelihood of collection. If the financial condition of our channel partners were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
The allowance for doubtful accounts represents management’s best estimate, but changes in circumstances,
including unforeseen declines in market conditions and collection rates, may result in additional allowances in the
future or reductions in allowances due to future recoveries.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to July 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 23, Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplovees, or APB 25, and
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. (FIN) 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving
Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 25, and had adopted the disclosure only provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, or SFAS 123, and
SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, or SFAS 148,

In accordance with APB 25, stock-based compensation expense, which is a non-cash charge, resulted from
stock option grants at exercise prices that, for financial reporting purposes, were deemed to be below the estimated
fair value of the underlying commen stock on the date of grant.

Effective July 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(revised 2004), Share-
Based Payment, or SFAS 123(R), using the prospective transition method, which requires us to apply the provisions
of SFAS 123(R) only to awards newly granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled, after the adoption date. Under
this transition method, our stock-based compensation expense recognized beginning July 1, 2006 is based on the
grant date fair value of stock option awards we grant or modify after July 1, 2006. We categorize our options into
two classes, Class One includes all options granted with standard four-year vesting and no ability to exercise prior to
vesting. Class Two includes options granted with standard four-year vesting but allow for early exercisability. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense for both Class One and Class Two on a straight-line basis over the
options’ expected vesting terms. We estimated the grant date fair value of stock option awards under the provisions
of SFAS 123(R) using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended June 30, 2007
Class One Class Two

Expected life . ... ... ... L. 6.08 years 4.0 years
Interest rate range . ......... e e e e e 4.6-48%  4.6-4.8%
VoAt iy - o e e e 71 55
Dividend yield. . . ... ... .. . . . e 0 0

During 2007, we recorded non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $1.2 million under SFAS 123(R). In
future periods, stock-based compensation expense is expected to increase as we issue additional equity-based
awards to continue to attract and retain key employees. Additionally, SFAS 123(R) requires that we recognize
compensation expense only for the portion of stock options that are expected to vest, assuming an expected
forfeiture rate in determining stock-based compensation expense, which could affect the stock-based compensation
expense recorded if there is a significant difference between actual and estimated forfeiture rates, Our estimated
forfeiture rate in the vear ended June 30, 2007 was 11.4%. As of June 30, 2007, total unrecognized compensation
cost related to stock-based awards granted to employees and non-employee directors was $10.5 million, net of
estimated forfeitures of $3.2 million. This cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted-average
vesting period of approximately four years. As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) on July 1, 2006, our net income for
the year ended June 30, 2007 was $309,000 lower than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation
under APB 25. Basic and diluted net income per share for the year ended June 30, 2007 were $0.04 and $0.01 lower,
respectively, than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation under AFB 25.

Estimation of Fair Value of Warrants to Purchase Preferred Stock

FASB Staff Position No. 150-5, [ssuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warranis
and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are Redeemable, or FSP 150-5, provides that the warrants we have
issued to purchase shares of Series E and Series F preferred stock are subject to the requirements in FSP 150-5,
which requires us to classify these warrants as current liabilities and to adjust the value of these warrants to their fair
value at the end of each reporting period. We recorded $508,000 of expense in other income (expense) for 2007, to
reflect increase in the estimated fair value of the warrants. We estimated the fair value of these warrants at June 30,
2007 using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. This model utilizes the estimated fair value of the underlying
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preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining term of the warrant, risk-free interest rates, and
expected dividends and expected volatility of the price of the underlying convertible preferred stock.

Upon our initial public offering, subsequent to June 30, 2007, these warrants converted into warrants {o
purchase shares of our common stock and, as a result, are no longer subject to FSP 150-5. At that time, the then-
current aggregate fair value of these warrants was reclassified from liabilities to common stock, a component of
stockholders’ deficit, and we ceased to record any related periodic fair value adjustments.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories consist principally of finished goods and are stated at the lower of cost or market value, with cost
being determined under a standard cost method that approximates first-in, first out. A small portion of our inventory
also relates to evaluation units located at enterprise customer locations and service inventory. Inventory valuation
reserves are established to reduce the carrying amounts of our inventories to their net estimated realizable values.
Inventory valuation reserves are based on historical usage, expected demand and, with respect to evaluation units,
conversion rate and age. Inherent in our estimates of market value in determining inventory valuation reserves are
estimates related to economic trends, future demand for our products and technological obsolescence of our
products. If future demand or market conditions are less favorable than our projections, additional inventory
valuation reserves could be required-and would be reflected in cost of product revenue in the period in which the
reserves are taken. Inventory valuation reserves were $365,000 and $598,000 as of June 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Once a reserve is established, it is maintained until the unit to which it relates is sold or scrapped. The
reduced costs associated with the revenue from this unit results in an increase in gross profit and gross margin.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements, but have not been reflected
in our taxable income. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable
value. Therefore, we provide a valuation allowance to the extent we do not believe it is more likely than not that we
will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to realize the benefit of our deferred tax assets. To date, asa
result of our uncertainty regarding the realizability of our deferred tax assets, consisting principally of net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards, we have recorded a 100% valuation allowance.

At June 30, 2007, we had $72.6 million and $26.5 million of net operating loss carryforwards for federal and
state purposes, respectively. Net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020 and 2007 for federal and
Catifornia purposes, respectively. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are
required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves
estimating our actual current tax exposure, including assessing the risks associated with tax audits, and assessing
temporary differences resulting from different treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. The ability to
maintain our current effective tax rate is contingent upon existing tax laws in both the United States and the
respective countries in which our international subsidiaries are located, and the availability of our net operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards.

We believe we have had multiple ownership changes as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code and we are currently analyzing these ownership changes 1o determine the limitations on our ability to utilize
our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code in
future periods due to significant stock transactions in previous years, which may limit the future realization of our
net operating losses and tax credits. Based on estimates prepared to date, we believe the provisions of Section 382
could result in the forfeiture of substantially all of our net operating losses for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We
believe there could also be an impact on our ability to utilize California net operating loss carryforwards as well.

As of June 30, 2007, we had research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1.9 million
and $3.5 million, which can be used to reduce future federal and California income taxes, respectively. Federal
research and development tax credit carryforwards will expire beginning in fiscal 2012 through 2027. California
research and development tax credits will carry forward indefinitely. In addition, a portion of the federal research
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tax credit carryforwards may be subject to forfeiture due to Section 383 limitations. We are in the process of
determining the impact of Section 383 on the tax credit carryforwards.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 20035, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections (“SFAS 154”) that replaces Accounting Principals Board Opinions No. 20 Accounting
Changes and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements — An Amendment of
APB Opinion No 28. SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and
error corrections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest practicable date, as the required method for
reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”). FIN 48
applies to all tax positions within the scope of FASB Statement No. 109, applies a “more likely than not”’ threshold
for tax benefit recognition, identifies a defined methodology for measuring benefits and increases the disclosure
requirements for companies. FIN 48 is mandatory for years beginning after December 15, 2006. We are currently in
the process of evaluating the effects of this new accounting standard.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 108 regarding the process of
quantifying financial statement misstatements. SAB No. 108 states that registrants should use both a balance sheet
approach and an income statemnent approach when quantifying and evalvating materiality of a misstatement. The
interpretations in SAB No. 108 contain guidance on correcting errors under the dual approach as well as provide
transition guidance for correcting errors, This interpretation does not change the requirements within SFAS No. 154

| for the correction of an error in financial statements. SAB No. 108 is effective for annual financial statements
covering the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 in fiscal 2007 did not have a
significant impact on our results of operations or.financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No, 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157”}. This
Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, the FASB having previously concluded in those
accounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute, Accordingly, this Statement does
not require any new fair value measurements. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS No, 157 in fiscal year 2009 to have a material impact on our results of operations or financial
position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items
at fair value (or “fair value option™} and to report in earnings unrealized gains and losses on those items for which
the fair value option has been elected. SFAS 159 also requires entities to display the fair value of those assets and
liabilities on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed
to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets
and liabilities. SFAS 159 is effective for us as of the first quarter of 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact of
this pronouncement on our financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

As of June 30, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of $17.3 miltion, which consisted of highly liquid
money market instruments with original maturities of three months or less. Because of the short-term nature of these
instruments, a sudden change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Risk

As we expand, we expect that many of our international enterprise customers will be invoiced in foreign
currencies and our international sales and marketing operations will incur expenses that are denominated in foreign
currencies. These revenues and expenses could be materially affected by currency fluctuations. Changes in currency
exchange rates could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations or financial position. Additionally, our
international sales and marketing operations maintain cash balances denominated in foreign currencies. As a result,
we could incur unanticipated translation gains and losses. To date, the foreign currency effect on our cash and cash
equivalents has been immaterial and we have not hedged our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

43




.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

SHORETEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. ... ... ... ... ... o oot 45
Consolidated Balance Sheets. . .. ... ... . i i i i e e e e e 46
Consolidated Statements of Operations . . ... ... ...ttt e i e 47
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Deficit .. .. ... 48
Consolidated Staternents of Cash Flows. . ... .. o i i e s ettt 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, . .. .. ..ottt it n i i a e iee e e eieenanenn 50




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
ShoreTel, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ShoreTel, Inc. and subsidiaries (collec-
tively, the “Company”) as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
redeemable convertible preferred stock and shareholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended June 30, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of ShoreTel, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective July 1, 2006, the Company changed
its method of accounting for stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended June 30, 2006 has been restated.

fs/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
September 26, 2007

45




SHORETEL, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,
2007 2006
(Amounts in thousands)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents . . .. .. ... . .. i e $17326 $12333
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $320 and $378 as of June 30, 2007 and
June 30, 2006, respectively. . ... ... L 19,411 11,479
Ve nIOTIES . . .. e e e e e 7,057 4,656
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. .. ... .. ... ... 3,372 852
Total CUITENL ASSEES . o v v v et e et et e e e e e e e e e e 47,166 29,320
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Net . . ... ... . e 2,933 1,556
OTHER ASSETS .« e 2,935 9
2 1 P 553,034 $ 30,885
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable .. . .. ... e $ 7433 $ 3,958
Accrued liabilities and other . . ... ... ... . . . e e 2,807 2,272
Accrued employee coOmpensation . .. .. ... .t e e 3,782 2918
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . oo e e e 10,126 3,963
Current portion of capital lease obligations. . .. .............. .. ... ... ... ... — 1
Total current Habilities . . . .. ... .. o e e 24,148 13,112
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Preferred stock warrant liability . .. ... ... ... .. ... .. .. e 549 —
Long-term deferred revenue. . ... ... .. e 3,825 2,609
Total long-term liabilities . . . ... ... i e 4,374 2,609
Total Habillies. . . ... o e e e 28,522 15,721
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 11)
REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, authorized, 23,586 shares;
issued and outstanding 23,316 shares as of June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2006
(aggregate liquidation preference of $44,250) . ... .. ... ... ... .. ... 56,341 56,332
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT:
Common stock, authorized 500,000 and 40,000 shares as of June 30, 2007 and
June 30, 2006, respectively; issued and outstanding, 10,132 and 9,289 shares as of
June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2006, respectively . ............ ... . iion., 53,206 50,277
Deferred compensation ., ... ... . e 2Yn {(335)
Notes recetvable from shareholders . ... ... ... ... ... ... . ..., — (231)
Accumulated deficit . . . ... . e (84,798)  (90,879)
Total shareholders’ deficit . ... ... .. ... . . i i e (31,829 (41,168}
TOTAL. .. e e e e e e $ 53,034  $ 30,885

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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SHORETEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended June 30,

2007 2006 2005
{As restated
for diluted EPS,
See Note 2}
(Amounts in thousands, except per share
amounts)
REVENUE:
Product .. ........cou... U $87.095 $55,300 $31,970
Support and Services . ... ... ... e 10,732 6,308 3,512
TOtal TEVENUE . . . vttt ettt et e et tn e et et aas 97,827 61,608 35,482
COST OF REVENUE:
Product . . . e e e e 29,751 21,855 13,961
Support and SErviCes .. .. ... i e 6,837 5,425 2,907
Total coSt Of TEVENUE. . . o v e e et e it e e e e e ea e e 36,588 27,280 16,868
GROSS PROFIT .. . ittt it e e e s s 61,239 34,328 18,614
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development . . ........ ... .. i . 17,224 9,720 7,034
Salesand marketing. .. ... ... .. ..ttt 26,126 15,699 10,050
General and administrative . . . .. ... .. ... e e 11,673 4,936 3,045
Total operating eXpenses. .. .. ... .t 55,023 30,355 20,129
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS . ... ... .. oot 6,216 3,973 (1,515)
OTHER INCOME:
INterest INCOME . . . . .. ..ttt ettt tn e e ae e e e 803 292 137
Interest BXPENSE . . . . .o oo e s — 3D (21)
Change in fair value of warrants. .. .................... .. ... (508) —_ —
OheT . . e e e e (22) (13) 8
Total other income . .. ... .. ... . . .. ittt 273 248 124
INCOME (L.OSS) BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES .. .. 6,489 4,221 (1,391)
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES . . ... ... . i i e (408) (219) (11
NET INCOME (LOSS) ..ottt e et e e e e 6,081 4,002 (1,402)
ACCRETION OF PREFERRED STOCK ... ... ... i {(50) (51) (32)
NET INCOME (1.OSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON
SHAREHOLDERS .......... A 3 6,031 $ 3,951 $(1,434)
Net income (loss) per common share available to common
shareholders:
BaSIC . ottt e e e e e $ 070 $ 0.60 $ (027
Diluted . ... . e e $ 0.17 $ 0.12 $ (0.27)
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share available to
common shareholders: )
BaSiC . . oot e e e e 8,565 6,609 5,352
Diluted .. ... e e e e 35,581 33,431 5,352

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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SHORETEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED STOCK AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Redeemable
Convertible Deferred Reii?:;sble Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Stock from Accumulated Shareholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Comp ion Shareholders Deficit Deficit
{Amounts in thousands)
BALANCE — June 30,2004. ... ... ... 18,599 $46,300 5741 $49,595 $(118) $(594)  $(93,479) $(44,596)
Issuance of Series H preferred stock net
of issuance costs of $51. . ........ 4,717 9,949
Accretion of preferred stock. . . ... ... 32 {32) (32)
Exercise of common stock options . . . . 252 13 13
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . 82 82
Repayment of sharcholder note
receivable .. ... ... L 222 222
Net loss and comprehensive net loss . . . (1,402) (1,402)
BALANCE — June 30, 2005.......... 23316 56,281 5993 49,576 (36) 37125 (94,881) 4513
Accretion of preferred stock. . ... . ... 51 (&1} (51)
Exercise of common stock options . . . . 3,429 521 521
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . 381 {299 82
Repurchase of shares exercised under
note receivable . . .. ... ... ... ... (46) (140 141
Repurchase of shares carly exercised. . . (87 9 {9)
Net income and comprehensive net
INCOME . ... ... iin . 4,002 4,002
BALANCE — June 30,2006. . ........ 23,316 56,332 9,289 50,277 (335) (231) (50,879)  (41,168)
Accretion of preferred stock. . .. .. ... 50 (50) (50)
Exercise of common stock options . . .. o0 573 573
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . 2,588 98 2,686
Repayment of notc reccivable from
shareholder . ... .............. 12 12
Vesting of accrued early exercised stock
options . ... ... ... .o .. 228 228
Warrants reclassified to liabilities . . . . . 41
Surrender of common stock for
setttement of notes receivable
(Note5) ............. ... .... (58  (410) 219 (191)
Net income and comprehensive net
NCOME . ..o e 6,081 6,081
BALANCE —June 30,2007, ......... 23,316 356,341 10,132 $53,206 $(237) $ — $(84,798)  $(31,829)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Netincome (088 . o ittt e e e e e e e
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .. ....... .. .. i i i e
Stock compensation EXPONSE . . ... vttt e e e
Loss on disposal of property and equipment, . . ... ... .. ..
Increase in fair valuc of warrants . .. ... .. . i
Recovery from settlement of note receivable ......... e e s
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable . . .. ... ... ... . o i
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . _ . .. L e
=1 L5 TP
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . ... .. ..o oo
Lo TS .32 v 1
Accounts payable . ... .. .
Accrued liabilides and other . . . . ... ... e
Accrued employee COMPERSAION. . .. ... oot et
Deferred revenUE . . . . . ..ot i e e

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. . . .. ............... ...
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment .. ... . . i s ’

Decrease inrestricted cash . . ... oL o o
Long-term deposit on operating facility ... ... ... .o o i e

Net cash used in investing activities . . ... ... .. i

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Borrowings under line of credit agreement. ... ... ... .. . o
Repayments under line of credit agreement . .. ... ... ... .. .. ..
Repayment of capital Teases .. ... .. ... i e
Net proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock ... ... ... ..
Exercise of common stock options (including proceeds from unvested shares) . ... ...
Repurchase of shares carly exercised. . .. .. ... ... ... ... et
Repayment of shareholder notes issued in connection with stock option exercises. . . . .
Dcferred initial public offering costs included in other assets ... ... .. ... ... ...

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities. . .. ...................

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS .. ... .................
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of period . . ........... ... ...

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS —Endofperiod. .. ................... ...

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period forinterest . . ... .. .. ..
Cash paid during the period forincome taxes. . . ... ... ... ... ... . il
NONCASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Accretion of preferred stock . ... ...
Surrender of common stock for settlement of notes receivable .. ... ... ...
Repurchase of shares cxercised under notes receivable. . .. ... ... ... L
Purchase of property and equipment included in period-end accounts payable .. ... ..
Deferred initial public offering costs included in period-end accounts payable and
accrued Habilities . ... .. . e e
Warrants reclassified to labilities . ... ... o o o
Vesting of accrued early exercised stock options.-. . .. ... o ool

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Year Ended June 30,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands}

$ 6,081 $ 4002  $(1402)
956 716 592
2,686 82 82
38 160 —
508 — —_
(191) - —
238 250 202
(8,170) (2,395) (4,688)
(2,401) 7 (3,531
(2,520) (335) (338)
(55) 4 39
2,034 809 1,020
463 605 198
864 1,856 34
7,379 1,505 2,841
7.910 7,266 {4,957)
(2,106) (1,308) (550)
— 15 —_—
(118} — —
(2,224) (1,293) (590)
— 1,000 6,000
— (1,000) (6,000)
¢)] )] (26)
— — 9,949
573 1,003 52
— (9 —
12 — 222
(1,271 — —
(693) 987 10,197
4,963 6,960 4,650
12,333 5,373 723
$17,326  $12,333 $ 5373
3 — 3 31 $ 21
697 82 11
$ 50 $ 51 $ 32
336 — —_
—_ 141 —
265 19 28
1,476 — —
41 — —
228 — —




SHORETEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. THE COMPANY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company — ShoreTel, Inc. was incorporated in California on September 17, 1996 and reincorporated in
Delaware on June 22, 2007. In April 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the change in the
Company’s name from Shoreline Communications, Inc to ShoreTel, Inc. ShoreTel, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Company”) provide enterprise internet protocol (“IP”) telecommunications systems. The
Company sells systems that generally include hardware, software licenses, post-contractual customer support
and, in some cases, additional elements, such as training, installation and other professional services.

Fiscal Year End — The Company operates on a fiscal year ending June 30.

Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiaries located in Germany, the United Kingdom and Australia. All transactions and balances
between the parent and the subsidiaries have been climinated in consolidation. The functional currency of the
subsidiaries is the U.5. dollar. Functional currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange on the
balance sheet date, and local currency revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange during the
period.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The use of
estimates are included in certain areas including revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, stock-based
compensation, -inventory valuations, and accounting for income taxes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties — The Company participates in a dynamic high-technology
industry. Changes in any of the following areas could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows: reliance on sole-source suppliers; advances and trends in new
technologies; competitive pressures; changes in the overall demand for its future products; acceptance of the
Company’s products; litigation or claims against the Company based on intellectual property, patent, regulatory, or
other factors; and the Company’s ability to attract and retain employees necessary to support its growth.

Concentration of Credit Risk — Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concen-
trations of credit risk, consist principally of accounts receivable. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents
in money market accounts with high credit quality financial institutions. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations and collateral is generally not required for trade receivables. At June 30, 2007 and 2006, no enterprise
customer or channel partner comprised more than 10% of total accounts receivable.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The estimated fair value of all financial instruments, including
accounts receivable and the line of credit, was not materially different from the carrying values presented in
the balance sheet as they have short maturities and/or interest rates that have not' fluctuated significantly.

Dependence on Suppliers — The Company depends in part upon contractors to manufacture, assemble, and
deliver items in a timely and satisfactory manner. The Company obtains certain components and subsystems from a
single or a limited number of sources. A significant interruption in the delivery of such items could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalenmts— For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the Company
considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when acquired to be cash
equivalents.

Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable is stated net of allowance for doubtful accounts.
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The change in allowance for doubtful accounts is summarized as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2007 2006 2005

Allowance for doubtful accounts — beginning . ... .................. $378 %200 %119
Current period provision . ... ... ... .. o il 238 250 202
Write-offs charged to allowance . ...... ... ... ... . . . i (296) {72) (121)
Allowance for doubtful accounts —ending . ............ ... .. ... ... $320 $378  $200

Inventories — lnventories, which consist principally of finished goods and inventory in process/transit, are stated at
the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined under a standard cost method that approximates first-in, first-out.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from two to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the asset or the lease term.

Long-Lived Assets — The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and
used including intangible assets, when events or circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived
asset to be held and used is considered impaired when the anticipated separately identifiable undiscounted cash flows
from such an asset are less than the carrying value of the asset. In that event, an impairment loss is recognized based on
the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily
using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk tnvolved.

Revenue Recognition — The Company’s revenue is related to the sale of enterprise IP telecommunications
systems, which include hardware, primarily phones and voice switches, and software components and may also
include training, installation and post-contractual support for the products. The Company’s business strategy is
centered on selling to enterprise customers through channel partners, rather than directty. Hence, sales transactions
are generally made to a channel partner. Certain larger enterprise customers prefer to purchase directly from the
Company. Many of these large account sales are channel partner-assisted and the Company compensates the
channel partner in much the same way as if the channel partner had made the sale directly. The compensation to the
channel partner is recorded as an offset to the revenues associated with the direct sale to the enterprise customer.

Product Revenue. The Company’s software is integrated with hardware and is essential to the functionality
of the integrated system product. Revenue is recognized for these sales in accordance with Statement of Position
(SOP) No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended, and Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, Revenue Recognition, as applicable, depending on whether the hardware is
sold in a multiple-clement arrangement with software and post-contractual support or on a stand alone basis if the
customer purchases hardware, software, or post- contractual support separately. At the initial purchase, the
customer generally bundles together the hardware, software components and up to five years of post-contractual
support. Thereafter, if the enterprise customer increases end users and functionality, it may add more hardware,
software, and related post-contractual support by purchasing them separately. The Company has established
vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value for post-contractual support, installation services and
training, and other undelivered elements as noted below.

Product revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, product has shipped or
delivery has occurred (depending on when title passes), the sales price is fixed or determinable and free of
contingencies and significant uncertainties, and collection is probable. The fee is considered fixed or determinable
at the execution of an agreement, based on specific products and quantities to be delivered at specified prices. The
agreements with customers generally do not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that the
Company’s agreements contain acceptance terms, the Company recognizes revenue upon product acceptance. Even
though contractual agreements do not provide return privileges, there are citcumstances for which the Company
will accept a return. The Company maintains a reserve for such returns based on historical experience. Payment
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terms to customers generally range from net 30 to net 60 days. In the event payment terms are extended materially
from the Company’s standard business practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixed or determinable and revenue is
recognized when the payment becomes due. The Company assesses the ability to collect from its customers based
on a number of factors, including credit worthiness and past transaction history of the customer. If the customer is
not deemed credit worthy, the Company defers all revenue from the arrangement until payment is received and all
other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product
revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue.

Provisions for return allowances and product warranties are recorded at the time revenue is recognized based
on the Company’s historical experience. The provision for return allowances is recorded as a reduction to revenues
on the statement of operations and is included within account receivables on the balance sheet.

The Company has arrangements with resellers of their products to reimburse the resellers for cooperative
marketing costs meeting specified criteria. The reimbursements are limited to 50% of the actual costs charged to the
channel partners by third-party vendors for advertising, trade shows activities and other related sales and marketing
activities for which the Company receives an identifiable benefit (goods and services that the Company could have
purchased directly from third-party vendors), subject to a limit of the total cooperative marketing allowance earned
by each channel partner. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor
to a Customer (including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products), the Company records the reimbursements to the
channel partners meeting such specified criteria within sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The marketing allowance can also be used by the resellers to purchase
demonstration products from the Company at a greater than standard discount. Such discounts provided to the
resellers are recorded as a reduction of revenue upon shipment of the demonstration units.

Post-Contractual Support.  The Company’s support and service revenues are primarily derived from post-
contractual support. The Company accounts for post-contractual support revenues based on SOP 97-2, which states
that “If an arrangement includes multiple elements, the fee should be allocated to the various elements based on
vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value, regardless of any separate prices stated within the contract for each
element”. VSOE of fair value is limited to the price charged when the same element is sold separately. VSOE of fair
value is established for post-contractual support through prior renewals of post-contractual support from existing
customers, which establishes a price based on a stand alone sale.

The Company offers one, three and five year post-contractual support contracts. The decision to procure
support is elected by the enterprise customer, but most channel partners and their enterprise customers desire post-
contractual support so an initial system sale usually includes post-contractual support. The majority of post-
contractual support contracts are scld to channel partners, under which the channel partner provides first level
support to the enterprise customer and the Company provides support, as needed, to the channe] partner. In a lesser
number of cases, the Company provides support directly to the enterprise customer.

The Company uses the residual method, as allowed by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2 Software Revenue
Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions, 10 determine the amount of product revenue to be recognized.
Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements, such as post-contractual support installation
services and training, is deferred and the remaining portion of the sales amount is recognized as product revenue.
The fair value of the post-contractual support is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related
support period, which is typically one to five years,

If VSOE of fair value does not exist for commitments to provide specified upgrades, services or additional
products to customers in the future, all revenue from the arrangement is deferred until the earlier of the point at
which VSOE of fair value does exist or all such elements from the arrangement have been delivered.

Installation and Training. Installation is sold on an elective basis. As installation is typically performed by
the channel partner or enterprise customer, and it is not considered essential to the functionality of the delivered
elements, Installation, when performed by the Company, is by its nature sold only with an accompanying system
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order. Installation is generélly priced at established rates based on estimated hours required to install the
accompanying system.

Training is also sold on an elective basis both to channel partners and to their enterprise customers and is
purchased both with system orders and on a standalone basis. VSOE of fair value is established for training through
sales made independent of a bundled order.

The Company recognizes revenue related to installation services and training upon delivery of the service.

Warranties — In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued Financial Inter-
pretation (FIN) No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantee, Including
Indirect Guarantees of indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 requires a guarantor to include disclosures of certain
obligations, and if applicable, at the inception of the guarantee, recognize a liability for the fair value of other
obligations undertaken in issuing a guarantee.

The majority of the Company’s products are covered by a one-year limited manufacturer’s warranty. Estimated
contractual warranty obligations are recorded when related sales are recognized based on historical experience. The
determination of such provision requires the Company to make estimates of product return rates and expected costs
to repair or replace the product under warranty. If actual costs differ significantly from these estimates, additional
amounts are recorded when such costs are probable and can be reasonably estimated. The provision for product
warranties are recorded within cost of goods sold on the statement of operations and included within accrued
liabilities on the balance sheet.

The change in accrued warranty expense is summarized as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2007 2006 2005
Accrued warranty balance — beginning . ... ...................... $206 5100 §112
Current period accrual . . ... ..., ... ... 512 646 190
Warranty cxbendilures chargedtoaccrual. . ........ ... .o (416) (540) (202)
Adjustment Lo estimale .. ... ... ... e (135) — —
Accrued warranty balance —end . .. ... ... .. L 3167 52006 §100

Research and Development Costs — Research and. development expenditures, which include software
development costs, are expensed as incurred. Software development costs incurred subsequent to the time a
product’s technological feasibility has been established through the time the product is available for general release
to customers are subject to capitalization. To date, all software development costs incurred subsequent to the
establishment of technological feasibility have been immaterial. Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized any
software development costs,

Income Taxes — The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method as prescribed by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income
taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The measurement of deferred tax assets is
reduced, if necessary, by a valuation allowance for any tax benefit of which future realization is uncertain,

Stock-Based Compensation — On July 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) (SFAS 123R),
Share-Based Payment, which requires companies to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award. The Company has elected to use the
Prospective Transition method such that SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased or
canceled after the effective date. The Company has a stock-based employee compensation plan (Option Plan). Generally,
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stock options granted to employees vest 23% one year or 50% two years from the grant date and %s each month
thereafter, and have a term of ten years. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite
service period of the individual grants, generally, equal to the vesting period.

Prior to July 1, 2006, the Company accounted for these plans using the intrinsic value method in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
FIN No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation — an interpretation of APB
Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recognized for employee stock options granted with
exercise prices greater than or equal to the fair value of the underlying common stock at date of grant. If the exercise
price is less than the market vatue at the date of grant, the difference is recognized as deferred compensation
expense, which is amortized over the vesting period. Compensation costs for the portion of awards for which the
required service period has not been rendered (such as unvested options) that were outstanding as of July 1, 2006
shall be recognized as the remaining required services are rendered.

The following table shows total stock-based compensation expense included in the accompanying Consol-
idated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005

Cost of product FEVENUE. . ... o\ o it e $ 12 $%—  $—
Cost of support and services revenue . . ............ ... ... ... ... 99 16 —
Research and development. . . ... ... ... . ... . .. . i 384 14 —
Sales and marketing . ... ... e e e 533 7 —
General and administrative. . . ........... ... ... i i e 1,658 45 82

Total stock-based compensation expense. ... ...ttt $2,686 $82  $82

The income tax benefit associated with stock-based compensation expense for the years ended June 30, 2007
and 2006 was not significant. There was no tax benefit associated with stock-based compensation expense for the
year ended June 30, 2005.

Had compensation expense under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans continued to be recorded
under APB Opinion No. 25, the effect on income from continuing operations, net income and basic and diluted
earnings per share for the year ended June 30, 2007, would have been as follows:

a) Income from continuing operations would have been $343,000 higher for the year ended June 30,
2007.

b) Net income would have been $309,000 higher for the year ended June 30, 2007.

¢} Basic and diluted earnings per share would have been $0.04 and $0.01 higher, respectively, for the year
ended June 30, 2007.

The Company accounts for stock issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of EITF Issue
No. 96-18, Accounting for Equitv Instruments that are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value
options granted to non-employees. The related expense is recorded over the pericd in which the related services are
received.

Determining Fair Value of Stock Compensation

Valuation and amortization method — The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single option award approach. This fair value is then amortized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period.
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Expected Term — The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock-based awards are
expected to be outstanding. The Company has elected to use the simplified method described in SAB 107 to
compute expected term. The Company’s stock plan provides for a 10 year term to expiration. The Company
categorizes option grants into two classes. Class One includes all options issued with standard four year vesting and
no ability to exercise prior to vesting. Class Two includes options granted that have the same four year vesting
provision but allow for early exercisability. The options in Class One granted during the year ended June 30, 2007
vest over four years with a one or two year cliff. Based on the above, the Company computed an expected term of
6.08 years under the simplified method. The options in Class Two are early exercisable at the discretion of the
option holder and vest over 4 years with a one year cliff. For Class Two, the Company assumed an expected term of
4 years based, in part, on the history of prior exercises for this class of optionees.

Expected Volatility — Management estimates volatility for option grants by evaluating the average historical
volatility of its peer group for the period immediately preceding the option grant for a term that is approximately
equal to the option’s expected term. For the year ended June 30, 2007, the Company has estimated future volatility
(based on its peer group) for Class One and Class Two option grants to be approximately 55%. Management
believes historical volatility to be the best estimate of future volatility. Volatility will be analyzed on an annual basis
unless management becomes aware of events that would indicate more frequent analysis is necessary.

Risk-Free Interest Rate — The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation method is based on
the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term. For
the year ended June 30, 2007 the rate used was 4.6-4.8%.

Expected Dividend — The Company has not issued dividends to date and does not anticipate issuing
dividends.

Foreign currency translation — The Company’s foreign operations are subject to exchange rate fluctuations
and foreign currency transaction costs, however, the majority of sales transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars.
Foreign currency denominated sales, costs and expenses are recorded at the average exchange rates during the year.
Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in other income in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Other income— Other income includes net foreign currency transaction gains (losses) of $13,000, ($19,000)
and ($2,000), in the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Comprehensive Income/Loss — The Company has no components of other comprehensive income (loss),
therefore net income (loss) equals comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented.

Reclassifications — To conform to the current year presentation, reclassifications have been made to amounts
previously reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, to
provide separate line item disclosure of the provision for doubtful accounts receivable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154 (SFAS 154}, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections that
replaces APB No. 20 Accounting Changes and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements — An Amendment of APB Opinion No 28. SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and
reporting of accounting changes and error comections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest
practicable date, as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a
correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years
beginning after December 13, 2005.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. FIN 48
applies to all tax positions within the scope of FASB Statement No. 109, applies a “more likely than not” threshold
for tax benefit recognition, identifies a defined methodology for measuring benefits and increases the disclosure
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requirements for companies. FIN 48 is mandatory for years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is
currently in the process of evaluating the effects of this new accounting standard.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued SAB 108 regarding the process of
quantifying financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 states that registrants should use both a balance sheet
approach and an income statement approach when quantifying and evaluating materiality of a misstatement. The
interpretations in SAB 108 contain guidance under this dual approach as well as provide transition guidance for
adopting SAB 108. This interpretation does not change the requirements within SFAS 154 for the correction of an
error in financial statements. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year
ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not have an impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (SFAS 157), Fair Value Measurements. This Statement
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement applies under other accounting pronounce-
ments that require or permit fair value measurements, the Board having previously concluded in those accounting
pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute. Accordingly, this Statement does not require
any new fair value measurements. This Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not expect the
adoption of SFAS 157 in fiscal year 2009 to have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fuir Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items
at fair value (or “fair value option™) and to report in earnings unrealized gains and losses on those items for which
the fair value option has been elected. SFAS 159 also requires entities to display the fair value of those assets and
liabilities on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed
to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets
and liabilities. SFAS 159 is effective for the Company as of the first quarter of 2009. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its financial statements.

2. RESTATEMENT

Diluted Net Income per Common Share Available to Common Shareholders for the Year Ended June 30,
2006

Subsequent to the filing of the Company’s registration statement on Form 8-1 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 2, 2007, management discovered that the Company’s previously issued consolidated
financial statements did not reflect the effect of the assumed conversion of 23,316,406 shares of redeemable
convertible preferred stock on diluted income per common share available to common sharehotders and diluted
shares used in computing net income per share available to common shareholders. As a result, diluted net income
per common share available to common shareholders and diluted shares used in computing net income per share
available to common sharcholders have been restated to appropriately reflect the conversion of the redeemable
convertible preferred stock. The restatement adjustment did not impact the Company’s previously reported
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement of redeemable preferred stock and shareholders’ deficit,
consolidated statement of cash flows, or net income. The effect of the restatement for the year ended June 30,
2006 would be as follows: )

As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Restated
Net income per common share available to common
shareholders —Diluted . . ........ ... . ... ... .. .. ... $ 039 § 027 $ 0.12
Shares used in computing net income per common share
avatlable to common shareholders — Diluted . . .. ... ... ... 10,114,513 23,316,406 33,430,919
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3. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per common share available to common shareholders is determined by dividing net
income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares available to
common shareholders during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per common share available to common
shareholders is determined by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares available to common shareholders used in the basic net income (loss) per
commen share calculation, plus the number of common shares that would be issued assuming conversion of all
| potentially dilutive securities outstanding under the treasury stock method.

' The following table is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and
‘ diluted net income (loss) per common share available to common shareholders (dollars in thousands, except per

share data):
| Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005
(As restated for
diluted EPS.
' See Note 2)
(Amounts in thousands, except
per share amounts)
Numerator:
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders . . . . .. $ 6,031 $ 3,951 $(1,434)
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding........... 9,713 7,402 5,801
Weighted average common shares subject to repurchase. ...  (1,148) {793) (449)
Weighted average common shares outstanding
(basic) ....... .. e 8,565 6,609 5,352
Effect of dilutive securities:
| Weighted average common shares subject to repurchase . . 1,148 793 -
| Common equivalent shares from options to purchase -
| common StocK. . ... 2,484 2,650 —
| Common equivalent shares from common stock
WAITANES . . o ettt e e et e e 68 63 —
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock ... 23,316 23,316 o
Weighted average common shares outstanding
(diluted) . . ........ ... ... ... . . ... ... 35,581 33,431 5,352 .
Net income (loss} per common share available to common i
shareholders:
Basic ... ... e $ 070 $ 060 $.(0.27
Diluted. . ... ... 5 017 5 0.12 $(0.27)

Anti-dilutive common equivalent shares related to stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted
shares were approximately 353,000, 299,000 and 876,000 for the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Anti-dilutive common equivalent shares from common stock warrants were approximately 3,180 for
the year ended June 30, 2007 and 8,516 for the year ended June 30, 2006,
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4. BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Balance sheet components consist of the following:

As of June 30,
2007 2006
(Amounts in thousands)- .

Inventories:

Raw materials . . . ... oottt e $ 47 5 —

Inventory in processftransit . ...... ... ... e 325 100

Finished goods . ... ... i s 6,685 4,556
Total INVENLOTIES © . .+ v o\ttt ee et e e et e e e et an e $ 7,057 $4,656
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:

Prepaid XPENSES . - . o oottt e e $ 2,595 3 786

Deferred cost of TEVEDLE . . .. . .. .. .ttt i e 772 —

Contract manufacturing receivables . ............. ... .. .. .. .. 5 66
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets ... ........coveeenron.s $ 3,372 § 852
Property and equipment:

Computer equipment and tooling . ... ... . ... . oo 3 3,573 $4,143

SO WA . . . . o e e e e e e 982 1,034

Furniture and fIXIUreS . ... .. 00ttt e 403 350

Leasehold improvements . .. . ... ...ttt 203 311
Total property and equIpmMent ... ...ttt 5,161 5,838
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . .......... ... ........ 2,228 4,282
Property and equipment — Net ... ... ... .. i i $ 2,933 $1,556
Deferred Revenue: .

Product . . .ot e s $ 2618 $ 233
Support and SEIVICES . ... ... e s 11,333 6,339

$13,951 $6,572

As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, computer equipment and tooling included $126,000 and $0, respectively, of
inventory items held within various departments of the Company for testing and development purposes, net of
accumulated depreciation, ‘ .

As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, computer equipment and tooling also included amounts for equipment acquired
under capital leases of $19,000 and $890,000, respectively, with related accumulated amortization of $19,000 and
$890,000, respectively.

5. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Unsecured Promissory Note — In October 1997, the Company issued an unsecured promissory note in the
principal amount of $350,000 to an officer and shareholder. The note bears interest at 6.34% per annum. The
principal and any accrued but unpaid interest were due on the earlier of (a) October 27, 2004 or (b) two years after
the termination of the officer’s employment, the Company’s initial public offering or a merger or acquisition of the
Company. In January 2002, the officer was terminated and in connection therewith, the Company forgave $230,000
plus related accrued interest and reserved the remaining principal balance of $120,000 plus related accrued interest.
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In March 2007, the Company entered into a Note Repayment Agreement whereby the borrower surrendered
57,671 shares of the Company’s common stock (with an estimated fair value of $536,000) to repay in full the
outstanding principal and interest balances due under this note (resulting in a recovery of $191,000 recorded as a
reduction of general and administrative expense of $120,000 and interest income of $71,000 in the accompanying
statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 2007) and under notes issued for stock purchases {see Note 10).

6. DEBT

Bank Agreement — On June 27, 2005, the Company modified its Loan and Security agreement dated
September 29, 2003, and amended July 30, 2004, with the bank. For the period commencing June 27, 2005
through and including June 26, 2006, the debt is not to exceed the lesser of $8 million or the Company’s “Borrowing
Base.” For the period commencing June 27, 2006 through and including June 26, 2007, the debt is not to exceed the
lesser of $12 million or the Borrowing Base, The Borrowing Base equals the sum of (i) 80% of the amount of
eligible accounts plus (ii) 25% of the valtue of eligible inventory. Interest will accrue on outstanding borrowings at a
rate equal to the sum of (i) the prime rate in effect plus (i1) 0.50% per annum, provided, however, that if the
Company’s adjusted quick ratio is less than 1.50:1.00, the foregoing margin over the prime rate shall be increased to
1.50% per annum. The line of credit matured and expired June 26, 2007. At June 30, 2007, no balance was
outstanding on the line of credit.

7. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006, and 2005 (in
thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005

Current:
Federal . . . .. .. . $178 $114 % 4
Al . . . e e e 199 99 —
Foreign. . ... ... .. .. 31 6 7
$408  $219  §11

H
j

The difference between the income tax provision and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory
income tax rate to income (loss) before income taxes is as follows for the years ended June 30 (in thousands):

June 30,

2007 2006 2005
Income tax provision (benefit) at federal statutory rate .. .......... $2200 $ 1450 3478
Change in state deferred items ... ... ... ..., ... ..........., 380 (242) (214)
Non-deductibie stock compensation charges . ................... 423 — -
Credits. . . e e e 102 (284) (284)
Al LK . . ot i e e 288 99 —
Other. ... e 530 327 129
Change in valuation allowance . . ............ ... .iinnn. (3,521) (1,131 858
Total .. e $ 408 $ 219 § 11
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Significant components of deferred tax assets consist of the foliowing as of June 30 (in thousands):

June 30,
2007 2006
Net operating loss carryforwards. . . ... o it inn e i $26209 $31,246
Tax credit carryforwards. . ... ... ... . ... L 4,677 4,514
DT . . .. e e 3,261 1,908
Total deferred tax assets ... ... vv v r e aee e e 34,147 37,668
Less valuation allowance . ..................... s (34,147y  (37,668) .
Net deferred tax aSSEI5 .. v v vt i it e et i e e e e e $ — % —

At June 30, 2007, the Company had approximately $72.6 million and $26.5 million of federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards, respectively. The Company believes it has had multiple ownership changes as defined
by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), due to significant stock transactions in previous years, that may
limit the future realization of its net operating loss carryforwards. Based on estimates prepared to date, the Company
believes Section 382 could result in the forfeiture of substantially all of the Company's net operating loss
carryforwards for federal income tax purposes. Management believes there could also be an impact on the
Company’s ability to utilize California net operating loss carryforwards as a result of Section 382. The net operating
loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2017 and 2007 for federal and California purposes, respectively.

As of June 30, 2007, the Company had research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$1.9 miltion and $3.5 million, which can be used to reduce future federal and California income taxes, respectively.
Federal research and development tax credit carryforwards will expire beginning in fiscal 2012 through 2027.
California research and development tax credits will carry forward indefinitely. In addition, a portion of the federal
research tax credit carryforwards may be subject to forfeiture due to Section 382 ownership changes under IRC
Section 383. Management is in the process of determining the impact of Section 383 on the tax credit carryforwards.

As of June 30, 2007, the Company had unused California manufacturers’ investment credits of approximately
$34,000, which will expire beginning in fiscal 2007 through 2011. As of June 30, 2007, the Company also has
Alternative Minimum Tax credits of approximately $344,545 and $65,370 for federal and for California respec-
tively, which may be carried forward indefinitely.

The Company has recorded a 100% valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets, due to the
uncertainty regarding the magnitude of the Section 382 and 383 limitations as well as uncertainty concerning future
taxable income.

8. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK WARRANTS

Redeemable convertible preferred stock and preferred stock warrants consisted of the following:

June 30, 2007
Shares Shares Carrying Redemption and
Series Authorized Qutstanding Value Liquidation Value
{In thousands) '
E 3,386 3,179 $29.,759 $20,000
F 13,471 13,408 10,727 10,750
G 2,012 2,012 3,485 3,500
H 4,717 4,717 9,981 10,000
Warrants 2,389
23,586 23,316 $56,341 $44,250
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June 30, 2006
Shares Shares Carrying Redemption and
Series Authorized Outstanding Value Liquidation Value
(In thousands)
E 3,386 3,179 $29,746 $20,000
F 13,47 13,408 10,712 10,750
G i 2,012 2,012 3,475 3,500
H ) 4717 4,717 9,969 10,000
Warrants - 2,430 )
23,586 23,316 $56,332 $44,250

The holders of preferred stock had various rights and preferences as follows: |

Redemption — At any time beginning on October 14, 2007, each series of preferred stock may make a written
request for redemption of the preferred stock, and upon consent of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of such
series of preferred stock, with each such series of preferred stock voting as a single class, the Company must redeem
the specified percentage of Series E, F, G, and H preferred stock at a price equal to $6.29, $0.80, $1.74, and $2.12 per
share, respectively, plus all declared but unpaid dividends on such shares. The Company shall effect such
redemption, from any source of funds legally available therefore, in four equal installments with the first installment
being made 45 days after receiving the redemption request, and thereafter in three equal installments on each of the
following three anniversaries of the initial redemption date.

Voting — Each share of preferred stock has voting rights equal to the equivalent number of shares of common
stock into which it is convertible and generally votes together as one class with the commeon stock.

As long as at least 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock are outstanding, the.holders of the preferred stock,
voting together as a single class shall be entitled to elect three directors to the Board of Directors. If less than
3,000,000 shares of preferred stock is outstanding, holders of preferred stock and common stock, voting together as
a single class on an as-converted basis, will be entitled to elect such directors to the Board.

In addition, so long as at least 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock remain outstanding, the Company shall not
without first obtaining the approval of the holders of a majority of the preferred shares then outstanding, voting
together as a single class: (i) repurchase or redeem any shares of preferred shares; (ii) repurchase any shares of
common .stock (other than common stock that are subject to restricted stock purchase/stock option exercise
agreements where the Company has the option to repurchase the shares); (iii) authorize, create, or issue any other
equity security having rights or preferences senior to or on par with the holders of preferred stock; (iv) declare or pay
any dividend with respect to common stock; (v) consummate an acquisition; (vi) permit a subsidiary to sell shares;
{vii) increase or decrease the number of authorized shares of preferred stock; (viii) materially and adversely alter or
change any of the rights, preferences, privileges, or restrictions of any series of preferred stock; (ix) increase or
decrease the authorized number of directors constituting the board; and (x) liquidate or dissolve the Company or
voluntarily file for bankrupicy.

Dividends — Holders of the preferred stock shall be entitled to receive noncumulative dividends at the per
annum rate of 8% of the original issue price, when and if declared by the Board. No dividends were declared by the
board of directors during the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Liguidation — In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary, the holders of each share of preferred stock then outstanding shall be entitled to be paid, out of the
available funds and assets, and prior and in preference to any payment or distribution on any shares of common
stock, an amount per share equal to the original issue price for the applicable series of preferred stock, plus all
declared but unpaid dividends. If, upon any liguidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the available
funds and assets shall be insufficient to permit the payment to holders of the preferred stock of their full preferential
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amounts, then all of the available funds and assets shall be distributed among the holders of the then outstanding
preferred stock pro rata, on an equal priority, pari passu basis, according to the respective liquidation preference for
each series as set forth above. The remaining assets, if any, shall be distributed ratably among the holders of
commaon stock and the holders of preferred stock on an as-if-converted basis.

Conversion — Each share of preferred stock is convertible into one share of common stock at the option of the
holder. The conversion ratio into commeon stock is subject to certain adjustments to prevent dilution. Each share of
preferred stock automatically converts into the nuniber of shares of common stock at the then effective conversion
ratio upon: (i) the closing of a public offering of common stock at a price per share of at least $6.45 and an aggregate
gross offering price to the public of at least $20,000,000; or (ii) the consent of the majority of holders of preferred
stock, voting as a single class on an as-converted basis.

Each share of preferred stock is convertible into the number of shares of common stock which results from
dividing the original issue price for such series of preferred stock by the conversion price for such series of preferred
stock that is in effect that the time of conversion. The initial conversion price for each series of preferred stock was
the original issue price for such series of preferred stock. The conversion price for each series of preferred stock is
subject to adjustment from time to time.

As discussed in Note 13, upon the Company’s initial public offering in July 2007, all outstanding shares of
preferred stock were converted into common stock. Also, all outstanding warrants to purchuse shares of preferred
stock were converted into warrants to purchase common stock.

Preferred Stock Warrants — In prior years, the Company issued warrants to purchase preferred stock. The
Company recorded the fair value of the warrants at the time of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
As aresult of the Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock financing, outstanding warrants for Series C and
Series D preferred stock became exercisable for common stock as follows:

« Warrants to purchase 685 shares of common stock issued with respect to the equipment lease line signed in
June 1998, exercisabie at $21.18 per share.

» Warrants to purchase 1,271 shares of common stock issued with respect to the equipment lease line signed in
March 2000, exercisable at $39.33 per share.

= Warrants to purchase 1,224 shares of common stock issued in February 2001 for consulting services,
exercisable at $26.22 per share.

The Company also has the following Series E and Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
outstanding as of June 30, 2007.

« Warrants to purchase 5,336 shares of Series E redeemable convertible preferred stock issued with respect to
the line of credit in March 2001, exercisable at $9.37 per share which shares are convertible to 5,336 shares
of common stock. :

« Warrants to purchase 62,367 shares of Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock issued with respect to
the line of credit in September 2003, exercisable at $0.80 per share which shares are convertible to
62,367 shares of common stock.

As of June 30, 2007, the Company recorded a liability of $549,000 for the fair value of the Series E and Series F
redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants, in accordance with FASB Staff Position FAS 150-5, Issuer’s
Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares that
are Redeemable. The warrants are subject to revaluation at each balance sheet date with any change in fair value
recognized as a component of other income (expense), net, until the earlier of the exercise of the warrants or the
completion of a liquidation event including the consummation of an initial public offering, at which time the
warrant liability will be reclassified to common stock. The increase in the fair value of the Series E and Series F
preferred stock warrants for the year ended June 30, 2007 totaled $508,000 and was recorded to other expense. The
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warrants were valued at June 30, 2007 using the Black-Scholes option value model based on the estimated fair value
of the underlying Series E and Series F preferred stock,-volatility of 55%, expected term of three months and a risk
free interest rate of 4.76%. A B

9, COMMON STOCK"
R_e;l:erse Stock Split. il o .

On June 1, 2007, the Company's board of directors approved a 1-for-10 reverse stock split of the Company's
cammon stock and redeemable cqnvertif)l'e preferred stock (collectively, “Capital Stock™), which became qffectiife
on June 22, 2007 On the effective date of the reverse stock split, (i) each 10 shares of outstanding Capital Stock
were reduced to one share of Capital Stock; (ii) the number of shares of Capital Stock into which each outstanding
warrant or option to purchase Capital Stock is exercisable was proportionately reduced on a 10-to-1 basis; (iii) the
exercise price of each outstanding warrant or option to purchase Capital Stock was proportionately increased ona 1-
to- 10 basis; and (iv) each 10 shares of authorized Capital Stock were reduced to one share of Capital Stock. All of
the share numbers, share prices, and exercise.prices have been adjusted, on a retroactive basis, to reflect this
1-for-10 reverse stock split. U A ¥ neo Co

Common Shares Subject to Repurchase T . .

At June 30, 2007, 767,612 shares of common stock were subject to repurchase in connection with the early
exercise.of incentive stock options under the Company’s stock option plan.”

'
T T . ) . + i "

_ e
Common' Shares Reserved for Issuance

" At June 30, 2007, the Company has reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows (in thousands}:

 Reserved under stock option plans .. . ... R R 9,130
Conversion of Series E preferred Stock . .. ......o0.v - e e PRI 3,179
. Conversion -of Series F preferred stock . . . .. i e ... 13,408
Conversion.of Series G preferred stock ., +. . ... ... .. el UL |
" Conversion of Series H preferred stock . . i . . ovvvoo oottt 4717
CONVErSion Of WaITANLS. . . . .. oo ovvw i i i " 72
TOtal . ..\ v e e e e e e T TR 32,518
L , . . : . . —_—
10. STOCK OPTION PLAN . . AT

~ InJanuary 1997, the Board of Directors and shareholders adopted the 1997 stock option plan (the “1997 Plan™)
which, as amerided, provides for g'ranting :inceniivc' sgobk options (“ISOs™) and nonqualified stock options
(“NSOs”) for shares of common stock to erﬁglpyees, direqtors, and consultants of the Company. In September
2006, the Company’s board of directors increased the number of shares authorized and reserved for issuance under
the 1997 Plan to 10,513,325 shares of common stock. In accordance with the 1997 Plan, the stated exercise price
shall not be less than 100% and 85% of the estimated fair market value of common stock on the date of grant for
1SOs and NSOs, respectively, as determined by the Board of Directors. The 1997 Plan provides that the options shall
be exercisable over a period not to exceed ten years. Options generally vest ratably over four years from the date of
grant. Options granted to certain executive officers are exercisable immediately and unvested shares issued upon
exercise are subject to repurchase by the Company at the exercise price. During fiscal year 2006, 87,067 unvested
shares issued upon exercise of options were repurchased under this provision. There were no repurchases of
unvested shares in fiscal years 2005 or 2007. The Company’s repurchase right for such options lapses as the options
vest, generally over four years from the date of grant.
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In February 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan™) which, as amended,
provides for grants of incentive common stock aptions (“ISQs”) and nongualified common stock options (“NSOs™)
to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. This plan serves as the successor to the 1997 Plan, which
terminated in January 2007. Five million shares of common stock are reserved for future issuance in the form of
stock options, restricted stock awards or units, stock appreciation rights and stock bonuses. In accordance with the
2007 Plan, the stated exercise price of ISOs and NSOs shall not be less than 100% and 85%, respectively, of the
estimated fair market value of common stock on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors.
Additionally, the 2007 Plan provides for automatic annual increases of shares available for issuance of up to 5% of
the number of common shares then outstanding. The 2007 Plan provides that the options shall be exercisable over a
period not to exceed ten years. During fiscal 2007, the Company issued 1,514,000 shares under its 2007 Plan.

Class Two options granted to certain executive officers are exercisable immediately and shares issued upon
exercise are subject to repurchase by the Company at the exercise price, in the event the employee is terminated;
such repurchase right lapses gradually over a four year period. The Company does not consider the exercise of stock
options substantive when the issued stock is subject to repurchase. Accordingly, the proceeds from the exercise of
such options are accounted for as a deposit liability until the repurchase right lapses, at which time the proceeds are
reclassified to permanent equity. As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, there were 767,612 and 1,555,122 shares subject to
repurchase, respectively, of the Company’s common stock outstanding and $292,000 and $522,000, respectively, of
related recerded liability, which is included in accrued liabilities.

During fiscal years 2006 and 2003, the Company had outstanding loans to certain executives and employees
pursuant to the 1997 Plan for the purchase of stock upon the exercise of incentive stock options in the aggregate
amounts of $231,000 and $372,000, respectively. The loan agreements allow the Company to repurchase the
unvested shares within 60 days of termination at a price equal to the original exercise price. The loans bear interest
at rates ranging from 6.4% — 8.0% per annum and are due upon the earlier of termination of employment or four
years from the option exercise date. All loans were due by June 30, 2006. In fiscal 2002, as part of his termination
settlement, the Company repurchased unvested shares and amended the terms of the remaining notes issued to the
former CEO, such that they are nonrecourse. In March 2003, the Company amended the terms of the remaining
loans, such that they are nonrecourse. Of the 271,790 shares purchased, 127,418 were unvested at the time of the
note amendments. Due to the conversion of these full recourse notes to non-recourse, the deemed new awards were
subject to variable accounting. As such, additional stock-based compensation expense was recorded to the extent
the Company’s share price appreciated above the value for which the Company had already recorded compensation
charges. Stock-based compensation expense recorded for these awards in fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005 was
$1,377.000, $54,000, and $82,000, respectively.

During the year ended June 30, 2007, one employee repaid his loan in the amount of $12,000 plus accrued
interest of $7,000. In March 2007, the Company entered into a Note Repayment Agreement with the sole remaining
note holder, whereby he agreed to surrender 57,671 shares of the Company’s common stock as full consideration for
the principal and fully-reserved interest balances due on his stock loans and his promissory note {see Note 5).
During fiscal 2006, one employee was terminated and the Company repurchased 46,000 unvested shares issued
upon exercise of options and wrote off the balance of his loan of $141,000 plus accrued interest of $40,000. During
fiscal 2005, one employee repaid his loan in the amount of $222,000 plus accrued interest of $40,000.
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Transactions under the 1997 and 2007 Option Plans are summarized as follows:

Shares Weighted-
Shares Subject to Average
Available Options Exercise
for Grant  Qutstanding Price
(Amounts in thousands, except per share
amounts)
Outstanding — June 30,2004 ... ............ SO 844 2,673 $0.70
Shares authorized on issuance of Series H preferred stock . . . .. 2,532 — —
Options granted — Class 1 (weighted average fair value of
$0.10 pershare) ... ... (471) 471 0.40
Options granted — Class 2 (weighted average fair value of
. $O0.10 pershare) ... .. (2,510} 2,510 0.30
.. Options exercised . .. ... ... — (252) 0.90
Optionscanceled ...... ... ... ... i 66 (66) 1.60
QOutstanding — June 30, 2005 . ... ... oo 461 5,336 $0.40
Shares authorized . . .. . ot it e e 1,500
Options granted — Class 1 (weighted average fair value of
$0.60 per share) ... ..coovvtn e (449) 449 0.80
Options granted — Class 2 {weighted average fair value of
$040 pershare) . ... ... i (851) 851 0.60
Options exercised . . ... ... i i e — (3,429) 0.30
Options repurchased . .. ... .. .. i i 133 — 1.10
Options canceled ... .. .. e 129 (129) 0.50
Outstanding — June 30,2006 .. ... ... .. ... ... .. ... 923 3,078 30.60
Shares authorized . ... ... ... . ... .. 6,030
Options granted — Class 1 (weighted average fair value of .
$6.02 pershare) ...... ... ... .. e (2,094) 2,094 8.89
Options granted — Class 2 (weighted average fair value of
$5.00 pershare) . ... .. (530) 530 2,75
Options exercised . . . . .. e e e — (901) 0.64
Optionscanceled .. ... .. ... ... ... .. . RPN 175 {175) 1.07
QOuistanding — June 30, 2007 . ... ... ... ... ... . ool 4,504 4,626 $4.57
Options exercisable at June 30, 2007. . .. .. ........ ... ... 2,133 $1.11

The total intrinsic value for options exercised in the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $7,600,000,
$2,867,000, and $66,000, respectively, representing the difference between the estimated fair values of the
Company’s common stock underlying these options at the dates of exercise and the exercise prices paid.

During the year ended June 30, 2007, the Company recorded non-cash stock-based compensation expense of
$1,200,000 under SFAS 123(R). As of June 30, 2007, total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based
awards granted to employees and non-employee directors was $10,481,000, net of estimated forfeitures of
$3,213,000, This cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted-average vesting period of
approximately four years.

65

M-01




SHORETEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable options at June 30, 2007:

As of June 30, 2007
Weighted
Average Weighted
Remaining Average Apgregate
Exercise Options Contractual Exercise Intrinsic
Prices Qutstanding Life (Years) Price Value
{Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
$0.10 - 0.30 750 6.24 $ 021
$0.40 663 7.95 $ 040
$0.80 - 1.00 759 8.23 % 092
$2.00 - 3.00 149 8.15 $ 2.51
$3.20 673 9.28 $ 320
$3.60 30 9.46 $ 3.60
$6.00 28 3.21 $ 6.00
$10.50 ’ 212 9.99 $10.50
$11.30 738 9.79 $11.30
$11.40 _ 564 5.89 $11.40
Total QOutstanding 4,626 8.54 $ 4.57 $25,423
Exercisable 2,133 7.54 $ 1.11 $17,896
Vested and expected to vest 3,900 8.31 $ 422 $22,616

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases — The Company leases its facilities under noncancelable operating leases which expire by September
2009. The leases provide for the lessee to pay all cost of utilities, insurance, and taxes. On October 1, 2005, the
Company renegotiated the lease on its primary facility and increased the square footage under lease. In May 2007,
the Company executed a new lease for its existing headquarters facility that extends until October 2009 and
provides for minimum monthly base rent payments of $1 18,000 for the period from October 2007 to October 2008,
and $124,000 for the period from October 2008 to October 2009. In addition, in May 2007 the Company executed a
two-year lease for additional operational space at another location near its headquarters that terminates in

September 2009 and provides for minimum monthly base rent payments of approximately $3,000.

Future minimum lease payments under the noncancelable leases as of June 30, 2007, were as follows {in

thousands):

Years Ending June 30

2008 .. i $1,367
200 . e e e e 1,550
2000 . e e e e e e 571

$3.528

Lease obligations for the Company’s foreign offices are cited in foreign currencies, which were converted

herein to U.S. dollars at the average interbank exchange rate on June 30, 2007.

Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, was $706,000, $594,000, and $475,000,

respectively.
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Purchase commitments — As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company had non-cancelable purchase
commitments with contract manufacturers totaling approximately $11,875,000 and $7,120,000, respectively,
for finished goods,

Litigation — On June 27, 2007, & lawsuit was filed against the Company by Mitel Networks Corporation in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. Mitel alleges that the Company infringed four of its
U.S. patents: U.S. Patent No. 5,940,834, entitled “Automatic Web Page Generator,” U.S. Patent No. 5,703,942 entitled
“Portable Telephone User Profiles Using Central Computer,” U.S. Patent No. 5,541,983 entitled “Automatic
Telephone Feature Selector” and U.S. Patent No. 5,657,446 entitled “Local Area Communications Server.” On
August 21, 2007, Mitel filed an amended complaint, which alleges that the Company infringes two additional
U.S. patents held by Mitel: U.S. Patent No. 5,007,080, entitled “*Communications System Supporting Remote
Operations,” and U.S. Patent No. 5,657,377, entitled “Portable Telephone User Profiles.” The lawsuit includes claims
that relate to components or features that are material to the Company’s products. In relation to its claims under each
patent, Mitel seeks a permanent injunction against infringement, attorney’s fees and compensatory damages.

On July 31, 2007, the Company filed counterclaims in the Eastern District of Texas. In addition to denying all
of Mitel’s claims of patent infringement, the counterclaim alleges that Mitel’s IP phone systems, including the Mitel
3300 IP Communications Platform, infringes the Company’s U.S. Patent No. 7,167,486 B2 entitled “Voice Traffic .
Through a Firewall.” The Company also filed claims for approximately $10 million in damages to its initial public
offering and an injunction against Mitel in Ontarto Superior Court for making false or misleading statements about
the Company’s alleged infringement.

This litigation is causing the Company to incur significant expenses and costs. Negative developments with
respect to the lawsuit could cause the Company’s stock price to decline, and an unfavorable resolution of this
lawsuit could have an adverse and possibly material effect on the Company’s business and results of operations. If
the Company does not prevail, it may be required to pay substantial damages, an injunction may be entered against
the Company that prevents it from manufacturing, using, selling and importing its products; and a license to
continue selling its products may not be available at ali or may require the Company to pay substantial ongoing
royalties and comply with unfavorable terms, any of which could materially harm the Company’s business. Even if
the Company were to prevail, this litigation could be costly and time-consuming, divert the attention of manage-
ment and key personnel from business operations and deter distributors from selling the Company’s products and
dissuade potential enterprise customers from purchasing the Company’s products. Management betieves it has
meritorious defenses to Mitel’s claims and intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

Indemnification — Under the indemnification provisions of the Company’s customer agreements, the Company
agrees to indemnify and defend its customers against infringement of any patent, trademark, or copyright of any country
or the misappropriation of any trade secret, arising from the customers’ legal use of the Company’s services. The
exposure to the Company under these indemnification provisions is generally limited to the total amount paid by the
customers under pertinent agreements, However, certain indemnification provisions potentially expose the company to
losses in excess of the aggregate amount received from the customer. To date, there have been no claims against the
Company or its customers pertaining o such indemnification provisions and no amounts have been recorded.

Line of Credir. The Company had a $12.0 million line of credit with a bank. The line of credit terminated on
June 26, 2007, and there were no borrowings under the line as of June 30, 2007.

12.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company adopted a defined contribution retirement plan which has been determined by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) to be qualified as a 401(k) 'plan (“the Plan™). The Plan covers substantially all employees.
The Plan provides for voluntary tax deferred contributions of 1 — 20% of gross compensation, subject to certain
IRS limitations. Based on approval by the Board of Directors, the Company may make matching contributions to
the Plan, No matching contributions have been made as of June 30, 2007.
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13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

SFAS No. 131 (SFAS 131), Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, established
standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an
enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-
maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company is
organized as, and operates in, one reportable segment: the development and sale of IP voice communication systems. The
Company’s chief operating decision-maker is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer
reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by
geographic region, for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. The Company has
operations in North America, Asia Pacific and Europe; however, the portion of revenues that International operations
contributes is less than 10% of consolidated revenues. As such, it does not meet the requirement under SFAS 131 to be
reported as a separate segment. Revenue is attributed by geographic location based on the location of the billing address
of the channel partner or enterprise customer if sold directly to the enterprise customer. The Company’s assets are
primarily located in the United States of America and not allocated to any specific region.

The following presents total revenue by geographic region (in thousands):

] Year Ended June 30,
2007 2006 2005

NOPth AMEBHCA. « oo oo e et ettt et et ir e enn s $95,448 $60,954  $34,863
International ... ... . i e e e s 2,379 654 619
Total . .. e s $97,827 $61,608 $35,482

14. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
Jun. 30, Mar.31, Dec. 31, Sep.30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec.31, Sep.30,

2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005
{In thousands, except per share amounts)

Total revenue. . ............. $28,923 $26,009 $22.480 $20,415 $19,084 $16,593 314,717 $11,214
Grossprofit................ 18,459 16,199 14,118 12,463 11,469 8,827 7,940 6,092
Netincome ................ 1,893 2,040 1,102 1,046 1,670 1,272 944 116
Accretion of preferred stock. . .. {13) {12) {13) {12} (13) (13) (13) (12)
Net income available to common

shareholders. ... .......... 1,880 2,028 1,089 1,034 1,657 1,259 931 104

Basic net income per share

available to common )
shareholders. ... .......... $ 020% 023 % 013 % 013 § 022 § 019 $ 015 § 0.02

Diluted net income per share
available to common
shareholders. . ............ $ 0053 0053 003 $ 003 % 005 % 004 $ 003 53 0.00

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Initial Public Offering. On July 9, 2007, the Company closed its initial public offering. The offering raised
proceeds of approximately $80.3 million, prior to the payment of fees for professional services rendered in
connection with the offering. In connection with the offering, all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible
preferred stock were converted into an aggregate of 23,316,406 shares of common stock. In addition, all outstanding
warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 67,703 shares of common stock.

* % ¥k k k
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that
disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing
disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating
the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation at the end of
the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective in that we did not have sufficient
internal controls related to the deferral of revenue for the entire arrangement fees associated with transactions in
which vendor specific evidence of fair value does not exist for undelivered product elements.

We are in the process of taking steps intended to remedy this material weakness, and we will not be able to fully
address this material weakness until these steps have been completed. We have commenced remediation activities,
such as educating our sales and marketing personnel regarding revenue recognition policies and procedures, hiring a
revenue recognition actounting manager, and a review process regarding customer communications.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal contrel over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over
financial reporting or an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm due to a
transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies. At
the end of the fiscal year 2008, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act wiil require our management to provide an
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and our independent registered
public accounting firm will be required to audit management’s assessment. We are in the process of performing the
system and process documentation, evaluation and testing required for management to make this assessment and for
our independent auditors to provide its attestation report. We have not completed this process or its assessment, and
this process will require significant amounts of management time and resources. In the course of evaluation and
testing, management may identify deficiencies that will need to be addressed and remediated.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to in our definitive Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007.
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We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. This Code is posted on our website at
www.shoretel.com. The information concerning our Code required by this item is incorporated by reference from
the information to be set forth in the section entitled Executive Compensation and Employment Agreements —
Code of Ethics in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. We intend to disclose any amendment to the provisions
of the Code that apply specifically to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Corporate Controller
by posting such information on our website. We intend 10 disclose any waiver to the provisions of the Code of Ethics
that apply specifically to our Chief Executive Ofticer, Chief Financial Officer or Corporate Controller by filing such
information on a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC, to the extent such filing is required the listing
requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market; otherwise, we will disclose such waiver by posting such information on
our website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference from the
information to be set forth in the sections entitled Election of Directors — Director Compensation, Executive
Compensation and Employment Agreements, Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
and Stock Performance Graph in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with
the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended June 30,
2007.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled Equity Com-
pensation Plan Information set forth in Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) (I) Financial Statements — See Index to Financial Statements at Page 45 of this Report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule — Financial statement schedules have been omitted because the required
information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the
information required is included in the financial statements or the notes to those financial statements.

{3) Exhibits — See Exhibit Index at page 73 of this Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, on this 27" day of September, 2007.

ShoreTel, Inc.

By:/s/ MICHAEL E. HEALY

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL THESE, PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints John W. Combs and Michael E. Healy, and each of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each with full
power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Michael E. Healy
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

signed below by the following persons on

Name

/s/  JOHN W. COMBS

behalf of the registrant

Chairman, President and

John W, Combs

/s/ MICHAEL E. HEALY

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer

Michael E. Healy

fs/ EDWIN J. BASART

(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Edwin J. Basart

/s/ MARK F, BREGMAN

Mark F. Bregman

/s/  GARY J. DAICHENDT

Gary J. Daichendt
fs/ KENNETH D. DENMAN

Kenneth D. Denman

{s/ CHARLES D. KISSNER

Charles D. Kissner

/ss THOMAS VAN OVERBEEK

Thomas van QOverbeek

/si EDWARD F. THOMPSON

Edward F. Thompson
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Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

Septerber 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007

September 27, 2007




INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE '
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

All required schedules associated with Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves are omitted because
they are not required, are not applicable or the information is included in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.
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Exhibit
Number
3.1
32
4. 1**
4. 2%

10.1%*
10.2%* 4
10.3%* +
10.4%* +
10.5** +
10.6** +
10.7%% 4
10.8%* +
10.9%% +
10.10%*+
10.11%*+
10.12%%+
10.13**
10.14+1%*

10.15%*
10.16%*
10.17%%+
10.18+
10.19+
21

23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
321
322

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title

Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.
Form of Registrant’s Common Stock certificate.

Seventh Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated October 20, 2004 by and among the Registrant
and certain of its equityholders.

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers.
1997 Stock Option Plan and forms of stock option agreement and stock option exercise agreement.
2007 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of stock option agreement and stock option exercise agreement.
Description of ShoreTel Executive Bonus Incentive Plan for the first and second half of fiscal 2007.
Offer Letter, dated as of July 14, 2004, by the Registrant and John W, Combs.

Offer Letter, dated as of March 10, 2003, by the Registrant and John Finegan.

Offer Letter, dated as of September 8, 2005, by the Registrant and Joseph A. Vitalone.

Offer Letter, dated as of April 13, 2005, by the Registrant and Walter Weisner.

Change of Control Agreement, dated as of August 5, 2004, between the Registrant and John W, Combs.
Change of Control Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2003, between the Registrant and John Finegan.
Change of Control Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between the Registrant and Edwin J. Basart.
Separation Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2004, between the Registrant and Thomas van Overbeek.
Sublease, dated as of October 1998, between Registrant and Applied Materials, Inc., as amended.

ODM Product Development and Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2004, between Registrant
and Giant Electronics Ltd., as amended.

Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated October 28, 2005, between Registrant and Jabil Circuit, Inc.
Office Lease Oakmead We’st, dated April 20, 2007, between Registrant and Carr NP Properties, L.L.C.
Offer Letter, dated April 22, 2007, by the Registrant and Michael E. Healy

ShoreTel Executive Bonus Plan

2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Subsidiaries

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.,

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page hereto).

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

** Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-140630).

+ Management Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

1 Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to selected portions of this agreement has been filed with
the Commission.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules have been omitted because they are either inapplicable or the required information has been
given in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
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Nemertes Researdn Survey Results

CONSOLIDATED RANKINGS

VAR Expertise Management | Customer Solution Product Installation | Performance Total

Tachnology Tools Service Experience Features Average
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.24

1=unacceptable, 2=poor, 3=fair, 4=good, 5=excellent

“We place as much emphasis on our customer satisfaction metrics as we do
revenue and profit. Our passion is to ensure that our customers dare not

only satisfied with, but ‘raving fans’ of ShoreTel’s products and services.”

Johm W, Combs
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